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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

During the past year, under the proper guidance of the Board,
the Group had positive achievements in the countries where it
had established presence. In contrast to business expansion in
2019, the Group focused on the development of key markets and
exploration of major projects in 2020. However, due to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the progress of business expansion in
some overseas markets was slow, and there were even employees
infected by the COVID-19 in countries with major outbreaks.
Nevertheless, the Group’s employees in all regions stayed focus
and ensured the Group’s operation as usual. | would like to present
the Group’s operation in 2020 to the shareholders as below.

BUSINESS REVIEW
. Security Segment

The security business is the core business of the Group. In
2020, the Group continued the in-depth expansion in the
countries where it had established presence as planned,
and provided static and dynamic security services for major
projects and key assets and personnel of international
enterprises in countries and regions with higher risks.
Currently, the Group has built a good reputation and brand
image in those areas. It will continue to improve its security
personnel training system to provide a talent assurance for its
overseas security services of high standards.

. Logistics Segment

The logistics business is developed through the construction
of the five major logistics channels. The Group focused on
the development of the westbound logistics channel from the
Southern Africa, as well as the logistics channels built along
the China-Kazakhstan Energy Channel, the China-Pakistan
Economic Corridor, the China-Lao-Thailand Infrastructure
Corridor and the China-Myanmar Economic Corridor.

In 2020, aviation logistics as well as air ambulance and
medevac services have also become the key development
businesses of the Group. The Group focused on turning
PAL into an airline company with COVID-19 patient transport
capacity and it has completed over 100 rescue tasks during
the year.

BHABIR
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DEEWMBERMSIME T REEAMKK - ALt
2019 FMEKIER 2020 F LB EERNFHE
% IMREAEE - BEXHTREBHTE
oG mIsEBMREE  RERENERM
REEAZWETIRANTRES  SEZEFA
BRABRTHE —GEMN #EZEENERSE
o DU BAIEAIR R ERAE BN 2020 F
#TIEIER ©

e JE)
s RRERHR

ZREBEEEZ DT - 20204 -
EEEEIRTE T ECENBEZORER
B - AEERKE R A B SR 8 @ A B B
TENERBEHERNEERAB RIS
B BHRETRRE - BAELASELTE
HITHEE RN ABEREER - B#EX
ZSHRERRABEIIET - BAEEIE
B REGINZRRISEE TIREA TR
Eo

o YRR

MREBEBESEOI A RBERERET
R - EXFRESBIENERYRBE
PARGEFRIREERIBE - HELEER - B
EREPERIGE R R P AL EERETT R
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. Insurance Segment

To synergise with the security business, the Group established
an associate company and obtained a license to provide
property and casualty insurance services in the Democratic
Republic of the Congo (the “DRC”), being the key market,
in 2020. The Group also overcame difficulties arising from
the pandemic and made breakthroughs in the businesses of
engineering insurance, freight insurance, motor insurance,
property insurance, and various insurance products. At the
end of 2020, the Group signed a strategic agreement with
Taiping Insurance Group to further implement the overseas
insurance business and create integrated service solutions
for risk identification, assessment, prevention, protection,
emergency management, insurance and rescue.

. Infrastructure Segment

The infrastructure engineering segment is the Group’s key
business and also an industry requiring long-term investment
for maintenance. In 2020, by leveraging its extensive
experience and resources in the field, the management of
the Group identified the strategic planning of the five major
channels as the Group’s development guideline around
the key countries to which it has made deployment, and
determined the relevant major projects. Currently, the Group
continues to promote infrastructure projects with profound
development significance in the Southeast Asia, Africa and
the Middle East.

OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT

During 2020, under the impact of the pandemic, the Group adopted
management measures of increasing income, cost reduction and
stop-loss, shrank the scale of certain businesses, and closed
down two national regions and subsidiaries with poor operating
conditions, so as to focus the Group’s resources on key regions
and major projects. The Group will strengthen the management of
existing functional departments, branches and subsidiaries, and
further improve the international, professional and local management
of the Group.
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A FINAL NOTE

After a year of challenges, in the post-pandemic era, the Group will
continue to give full play to its unique advantages and integrate
security, logistics, insurance and engineering related resources to
achieve a four-in-one synergic coordinated development. Looking
forward to 2021, the Group will continue to deepen its presence in
key countries where it has made deployment, give full play to the
Group’s existing advantages, concentrate resources and achieve
breakthroughs in major projects, so as to bring the businesses of
Frontier to the next level and create greater value for shareholders.

Thank you everyone for your unfailing attention, confidence and
support that you have been giving to the Group.

Chang Zhenming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

REVIEW OF RESULTS ES )]
Overall Performance BRERR
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&ET
Revenue from contracts with customers REREAHZWA 605,246 725,920
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BEEMHEBREIERSE (152,467) (200,120)
Cost of aircraft management services TR 12 AR ES B AR (81,520) (97,689)
Data costs EIGEIDWIN (5,907) (5,999)
Employee benefit expenses EERMAX (238,984) (240,896)
Sub-contracting charges AEER (166,942) (268,622)
Rental expenses HeBA (12,692) (17,606)
Repair and maintenance costs HIERIREER (21,694) (17,759)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH (53,569) (56,460)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiaries HEK B AR 2 EE (486) —
Other income and other gains, net Eoth W A R B At U 5 05 58 4,263 6,947
Other operating expenses EmeEER (72,105) (118,323)
Provision for impairment of property, plant W - HEs MR A K
and equipment and assets held-for-sale BIEHEEE 2 RERE — (64,509)
Impairment losses on financial assets ERVEE 2 RERE (14,266) (14,286)
Operating loss HEEE (211,123) (369,402)
Interest income ESYLON 3,702 12,045
Finance costs A A AR (19,485) (10,360)
Share of losses of associates and a joint JEAEEE R A R
venture, net —RAENAEBFE (2,478) (3,760)
Provision for impairment of interest in an R—REE R R 22
associate AR (8,693) —
Loss before income tax BRETIS RIS 1A (238,077) (371,477)
Income tax credit FifsfiE e 9,491 14,730
Loss for the year FEEE (228,586) (356,747)

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 E AR A 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

During 2020, the operation of Frontier Services Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) was
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite our continuous
commitments delivering to our customers, disruption to supply
chains around the world, lockdowns, travel restrictions, project
suspensions or delays were found everywhere. All these led to
the shrinkage of the Group’s operation. The Group reported a
consolidated revenue of HK$605,246,000 (2019: HK$725,920,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a decrease of
17%. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group reported a
loss of HK$228,586,000 (2019: HK$356,747,000). The decrease in
loss was due to less impairment provision made in 2020. In 2019,
the Group had made impairment provisions against the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of HK$64,509,000 and some of
the Group’s financial assets of HK$14,286,000, while in 2020,
impairment provisions were only made against an interest in an
associate of HK$8,693,000 and some of the Group’s financial assets
of HK$14,266,000. Throughout the year, cost cut measures were
undertaken to better control the Group’s operating costs.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

® = T = £ & Frontier Services Group
L|m|ted§‘E REEEERAR((EAAT])ER
HMBAR(HmEA&EE]) 2@ T RRA
SHEBYE RERMBEBOIRBES 2
HREtRESERET - HW - BITRE)  HEEERT
BHENR - IBLERZERAEEMERKE
o AEERBZE -2 -FTF+-_A=+—H1t
FEHE ?AH&)&605246000/%75(_7—7L
£ :725,920,000%7T) * WA 17% - BEZZ
ZEFF+ZA=T—HIEFE  ASKBEHEER
228,586,000 7T(— & — /1 4 : 356,747,000
BIT) o BB THERZEZSFEL ZRE
BERLH - A _E—NF KEBHEY
¥ BERZEBEURETSREEFLRER
564,509,000 % 7t & 14,286,000/ 7t * MR =
ToTF AEEERR —RBE QR 2R
LETE/MEEERRERES8,693,000%F L&
14,266,000 7T - RERFE A - NE B R
B He EIRAK AN LA BE (AR B AR SR B 2 i IB AN o

MBEREMIER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE
2019

E— N

Basic loss per share FREXEE (9.72) cents (15.13) cents
As at 31 December
R+=—B=+—H
2020 2019
—EBCEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Total assets BEERLE 939,918 1,223,423
Shareholders’ equity ks 508,666 718,738
Net asset value per share (excluding non- BREEFE(TBE
controlling interests) RIS ) 22 cents i 31 centsfll
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHER 318,681 465,529
Current ratio mENL K 2.61 2.84
Total liabilities-to-total assets ratio HABEELE 0.33 0.31
Price to book ratio mERE 2.90 2.28

The reduction in total assets and cash and bank balances by

BERENURRE RRTT

B D RR D

HK$283,505,000 and HK$146,848,000 was mainly due to the net
cash used in operating activities of HK$159,107,000, the repayment
of principal elements of lease liabilities of HK$26,668,000 and the
purchases of property, plant and equipment of HK$14,801,000.

283,505,000 7T I 146,848,000/ T X BH %
LEEEFTAZ I $5 159,107,000 T + &
EHEAEBE AL 26,668,000 AKE
BE - #EE KR 14,801,000 7T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

Revenue from contracts with customers

REAFEFEHZBA

2020 2019

—EoEF —T-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Aviation and logistics business LY S N 510,443 682,497
Security, insurance and infrastructure TR - R R

business EREEB 80,120 27,463

Financial market information business ERMISEMES 14,480 15,960

Others Hb 203 —

605,246 725,920

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020
reduced by 17%, which was mainly due to the reduction in revenue
from (i) Transit Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd (“TFF”), a South African
based warehouse and logistic company, whose revenue had
dropped from HK$353,895,000 in 2019 to HK$202,981,000 in 2020;
(ii) Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Company Limited and Frontier
Project Logistics Limited (“SH Logistics”), a China-based logistics
business, whose revenue had also dropped from HK$124,069,000
in 2019 to HK$68,524,000 in 2020; and (iii) Maleth Aero Limited
(“Maleth”), a Malta based aircraft management services company,
whose revenue had reduced from HK$115,375,000 in 2019 to
HK$104,364,000 in 2020. Lockdowns across borders, restrictions on
travelling, delay of projects of Chinese enterprises in overseas and
suspension of production lines posed a significant impact to the
Group’s revenue on aviation and logistics business. This segment’s
revenue dropped by almost 25% when compared with the prior
year.

Revenue from security, insurance and infrastructure business
segment for the year ended 31 December 2020 reported a further
growth. It has mainly resulted from those revenue generated from
the provision of security services to entities for their projects in
countries such as Myanmar, Cambodia, Laos, Nigeria and the
Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC”).

TFF has remained as the major contributor of the Group’s revenue,
representing approximately 34% of the total revenue (2019:49%). Its
revenue dropped by 43% due to the utilisation rate of its warehouse
capacity dropped significantly during the first and second quarters
when the pandemic was hard-hit in South Africa by that time. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, TFF’'s operating result was
worsened because of the drop in freight rate and rental charge from
warehousing. The continuous depreciation of Rand against Hong
Kong dollar also had an impact. As a result, TFF reported a net loss
of HK$25,924,000 (2019: net profit of HK$1,107,000).

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 E AR A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

SH Logistics also recorded a decline in revenue of 45% because
of the slowdown or the suspension of infrastructure projects for
Chinese entities in overseas. During the year, SH Logistics managed
to improve its gross profit margin and lower its loss by focusing on
those projects which were in line with the Group’s strategy.

Maleth reported a decline in revenue by 10% during 2020 was
mainly due to the fact that the number of aircraft available for
Maleth’'s management reduced as a result of lockdowns and
restrictions on travelling imposed in Europe during the outbreak of
COVID-19. In order to enhance the utilisation rate of aircraft, more
cargo carriers were conducted during the year for the delivery of
medical equipment and goods to other countries in Europe such that
the loss incurred by Maleth for 2020 could be kept at minimum. The
Group had disposed of its 51% stake in Maleth to an independent
third party in December 2020, further details of which are set out
in Note 34 of this annual report and under the heading “Material
Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associates” below,
as well as in the Company’s announcement dated 15 December
2020.

Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL"”), a Kenyan aviation company
based in Nairobi, reported a significant improvement in revenue. Its
revenue climbed up from HK$37,766,000 in 2019 to HK$87,760,000
in 2020, representing an increment of 132%. During 2020, the
overall flying hours improved because of PAL’s securing guaranteed
revenue servicing contracts. In March 2020, the pandemic in Kenya
resulted in restrictions on cross border flying, the grant of relief
in May 2020 by the Civil Aviation Authority of Kenya had enabled
PAL’s operations to survive the difficult time. The establishment of
air ambulance capacity by PAL provided additional synergies to its
existing business. Flights specifically used for delivery of COVID-19
patients are in service. This provided additional source of revenue to
PAL during 2020. As a result, not only the improvement in revenue,
PAL also managed to report a net profit of HK$2,394,000 in 2020 as
compared to a recorded net loss of HK$22,992,000 for 2019. The
management of PAL will continue to use their best endeavour to
improve the operating performance of PAL in 2021.

BRNEIINRBIERS s ERIBE mERERE - B8
YImZWATNTNFE45% c RAFEE - EBYR
BIERFEAREERIK 2 ZFER - MIRAEE
FZ= - AWR D EEE o

R-T-FF > MalethZ WA TE10% - T2
FR 7 BN B 3 BY T 1R 7 55 07 A B HR T B e 2 M
T2 BRI B B2 46 e - B EUAT 4 Maleth & 12 2 R A%
HERD BRAREZFAE  RAFE -
Maleth #BUM B ix Z M BR ~ B &2 M LY
MIBHERIEN  #MSER T _TFR/H
BERERERE AEEOR_ZT_TF+=
Bm—&ByE=7HEREEKMalethz
51% 4z - HiE — B H N AF R34 -

TYEXRRBREEHBATRBKE AT —
UWEARRBBAE T _F+_A+HAZA

=)

Phoenix Aviation Limited ([ BB ZE |) (R 5
Bz BREMZERR) ZWAKEIEN - B
T—NE 237,766,000 TEAAE T - FTHF
287,760,000 7T + WAIEIR A 132% c RZF
—TF é@ﬂ‘%ﬁﬂ%ﬁk%ﬂu%&#ﬂﬁﬁﬁ*ﬂj?
RBWRERBEEH - RZZEZZF=F " BER
EEIBEERMEETRS - msEERMBER
ZETFRAREREMERIEEE - BiRR
ERZ - BEM TR PRI N ABERA
¥EBIRBEIMBRIAE o R B IEEH AT A
RERBEZMMEBRARE - WR=ZZ-FF
BREEMZEREIEINAIR - Bt - BRIKAR
F2E - BEMZER S S F B RFF
%12,394,00078 7L - M =ZF — NFREEEIEF
822,992, ooo/%yz BEMEEREGESE
ZNRERERMER S —FNEERR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

With continuous effort and resources put on developing other
businesses in South East Asia and African countries, the
performance of the Group’s security, insurance and infrastructure
business segment has gradually picked up in 2021, in particular, the
security business. During 2020, the Group had rendered security
services to Chinese entities and multinational companies, which
covered Chinese entities in banking, mining and oil logistics sectors,
in Hong Kong, Myanmar, Cambodia, Nigeria and DRC. Some
security contracts that the Group had obtained cover a servicing
period of one to two years, which can provide the Group with stable
source of income in the near future. In 2020, the security business
in the DRC reported a growth in revenue from HK$5,857,000 in 2019
to HK$44,344,000 in 2020 due to the fact that it has secured two
sizable security contracts from Chinese mining companies.

Other than security, the Group’s associated company, Global
Pioneer Assurance S.A. (“GPA”), an insurance company jointly
set up between the Group and other investors in the DRC, had
commenced its operation in March 2020. GPA almost managed to
achieve breakeven in 2020 and the Group expects this investment
to bring in additional source of income to the Group in 2021.

Provision for Impairment Loss of Property, Plant and Equipment,
and Interest in an Associated Company

In 2020, the Group made an impairment provision of HK$8,693,000
against its 47% equity interests in an associated company because
of its continuous dissatisfactory business performance. That
associated company was involved in the provision of security
training in Beijing, China. Owing to the pandemic, most of the
training courses were cancelled because of social distancing.
Impairment test against this associated company was carried out
by comparing its carrying value with its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2020. The recoverable amount was determined
by reference to the best available offer price provided by one of
its existing equity holders of this associated company (the “ISDC
Buyer”). On 8 December 2020, an equity repurchase agreement
was entered into between the Group and the ISDC Buyer pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell its 47% equity interests in that
associated company and to assign the outstanding loan due
from that associated company to the Group to the ISDC Buyer
at an aggregate consideration of RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$10,099,000). Further details in relation to the
disposal of 47% equity interests in this associated company are
set out under the heading “Material Acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associates”.
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Assets Held-For-Sale

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has reclassified its 47%
equity interests in an associated company as assets held-for-sale,
further details of which are set out under the heading “Material
Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associates”
below.

In February 2020, the Group completed the disposal of three
helicopters to an independent third party at a net consideration of
US$797,000 (equivalent to HK$6,209,000). Provision for impairment
loss of HK$38,926,000 was made in the prior year to write down
their carrying values to their recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of these three helicopters of HK$6,209,000 was reclassified
from non-current assets to assets held-for-sale as at 31 December
2019.

PROSPECTS

Entering into 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic has not yet been under
control around the world. However, the roll out of the COVID-19
vaccine in China and some other countries, and extensive stimulus
in other economies has driven a rebound in global economic
activity. Hopefully, the number of people being vaccinated would be
continuously increasing, people’s activities, international business,
trading activities, and overseas infrastructure projects are expected
to gradually return to normal. Despite the fact that the global
economy recovery is foreseeable, it is still difficult for us to predict
how the recovery could look like and how long the globe has to
take to get back to the situation before the pandemic and so for the
Group’s business development.

Recently, the political instability in Myanmar being caused by
military coup would pose a threat to investors who have investments
there. Fortunately, the Group’s investment in Myanmar is very
minimum but those projects such as energy and infrastructure being
invested by foreign investors are now putting on hold or has been
delayed. This might indirectly affect the development of the Group’s
businesses in Myanmar in the years to come,
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Although COVID-related uncertainty remains, every team member
of the Group stays focus and is still fighting hard towards the
Group’s missions in different parts of the world and serving the
Group’s customers to their satisfaction. With the Group’s effort,
resources and commitments putting on cultivating those new
markets during the past two years in developing the Group’s
businesses in South East Asia and Africa, some of our business
units start generating and delivering benefits to the Group. In the
last quarter of 2020, we have successfully secured an engineering,
procurement and construction contract with a government body
in Laos and that contract will last for at least 2 years. At the same
time, we successfully obtained a security servicing contract with
a Chinese and Nigerian joint venture in Nigeria and the servicing
period is at least two years. All these are our returns for our efforts
contributed in the past. In 2020, one of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries, PAL, is also benefiting from high demands on medical
evacuation services during these troubled times through the
successful transformation from VIP chartering into the rendering
of air ambulance and medevac services in Africa. We believe that
our medevac capability in Africa is among the best and can grow
further under the pandemic.

With the Group’s unique business modelling and shareholding
structure and our continued focuses put on developing our
businesses along those economic corridors, the Group can gain
much more new businesses in the near future. Together with
our presences in different countries of different segments, the
Group can grasp any opportunities in front of us provided that our
management team stay focus and closely monitor the development,
implement the most appropriate measures and to adopt to any
required changes whenever necessary.

Under this stressful environment, this has presented a daunting
challenge to the Group. All leaders and members of the Group
as well as our frontline team members will continue to use their
best efforts in identifying opportunities under such environment
based on our established strategic layout, thereby realise their
commitments owing to the Board and shareholders. In this regard,
the Group remains optimistic that with the guidance and support
from the Board, our excellent team can overcome every challenge
and difficulty we encounter in order to attain our mission and vision.
Implementing cost saving measure is one hand while getting more
new wins is another, we believe that the Group will become much
stronger and get out from the dark under these challenging times.
We remain cautious for 2021.
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EMPLOYEES

The Group has developed its human resources policies and
procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures
that the pay level of its employees is competitive and employees
are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group
provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to
retirement benefit schemes and medical insurance. Employees are
offered discretionary year-end bonus based on individual merit.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and
employees of the Group to recognise their contribution to the
success of the Group. The Company has not granted any share
options under its share option scheme during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: 23,448,186 share options).

The Company also operates a share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Company has
not granted any share under its share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2020 was 1,125 (2019: 625).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded total assets of
HK$939,918,000 (2019: HK$1,223,423,000) which were financed
by liabilities of HK$313,234,000 (2019: HK$379,810,000), non-
controlling interests of HK$118,018,000 (2019: HK$124,875,000)
and shareholders’ equity of HK$508,666,000 (2019:
HK$718,738,000). The Group’s net asset value per share (excluding
non-controlling interests) as at 31 December 2020 amounted to
HK$0.22 (2019: HK$0.31) per share.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s available cash and bank
balances were HK$318,681,000 (2019: HK$465,529,000) with
a total borrowings of HK$124,463,000 (2019: HK$116,176,000).
The Group’s total borrowings mainly represented lease liabilities
for aircraft amounting to HK$34,072,000 (2019: HK$43,847,000),
lease liabilities for properties, equipment and trailers amounting to
HK$71,948,000 (2019: HK$67,817,000), bank loans amounting to
HK$18,443,000 (2019: bank loans amounting to HK$4,172,000 and
other loans amounting to HK$340,000). As at 31 December 2020,
the Group’s borrowings were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), Renminibi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$")
and South Africa Rand (“ZAR”). Excluding the lease liabilities in
relation to property leases, the repayment terms of the Group’s
borrowings are ranging from 1 to 4 years (2019: 1 to 4 years). The
Group, therefore, managed to maintain a surplus net cash and bank
position of HK$194,218,000 (2019: HK$349,353,000) (total available
cash and bank balances minus total borrowings).

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total
borrowings to the total assets) was approximately 13.2% (2019:
9.5%).
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In May 2018, net proceeds of HK$830,567,000 were raised through
a subscription of shares under general mandate, as detailed in the
Company’s circular date 2 May 2018 (the “Circular”). Subsequent
to the subscription and the announcement made in relation to the
change of intended use of proceeds from the subscription of the
Company on 24 March 2020, the intended use of net proceeds and
actual usage up to 31 December 2020 are set out below:
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Intended
Intended use of net
use of net proceeds after Actual use of  Unutilised net
proceeds set the change net proceeds proceeds as at
out in the announced on up to 31 31 December
Circular 24 March 2020 December 2020 2020
R-B-ZEF BE
EREEg =ZA=+mA —E-EZF R-B-EF
FERE MrER®R2 TZA=+—-H +=ZA=t+-—-H
BHEZ FEMERE ZHBME ZRBAME
BRERZ RERZ FHEZERAZR RIEFE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Setting up businesses in s EBRREE
Myanmar, Laos and B
Cambodia 130,000 130,000 65,925 64,075
Setting up businesses in TEEEHTE K B8
Pakistan and Xinjiang, China BYUER 120,800 20,800 13,080 7,720
Expansion of businesses in TEIEMRFRIBERER
Africa and Middle East 70,767 170,767 144,960 25,807
General working capital for the ~AEBBREES 2 —HK
Group's existing business BEE® 288,000 288,000 288,000 —
Working capital for B
establishment of new offices MhERcEELS
along Belt and Road regions 41,000 41,000 41,000 —
Repayment of the Group’s BEAEEED
indebtedness 180,000 180,000 180,000 —
Total FE 830,567 830,567 732,965 97,602

The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected and disrupted the Group’s
business development activities. The intended use of the unutilised
net proceeds are expected to be utilised by 31 December 2021.
The expected timeline for the intended use of the unutilised net
proceeds, which is subject to further adjustments if required, is
based on the best estimation of the Company taking into account,
among others, the prevailing and future market conditions and
business developments and needs.
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Treasury Policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and has tight
controls over its cash management. The Group’s cash and bank
balances are held mainly in HK$, RMB, US$ and EUR. Surplus cash
is generally placed on term deposits depending on the Group’s
funding requirements.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related
Hedges

The Group currently operates mainly in Africa, South East Asia,
Europe and Mainland China including Hong Kong.

For operations in Africa, most of the transactions are denominated
in US$, Kenyan Shillings (“KES”) and ZAR. The exchange rates of
KES and ZAR against HK$ have decreased by 7.6% and decreased
by 4.4% respectively during the year ended 31 December 2020.
No financial instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year
due to the prohibitive cost of available hedging opportunities. The
Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of KES and
ZAR and will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.

For operations in South East Asia, majority of the transactions are
denominated in US$ while only some of the operating expenses
are denominated in the respective local currency such as Burmese
Kyat (“MMK”"), Cambodian Riel (“KHR"), Bangladeshi Taka (“BDT")
and Lao Kip (“LAK”). The Group manages its currency exchange
risk of the above currencies by close monitoring the fluctuation in
exchange rates on MMK, KHR, BDT and LAK.

For operations in Europe, most of the transactions are denominated
in Euro (“EUR”) and US$. The exchange rate of EUR against HK$
has increased by 8.8% during the year ended 31 December 2020.
No financial instrument was used for hedging purposes for the
year. The Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk
of EUR and will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese government. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year. The Group
is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of RMB and is
looking for any opportunities to mitigate the currency exchange risk
of RMB.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are
denominated in HK$ and US$. The exchange rate of US$ against
HK$ is relatively stable, and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

Disposal of 47% equity interests in Xinyang Liliang Security
Consulting Company Limited (“ISDC”)

On 8 December 2020, the Group entered into an equity repurchase
agreement with ISDC Buyer for the disposal of 47% equity
interests in ISDC and the assignment of loan due by ISDC to
the Group to the ISDC Buyer at an aggregate consideration of
RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,099,000). The
consideration for the ISDC disposal is to be settled by the ISDC
Buyer in two instalments, out of which an amount of RMB5,500,000
is to be payable on 8 June 2021 and the remaining balance
of RMB3,000,000 is to be payable on 8 December 2021. The
completion of the disposal of ISDC as well as the assignment of
loan to the ISDC Buyer is conditional upon these two instalments
are to be received by the Group on schedule. As at 31 December
2020, the Group has reclassified its equity interests in ISDC as well
as the loan to ISDC as assets held-for-sale. An impairment provision
of HK$8,693,000 was made against the Group’s interest in ISDC.

Disposal of 51% equity interests in Maleth

On 15 December 2020, the Group entered into a stock purchase
agreement with an independent third party (the “Maleth Buyer”)
for the disposal of 51% equity interests in Maleth Aero Limited at a
consideration of US$1,050,000 (the “Disposal”’). The consideration
was determined after arm’s length negotiations between the Group
and the Maleth Buyer by reference to the business performance
and future prospect of Maleth. At the same time, the put and call
option agreement dated 3 February 2016 entered into among the
Group, MOB Holdings Limited and Mr. Michael O’Brien, Maleth
Aero Limited and Maleth Aero AOC Limited in respect of the rights
to purchase the 49% interests in Maleth Aero Limited and Maleth
Aero AOC Limited held by MOB Holding Limited was terminated
and cancelled (the “Termination of Call Put Agreement”’). The
Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and the Termination of Call Put Agreement constituted a connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Further details
of the Disposal and the Termination of Call Put Agreement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2020. The
Disposal was completed on 15 December 2020 and resulted in a
loss on disposal of HK$486,000.

Other than the above mentioned, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associates
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

EARBREENBARRKE DR

HEZBEHE(IR)Z2EFERAT([EEL
2HEEE ) Z47% BRIE

NR-ZZE-_ZTE+-AN\B > AEFEEER
ﬁ)ﬂ%%ﬁnaﬁﬁxrﬁlmz:z%wﬁ%raﬁﬁ%
BT 2HEHERE 2 47% K TEEREE
JFE W B BR 22 2 B T B2 BT 2 B SR 5T M AR 4 (el
W BREARARMS,500,000 T (HHERL
10,099,000/ 7T) - FE 22 EZER HEEE
ZW;E;H%HHI,T\;z%W‘]_—%Fna?? A ER 4
Hip AR¥5500,000 BN - =-—F AN
B M ARMB300000TLER-E
Z—F+ZANBEN - RAEBIRFSIUEUL
MESHAFFE  AMERZ2HESRE S H
ERBRZE2HEERTEZERFETK - B
—E-TF+A=+—8 AEBEEHEERE
R B R BB BT 2 AR LA % 17 B B 22 2 B 18T 2 B
BRENDEARBIELECEE - AKEE A
SERBEBR T2 EER L RERE
8,693,000/8 T °

HE Maleth 2 51% R

RZE-EF+_A+HA AEEH—FF
s F =77 ([Maleth B 75 |) 5t i) & Maleth Aero
Limited 251% R EFT LB R HE RER
1,050,000 L ([HEEE]) - REDAARE
EEMaleth® 5 2 EMaleth Z £H R\ R K
RAREEAFERETE - Ak XEH -
MOB Holdings Limited * Michael O Brien 5t
A + Maleth Aero Limited 2 Maleth Aero AOC
Limited 3t & B MOB Holding Limited fT # &
Z Maleth Aero Limited & Maleth Aero AOC
Limited 2 49% fx e 2 MM L AR —F
—RNFZAZBAZRARREHRERZS THRIE

E\Eﬁﬁ(F%ﬂ:%?ﬁ&%iﬁ%Eﬁ%J) BEE
BHMERXIMAERAAZFLFLMHRAUTLETR
Al)E14%E ﬁ’i$ﬁ%ﬁ2$ 722@%&5
RG  MKLERERRBHEBHEENAR
EHARRE1AAZEB T 2BERS - ﬁ’%%lﬁ)&
RIERA RRBEEIEHE 2 — T BEHNAR
AHRAZS_EF+_A+REBAZA%L - BE
EFEEER - E-TF+-A+HATR  TEH
i & 8518 486,000 77T °

BrEXFEIN  BE-_FZ-_FTF+_A=1+—
BILFE  AEBETEETEAEBERNZHE
RA LB ERFRERLEER -

Annual Report 2020 4F R

19



20

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had certain trade receivables
of HK$34,012,000 (2019: HK$36,592,000) were pledged to banks as
securities for banking facilities. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
do not have any pledged bank deposit (2019: HK$104,936,000).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets and
Capital Expenditure Commitments

On 3 December 2019, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with Rainbow Sea Limited (“RSL”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited in relation to
the establishment of a joint venture company, Frontier Strategic
Resources Holding Ltd. (the “dV Company”). On the same date,
the Group entered into a limited partnership agreement and the
subscription agreement pursuant to which the Group and RSL
shall commit to a contribution of US$25,000,000 each to the
investment fund (the “Fund”) managed by the JV Company and the
JV Company’s subsidiaries. Further details in relation to the Fund
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 December
2019. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital expenditure
commitment for investment in the fund of US$24,711,640 (equivalent
to HK$191,614,000) (31 December 2019: US$25,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$194,775,000)). In the opinion of the Company’s Directors,
no capital call is expected to be asked by the Fund in the next 12
months.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group also had capital expenditure
commitments for purchase of land-use-rights amounting to
HK$11,882,000 (2019: HK$11,163,000). Subsequent to 31
December 2020, this amount has been paid out by the Group in full.

Apart from the aforesaid, the Group did not have any concrete
future plans for material investments or capital assets and material
capital expenditure commitments as at 31 December 2020.

However, the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities
in order to broaden the revenue base, improve the Group’s
profitability and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed under the heading “Charges on Assets’, the
Group does not have material contingent liability as at 31 December
2020.

Subsequent Events

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the
Company or by the Group after 31 December 2020 and up to the
date of the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is firmly committed to the overall
standards of corporate governance and has always recognised
the importance of accountability, transparency and protection of
shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance policy, subject to amendments from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code from time to
time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company
comprises 10 directors, including 3 non-executive director (Mr.
Chang Zhenming (Chairman), Mr. Fei Yiping and Mr. Chan Kai
Kong), 3 executive directors (Mr. Erik D. Prince (Deputy Chairman),
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Deputy Chairman) and Mr. Luo Ning
(Deputy Chairman), and 4 independent non-executive directors
(Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, Mr. Cui Liguo, Mr. Hooi Hing Lee and Dr.
Harold O. Demuren).

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. One of the
independent non-executive directors is a professional accountant,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
There are also 4 board committees under the Board, which are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management
of the Group are delegated by the Board to management, and
ensuring adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and
training programs and budget of the financial staff.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive director are appointed for a specific term and are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules. To determine the non-executive directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive directors meet the requirements for independence as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Messrs. Chang Zhenming
and Luo Ning are former employees of CITIC Group Corporation,
a substantial shareholder of the Company. There is no material
relationship between each of the Board members.

Every newly appointed director will be given an induction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year, the Company had provided to the directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments
in which the Group operates. All directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All
directors are required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management. The Board has
also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman),
Mr. Cui Liguo and Dr. Harold O. Demuren. Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry
is a chartered accountant in England and Wales and is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the
Code and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is required, among other things, to oversee the relationship with
the independent auditor, to review the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements, to monitor compliance with
statutory and listing requirements, to ensure adequacy of resources,
qualifications, experience and training programs and budget of the
financial staff, and to engage independent legal or other advisers if
necessary to perform investigations, and to review the scope, extent
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control system, and to review the Group’s financial and accounting
policies.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee,
among other matters, reviewed reports from and met with the
independent auditor regarding the audit on annual consolidated
financial statements and discussed the risk management and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the scope, extent and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. Further information is disclosed in the
section titled “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL".

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely
Mr. Cui Liguo (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Ko Chun Shun,
Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code and are pasted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Under its
terms of reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for
identifying potential directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors of
the Company. Potential new directors are selected on the basis
of their qualifications, skills and experience which the Nomination
Committee considers will make a positive contribution to the
performance of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board’s diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
of board members, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and
monitor the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 5 directors,
namely Mr. Cui Liguo (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Ko
Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry and Dr. Harold O.
Demuren. The Remuneration Committee meets for the determination
of the remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
of the Group. In addition, the Remuneration Committee also meets
as and when required to consider remuneration related matters such
as making recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management.

Under its term of reference, the Remuneration Committee assists
the Board in achieving its objective of attracting, retaining and
motivating people of the highest caliber and experience needed to
shape and execute strategies across the Group’s operations. The
Committee also assists the Group in the administration of the fair
and transparent procedure for setting policies on the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group. The written terms
of reference are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company
in the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, and ensuring that no director
or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the work performed by
the Remuneration Committee includes, inter alia, the review of the
Group’s remuneration policy for its executive directors and senior
management and their levels of remuneration.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently comprises 4 directors, namely Mr. Erik
D. Prince, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, Mr. Cui Liguo and Dr. Harold O.
Demuren.

Under the terms of reference, the Risk Committee is required,
among other things, to assist and advise the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities with regard to the Group’s risk appetite,
risk principles and other risk-related issues including corporate
actions and sanction risks management, etc., to consider major
investigation findings on risk management matters as delegated by
the Board or on its own initiative and management response to these
findings, to approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances, to
oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the
Group and advise on the Group’s future risk strategy, to consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively, to review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies, to review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including, but not limited
to, the enterprise risk management programme, the sanctions risks
management systems, and the Group’s contingency plans, and to
take charge of the internal control measures and to ensure that they
are in place in order to minimise the Group’s exposure to sanction
risks and ensure that the Group has not been involved in any
incidents of non-compliance of sanction laws and regulations.

HE_ZT-_ZF+_A=T—HIFE ' FME
BemETZITFeR(Eh el R AsEE
ERTEERRREEAB ZHMBRARKE
ZHBKF -

BBREES

BEERZECERMERENAEE" BIErik D.
Princefc &£« B &8t 4 - 2R B EER
Harold O. Demuren i@+ o

RERBRZESZRERE RRZBGA(HE
TERE)BHEFERTEBRNAKRERRR
o RBRRAREMRERAEEE(2FEARTT
PRHEIZABREEF)NEERERAESSR
HER  UREBESEREIETEZFHERR
EEFENEAHAETER  YEEBHZEAEHE
RO ELEG - FHAKENRBRBEERERE
BE - BEBERAEEGEEANEEE AR
O YRARBERRNERKEREHER  ZE
EARKEEG REREROMAR - BRIELE
B L AR B IR G KRE R - BERRRE
AEHRERETBERBERBRNERITS &
B RSB RRIE S EETANFRIL
BRETRREXRARERE - SIREREER
EmhARENESE - WA BRERABEE
R E BB - ASORRR B 3 F KR 5= B 0 il 5L
BB - R R EBL A R ES MEME R BIE
ERFIERHE -

Annual Report 2020 4F R

25



26

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERERHRE

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by
the Board in March 2019.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from members of the Board if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated
by members of the Board.

o For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional
member to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

o For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

o A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company
to provide them with the name, brief biography, proposed
remuneration, (where an independent non-executive Director
is to be nominated) independency and other information of the
proposing candidate in accordance with the requirements of
the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.

o Any number of shareholder(s) representing not less than 5%
of the total voting rights of the Company on the date of the
requisition or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company
can serve a written notice to the Company for the attention of
the Company Secretary of his or her intention to propose a
certain person for election as a Director. This written notice,
together with (i) the information of the candidate as required
to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and
such other information as may be considered relevant to his
or her proposed election; and (ii) the written consent by that
person to the publication of his or her personal data provided
pursuant to (i) immediately above, by the Company in its
corporation communication documents in compliance with the
Listing Rules or as may be required by the Stock Exchange at
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company
for a period of no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting and ending no later than 7 days
prior to the date of the general meeting.

o The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

Business experience: The candidate should have significant
experience from a senior role in an area of business, public
affairs or academia, relevant to the Company. Awareness of
the Group’s focusing industry would be an advantage but not
a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have
relevant expertise and experience earned as a Board member
of a reputable listed company or from a senior position in his
or her industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board
being a diverse body, with diversity reflecting gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, qualifications, skills and length of service. Given
the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage but not a requirement.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical
character and have a strong reputation and standing, both
personally and professionally, in his or her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient
time available for the proper performance of his or her duties.
Directors should be sufficiently free of other commitments to
be able to devote the time needed to prepare for meetings
and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an
independent non-executive director, he or she must satisfy all
the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware of threats to
his or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with
the Company. He or she must be able to represent and act
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. To ensure that the existing policy continues to be
implemented smoothly in practice, the Company shall undertake
regular reviews and reassess this policy having regard to the
regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and
the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. The Company will propose amendments to the Board for
approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All board appointments are based on merit and contribution, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Policy on a regular basis and discusses any
revisions that may be required, and recommends any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance records of each director at the various meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
as below:

EEEZEE

R-E—=F EFECKENEEZTSZ L
BE(SREBE])  ZHREJEDEEEZ
ez 3Et e ARFEBEEEXNE L TTILE -
BEZRZEHE - REETRMER - Fi - X
ERBEES  FXELR K6 IBRRBF
B UEBESEEKEZTTL MBAESELRE
REDERER  ARFBGEZREEA AL
BEEEREFEEZ ULz BE - RELZEEEY
BERE  SWRELHETAER  XAEFES
BEEMREFER  AHESSZERIE -

RECEFEZZLIERR  BREBRREKER
K& REZBEEMZ BRI Z THR
EHEER -

2R ER
W E-E_TEL_A=+-RALEE RES
HEARRAZRGHRZCEEHIIAT

Attended/Eligible to Attend

B/ RERLE
Annual Special Audit Remuneration Nomination
general general Board committee committee committee
meeting meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings
B3R BRE Ezg ENZEE yMzEE REZEE
AFAE 3PN = ] 83 ]
Number of meetings ERRY 1 1 7 3 2 3
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erik D. Prince %4 11 0/1 517 N/ATE 2[2 3/3
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson ~ BiRIBE%E 1/1 11 77 N/AT @R 22 303
Mr. Luo Ning BERE 11 on 6/7 N/A T N/ATEA N/AZNE A
Dr. Hua Dongyi B b 111 i 77 N/A TR N/ATEA N/A
Mr. Hu Qinggang BRI E N/AZTER N/ATE R 1/2 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming BREAEE 11 on 47 N/A T N/ATEA N/ATER
Mr. Zhang Yichen REREE 11 on 37 N/A T N/ATER N/AZNE
Mr. Fei Yiping BlaTis 1/1 01 a1 N/A T3 N/ATNEF N/ATE R
Independent Non-Executive ~ BUH#H7TEE
Directors
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry REhREs 11 1 7 33 22 33
Professor Lee Hau Leung ERRAE 11 N/AT A 4/4 i 11 2/2
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold O. Demurenf§+ 11 01 447 2/3 2/2 2/3
Mr. Cui Liguo EREEE NIATER o/ 414 202 11 1
Mr. Hooi Hing Lee SR NATER NATER 11 NATER NATER N/ATER
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December
2020.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should
always know their collective responsibilities as Directors and of
the businesses and activities of the Group. Each newly appointed
Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director
of a listed company. The Group also provides briefings and other
training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills,
and updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, all existing Directors
have received relevant trainings by reading relevant materials on
the topics relating to corporate governance and regulations and
have provided their training records.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers as its statutory
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2020. The statement by the
independent auditor of the Company and the Group regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 75 to 81 of this Annual Report.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers to the Group in 2020 is summarised as
follows:

Auditing services EIZRTE

BB &=

HEZT-TF+-_A=1+—HILFE ' x2F
;H‘E&B@m;ﬁ@#ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂi%@ﬂi o
AR MAEE 2 B ZHMRFEEEART R
RNEBMPBRE 2 BRETERAARAFRE
75 BE 81 B Z BN ZHBARE -

R-B-TF - BRAREAICGESTEEBEMA
AEERHRE 2 MEHRIT

HK$'000
FET

2,800,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company does not engage an external service provider as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, being the
Company Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting forth proper risk
management culture and risk appetite for the Group, evaluating and
determining the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly, and demonstrating openness, integrity and accountability
to stakeholders in the decision-making process. The Board, through
the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee, has also devoted to
maintain sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard shareholders’ interest and protect the
Company’s assets, to achieve business objectives and to ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The Board is
also committed to oversee and review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s management continues to allocate resources for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Group established the risk
management and internal control systems with aims to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or losses caused by
judgment in decision making process, human error, fraud or other
irregularities.

Internal Audit Function

During the year, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to facilitate the Group in maintaining an internal audit function. With
reference to the scope and duties and responsibilities as stipulated
in the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the external consultant
has carried out the review under the reporting protocol of the
Group. The external consultant has assisted the Audit Committee
and Risk Committee in carrying out an independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, and has reported the status of its
review to the Audit Committee on an annual basis.
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Risk Management and Control Framework

Risk Management Policy has been established and reviewed
annually to set forth the risk management framework and to maintain
a consistent basis for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of risks at all levels across the
Group to support the achievement of the Group’s overall strategic
objectives.

The Group has adopted the Enterprise Risk Management framework,
which is published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (the “COSQ”). The framework involves
identifying risks and opportunities that are relevant to the Group’s
objectives and organisational structure, evaluating those using
appropriate qualitative and quantitative techniques, and formulating
risk management plans that are consistent with the Group’s risk
appetite. The Group has chosen both top-down and bottom-up
approaches in relation to risk management and internal control.
It involves collating and appraising bottom-up input from the
management of business segments, and senior management of the
Group, with refinements and adjustments through top-down input
from the Board in an iterative manner.

The Group has also carried out an annual risk assessment for the
year to identify respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business segments. Based
on the result of the risk assessment and following a risk-based audit
approach, the Company has devised a three-year audit plan that
prioritised the significance of the risks identified into annual audit
project with a view to assisting the Board, the Audit Committee and
the Risk Committee in assessing the efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Annual Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed
and evaluated the risk assessment report presented by the
management, reviewed and discussed the internal control review
report according to the approved three-year audit plan submitted by
the external consultant. Based on the reviews, the Board considered
that (i) the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate with reference to the COSOQO; (ii) the
Group had complied satisfactorily with the requirements of the CG
Code in respect of risk management and internal control systems
for the year.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 E AR A 7

EREEREEER

AEBDHEL SFEHAREZHE - UHI
R EBAER R AR HR - 27 - FHE B -
Boir M PE AN SR E P A KT AR 2 —BERE - A
BOAREEEREREBE AR -

£ E B & 4 B Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO ) T X ER EIEIELR - ZIERY
a3 R LA [ B AR R AR A 2R 18 B B Y L P T A
B M E T E REMERITAE A R R
AEERRRF -BORREREE - AEED
BEMBEMTRETH EINERRREERA
MEETE - R ESRWERFEEBHHBE
BERASESRERENE T EWABE
KEEeNa tM TaABBERETS RFE -

RAFE - NEB IR ETTHFE R R HE AR5
HEFBXBOUEE ZKEER  KLRE - B
BREEERER - ERREBRFGEZERLERA
ERRBRNEZITAR - ARRIEHE-BH=F
FEiZatE ZBEZETEIAFERZARR#A 2R
RHNEAEREH  UNRDHESE  FXRZEE
RERZE G HEASEZERERE AR
ERREBITZAEY

EREERABERRG 2 FEER

RAFER  BERZBEREFSCRIBINGGE
MR 2 Gt = F R BN R EEERE
REMERFERSE - EHAMEREMEREL
FRUETTR M - RIBZSEMN  EFERAB()
AEE2RCOSOMAREE RN EZERS
BRARD  R(NAKRERAFEEZRET
CERERTAIABRAREERAMEERR IR

==

E o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERERHRE

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company maintains a framework for handling and dissemination
of inside information for compliance with “Part XIVA — Disclosure
of Inside Information” of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The framework set forth the procedures and internal controls for
the purpose of maintaining inside information in a private and
confidential manner until such information is disclosed properly. The
procedures and internal controls include identification, collection,
maintenance and reporting of inside information.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with the shareholders and investors. The Company communicates
with the shareholders and investors through various channels
including investors’ conferences, TV interviews, press releases, and
publication of interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications and publications available on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders
through annual general meetings and other general meetings where
the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to
exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall arrange
notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed
resolutions to be sent to the shareholders. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.
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The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views
are heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and
concerns relating to the Group’s management and governance. The
Company’s website provides email address and telephone number
to enable the shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to
the Board. Shareholders may also at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing to the Chief Executive
Officer by post or by email. The contact details are set out in the
Corporate Information section of this Annual Report.

Subject to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to request
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and such
meeting shall be held within three months after the deposit of such
requisition.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to the special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2020, the amendment to
the Company Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of the
Company. The amendments principally reflected the change in the
maximum number of directors. For details of the amendment, please
refer to the circular of the Company date 23 April 2020.

Saved as the above, there were no significant changes in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report of Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The report summarises the
performance for the year ended 31 December 2020.

This report covers the key operations of the Group, including
logistics and aviation. The report is compiled in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board has delegated ESG-related responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, who will report to the board of directors on the findings
and issues that it has identified. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for evaluating and determining our ESG related risks,
and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The management strives
to enhance the effectiveness of these systems and the Group’s ESG
performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that creating long-term value for stakeholders
is important to sustain its business success. We value honest, open
and regular dialogue with our stakeholders. As a company with
services spanning across several continents, the Group strives to
engage and gain trust and support from its various stakeholders.
These include employees, customers, suppliers, investors,
governmental authorities and the wider community as a whole. The
Group engages its stakeholders on a regular basis, through various
channels, such as conferences, interviews and surveys, with a view
to understanding their expectation in ESG matters.
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Stakeholder
Groups

Engagement Method

Internal key stakeholders
Employee — Employee
Satisfaction Survey
— Employee
Performance
Appraisal
— Training Workshops
— Meetings and
Discussions
External key stakeholders
Customers — Daily Operations
— Meetings and
Conference
— Customer Feedback
Forms
— Customer Hotline
Suppliers — Daily Operations
— Supplier Inspection
— Annual Evaluation

Investors — Financial
announcements
— HKEx Filings

— Investor Calls and
Briefings
— Annual General
Meetings
Governmental — Compliance
Authorities Reporting
— Consultation Papers
— Rules and
Regulations
Community — Charitable Donation
— Volunteer Activities

Key ESG Concerns

Remuneration and
Benefit

Health and Safety
Rights of
Employees

Quality of Services
Corporate
Reputation
Protection of Data
Privacy

Corporate
Reputation
Long-term
Relationship
Financial
Performance
Sustainable
Development

Compliance
Corporate
Governance

Social Contribution
Environmental
Protection

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 E AR A 7

\“,

bk 28RN

HEE
EEWz
AEBEEFHAEE
&R — EERMEER
=
— EEREANX
— WIITIES
— EEK®
HBEEFZERE
P — AREE
— EEEERE
— BEFPEBRRR
— BEPRR
HEm — AREE
— HEEER
— FEHE
REEHE — WBASE
— BERSHAHE
ES Q]
— REHEEFEL
O
— BRRBFERE®

BUF#E — ARmS

— FEAXXHF

— BIERER
= — BEBRX

— BB

TERE - HER
EREEIER

Hrbh K A= A

RERZE
REZ#EM

MRISE &=
EBER

— HEBELBRE

EBER

RIERR

BB RR

AREE R

HEER
RERE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANC

RE HERERB®RSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Taking the expectation of the key stakeholders into the
consideration, we have prioritised environmental protection,
employment and labour practices, operating practices and
community investment as key ESG issues. Key initiatives and
activities are summarised in the following sections.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
through mitigating emissions, improving energy efficiency and
reducing its impacts on the environment.

Our leadership has been committed to sustainability, recognising
it is a strategic imperative for our business and embedding it in
our corporate values. Our primary aim is to manage sustainability
risks through appropriate policies, standards, and systems. It
also enables us to identify and pursue potential sustainability
opportunities.

The Group recognises that pollution prevention and resource
conservation are key to combating climate change, and thus
effectively integrates these concepts into its business decision
making.

The Group strictly abides by local rules and regulations on
environmental protection. For example, the Group’s aviation
business in Kenya follows the policies approved by National
Environment Management Authority, a local government agency
responsible for implementing environmental policy, logistics
business in South Africa adopts its internal policy for compliance.
The applicable rules and regulation include the National
Environmental Management Act: Air Quality Act 39, Environmental
Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014,
National Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting Regulations, Climate
Change Act (2016), etc.

Enhancing fuel efficiency is a key focus of the Group’'s
environmental protection efforts and technology plays a key part in
driving the Group’s sustainable development. In the Group’s ground
logistics business, the operational teams arrange the transportation
so as to maximise the utilisation of vehicles and save the fuel
consumption. The teams are going to acquire eco-friendly vehicles
to minimise the usage of energy resource. Moreover, drag-reducing
devices were installed on trucks to improve fuel efficiency and
reduce greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions. Air and greenhouse gas
emissions in 2020 was increased slightly because of the increase
in usage of self-owned vehicles, rather than delivery services from
third parties during the pandemic of COVID-19.
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Responsible waste management practices are adopted in the
Group’s processes. For instance, within the Group’s aviation
business, used oil from aircraft servicing and maintenance is
siphoned into drums for storage and recycling by qualified vendors.
The Group encourages proper waste segregation and storage
in designated receptacles on its premises to facilitate material
recovery and biological treatment. The Group places emphasis
on implementation of environmental protection measure, to ensure
effective and efficient waste segregation, disposal and management
of both hazardous or non-hazardous wastes. Our employees share
responsibilities for waste management in our business operations
with reference to the established environmental protection measure
and waste management approaches.

The Group takes proactive measures to minimise the environmental
impact arising from its operations. Previously, the Group’s aviation
business relocated its full power engine runs to a designated area
located on the southern end of Wilson Airport in Kenya, far from the
neighbouring community and sensitive natural habitats. This helps
to reduce the impact of air and noise pollution arising from aircraft
test runs and vehicle movements. When replacing fleet vehicles,
the Group takes fuel efficiency into account in its decision making
process. Fleet vehicles are constantly monitored for excessive fuel
usage. Repair and maintenance on the fleet vehicles and forklifts
are performed to ensure its mechanical parts are functioned so as
to prevent unnecessary energy consumption or emissions. Where
necessary, drivers are trained to drive the vehicles in the most fuel
efficient ways by observing practices with regard to tyre pressures,
harsh braking and acceleration, as well as driver behaviour.

All employees are responsible and accountable for promoting and
implementing environmentally responsible operations.
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The Group has worked to raise staff awareness of environmental
management by implementing sustainable practices at workplace.
We promote green office and operation environment to minimise
the adverse environmental impacts of the Group. The employees of
the Group have reduced the consumption of electricity, paper and
water resources. For example, to avoid energy wastage, employees
are reminded to turn off idle electrical appliances. The Group also
used more energy efficient LED lighting and air conditioners when
carrying out renovations of the offices and warehouses. The Group’s
electricity consumption is comparable with the industrial average.
To lower paper consumption, double-sided printing, recycling
of used paper and use of electronic documentation are strongly
encouraged. Dedicated bins have been set up at the Group’s
offices to facilitate waste separation and recycling. Waste paper
from the offices is delivered to an approved paper recycler. Despite
of the logistics and aviation business are not highly intensive in
usage of water, the water consumption increased by approximately
19% as compared with last year. It was because cleaning in
warehouse and office is more frequent to maintain workplace
hygiene during COVID-19 pandemic. The Group uses municipal
water and therefore, there is no issue on sourcing water.

The Group strives to drive the environmental performance of its
logistics solutions to another level through continuous monitoring
and improvement. Regular reviews are carried out on a timely
basis to evaluate and explore alternative eco-friendly measures
and practices. Going forward, it is part of the Group’s strategy to
increase strategic investment in energy-efficient technologies, such
as sourcing for greener fuels and aircraft as appropriate.

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that
affects everyone around the world. We are aware of the impacts
of climate change on the sustainable development of our business
operations. For example, more frequent extreme weather conditions
may lead to disruption to transportation and thus our ground
logistics and aviation services. In response to the climate change,
the Group has closely monitor the weather conditions prior to and
throughout the provision of services. Furthermore, emergency
response training are offered to the frontline workers, including the
drivers and pilots, in order to provide guidance to our employees
in response to extreme weather arose, which allows us to limit the
potential damages.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes that people are the foundation of its business
growth. The Group’s human resources policies and procedures
cover key aspects such as compensation, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, welfare and other benefits.

It is paramount for the Group to attract qualified talent both
internally and externally to support business ambitions.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance-based and
competitive. Eligible employees are entitled to other benefits in
addition to basic salary, such as medical insurance and retirement
funds. The remuneration packages are regularly reviewed to keep
up with the market.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an inclusive
workplace that embraces and promotes diversity and equal
opportunity. The Group has zero tolerance of harassment and
discrimination in any form. Employees are hired and selected
based on their merits regardless of their race, colour, age, religious
belief, gender and national origin. Specifically, the Group’s aviation
business adopted a “Fair and Just Culture Policy” to ensure that
all personnel are treated fairly. The Group also strives to establish
harmonious labour relationships. In the Group’s ground logistics
business where the majority of Group employees are employed,
grievance procedures are enforced to make sure that the concerns
of the employees are heard and addressed in an equitable and
fair manner. The Group’s logistics business in South Africa is a
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) compliant
for years, of which it is a racially inclusive initiative imposed by the
government of South Africa, and such compliant demonstrates that
the Group’s has put its firm commitments towards racial equity.

In the event of misconducts that warrant dismissal, the Group strictly
observes the disciplinary code to ensure necessary steps and
procedures are followed. The code sets out our principles for acting
responsibly in the course of achieving our commercial success. The
hearings are chaired by independent labour consultants who would
also provide recommendations to the disciplinary actions made, and
employees have the right to appeal the outcome of the disciplinary
hearing.
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In the logistics business in South Africa, employees’ rights on
remuneration, working hours, leave entitlement, etc. are strictly
complied with the Labour Relation Act and Basic Condition of
Employment Act. During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Occupational health and safety (“OHS”) is the Group’s top priority
for its business operations under the strict national rules and
regulations in logistics and aviation business, such as Occupational
Health and Safety Act in South Africa and Kenya. All our operations
must be carried out in a manner that safeguards the health and
safety of all employees, customers, contractors and the wider
community. The Group adopts proper procedures at the workplace
to identify, mitigate and monitor health and safety risks. Hazard
assessments and safety monitoring are also carried out frequently,
and results are followed up in a timely manner to drive continuous
improvement. Proper personal protective equipment and first aid
training are provided to employees. The Group protects the safety
of its people and assets by undertaking rigorous fire prevention
measures, organising safety awareness and accident investigation
workshops, as well as providing firefighting training. Fire and
evacuation drills, fire hydrant flow and pressure tests are conducted
periodically. Risk administration and compliance officers were hired
to proactively identify risks and implement preventive measures for
the Group.

The Group’s aviation business is certified by the Department of
Occupational Safety and Health Services under the Ministry of
Health of the Republic of Kenya in recognition of its achievements
in upholding workplace safety. Our continued success is inherently
linked with providing a safe working environment for all Group
employees. To succeed in this, we have developed a corporate
safety culture and adopted a risk-driven approach in identifying
and minimising the impact of hazards on our operations. Within
the Group’s logistics business, toolbox talks covering topics such
as safety, hazards, health and equipment operations are held with
frontline workers on a daily basis. A third-party consultant was
engaged to carry out regular thermal tests on the distribution boards
to prevent fire hazards in the physical properties.
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The Group is committed to protecting the health and safety of
all individuals affected by its activities, including its employees,
contractors and the public. The Group ensures that every individual
employee works in a safe and healthy environment. Pilots and crew
working for the Group’s aviation business are covered by kidnap
and ransom insurance to provide assurance for their safety.

The outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought severe
threat to the health and safety of all individuals. As a logistics
and aviation services provider, the nature of our works inevitably
means that our employees are exposed to high infection risk.
Hence, regular testing for COVID-19 was arranged to employees.
For those employees were tested with high infection risk, they
should screen out and should be quarantined in the early stage.
In addition, COVID-19 policy is established with the objective to
provide guidelines about prevention of the inflection. The Group
has been implementing various preventative measures in workplace
to safeguard the health and safety of the employees. These
measures include: employees must wear masks properly at work,
arranging body temperature screening at the main entrance, and
regular cleaning and disinfection of the workplace to maintain good
environmental hygiene, etc. The Group will continuous monitor the
development of the epidemic and strengthen the precautionary
measures if necessary.

Employees are encouraged and supported to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. In addition to abiding by all standard aviation
safety regulations, the Group’s flight operations have enhanced
policies around pre-flight rest and duty hours to further minimise
OHS-related risks caused by fatigue.

The Group will review the safety of the workplace on an ongoing
basis.
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Development and Training

The Group believes that talent development is integral to sustaining
its competitive advantage and organic growth. Training programmes
are set up at business level to support daily job functions.
Subsidies of training or education are provided to the staff for their
contribution to the Group after self-development. For instance, the
Group places high priority to enhance skills of its ground logistics
staff, particularly on operating warehouse equipment. Furthermore,
highly customised training courses are prepared for pilots and
engineers within the Group’s aviation business, in particular the
training in safety management system and aviation security to
enhance their awareness of safety and security. In order to facilitate
employees’ professional growth and career progression, the Group
also provides support and assistance for staff to attend external
training courses that are relevant to their areas of expertise.

A skills development committee has been established within the
Group’s logistics business to plan and organise development and
training for employees. In addition, management personnel of the
Group’s logistic arm attended training on safety and security in
China in prior years to prepare them for the challenges of managing
safety and security during their works.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance based and
competitive. In addition, the Group provides other benefits to
employees including various training programmes.

To stay competitive, we invest in different ways to acquire the best
talent in the market by reviewing and streamlining our recruitment
process to make us more efficient in attracting and hiring new
talent, developing different customised selection and assessment
tools to help us acquire the most suitable talent in the market.

The Group will continue to evaluate the training needs of its
employees and to offer the employees with appropriate and suitable
training according to their job position and nature. The Group will
continue to intensify and promote staff training programs by offering
comprehensive training opportunity, it could help to reserve talent
for corporate development.
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Labour Standards

The Group strives to adhere to applicable local and international
labour standards, including Basic Condition of Employment Act
in logistics business in South Africa, and strictly prohibits the use
of child or forced labour in its operations. We have developed
systematic approval and selection measures to prevent ourselves
from illegally hiring child labour and ensure that the employment is
comply with relevant laws and regulations. New employees should
present their legitimate proof of age to meet the requirements of
local minimum age and to prevent employment of child labour. The
Group’s suppliers and contractors are expected to attain the same
standard in their labour practices.

The Group’s logistics business in South Africa has been a member
of Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX) since 2018. SEDEX
Members Ethical Trade Audits (SMETA) were conducted on an
ongoing basis to assess the business’s performance around labour
rights, health and safety, the environment and business ethics. In
addition, the labour practices of logistics business in South Africa
are continuously monitored by the National Bargaining Council
for the Road Freight and Logistics Industry and the South African
Department of Employment & Labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group is aware of the importance in managing environmental
and social risks of our supplier chain. The Group works closely
with its suppliers and service providers to support and optimise its
complete logistic solutions. The Group has embedded environmental
and social consideration in the procurement process and supplier
communication. The Group aspires to exert a positive influence
over its suppliers to promote the awareness of sustainability and
manage risks within its supply chain, including environmental,
social and governance best practices. In addition, a scrupulous and
rigorous process for supplier monitoring and screening is in place.
The Group will continue to monitor its supply chain regarding the
environmental and social standards.
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Product Responsibility

Since its establishment, the Group has focused on helping its
customers to operate more securely and efficiently in frontier
markets. The Group emphasises service quality and reliability to
differentiate itself in the market and help its clients focus on meeting
their project milestones on time and within budget.

The Group’s aviation business in Kenya implemented an ISO 9001
quality management system approved by UKAS and ANAB (US),
with a wide scope of provision of aviation and logistics services,
such as worldwide charter flights and medical air ambulance
charter. In addition, the Group has been certified and approved
by European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) as a Third
Country Operator (TCO) in recognition of the safety performance
of the Group’s aviation business. To maintain the reliability of
its aviation services, the Group conducts forecasts on capacity,
demand patterns and customer requirements to address potential
bottlenecks caused by hangar space, associated logistics and
custom procedures.

The Group is committed to providing high-quality services to
customers. The Group’s logistics business prides itself on high
services levels by timely delivery with low damage rate. In addition,
we are particularly concerned with the safety in handling, storage
and transport of food products. In the Group’s ground logistics
business in South Africa, trucks with refrigerator unit are specifically
used for transfer of refrigerated or freezer products and temperature
are frequently checked during the transportation to ensure the
products are in good condition. Perishable Products Export Control
Board (PPECB) carried out annual inspection to confirm the food
safety system of our logistics business in compliance with food
hygiene and safety standards in South Africa.

Furthermore, a complaint handling mechanism is in place to
address customers’ concerns. Complaints are properly documented
upon receipt and subsequently followed up in a timely and efficient
manner. Once complaints are verified, compensation is provided
to customers in accordance with established procedures and with
reference to prior cases.

The Group values data privacy. Collected personal data is only
accessible by authorised personnel and is handled in a confidential
manner. The Group’s logistics business in South Africa strictly
complies with the requirements of the Protection of Personal
Information Act. Personal information collected from stakeholders,
including employees, customers, suppliers, etc., is protected
against unlawful collection, retention, dissemination and use of
personal information under the requirements of the act.
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Anti-corruption

The Group maintains a high standard of anti-corruption measures
and have zero-tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or fraud.
Upon employment, all employees are introduced to the specific
requirements related to the corruption policies in the company and
are provided with anti-corruption training in order to mitigate the
relevant risks to the business. For example, the Group’s aviation
business in Kenya strictly complies with the requirements of the
UK Anti-Bribery and Corruption Act and the Kenya Anti-Corruption
and Economic Crimes Act, and makes an effort to keep up to any
changes in regulations.

In addition, a whistle-blowing procedure is established with the
objective to provide a confidential channel for employees to report
on suspected irregularities. This policy also aims to encourage
our people to come forward and report suspected wrongdoing
and to provide necessary guidance and assurance to anyone who
reports suspected wrongdoing. The Group works with Whistle
Blowers, an independent company which provides ethics hotline
services, for employees to safely report any whistle-blowing matters
in South Africa. Whistle Blowers also provides evidence-based
recommendations on how to effectively manage the ethics hotline
as well as how to embed integrity as part of the corporate culture in
the workplace.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to supporting development in the
communities where it operates by working closely with a number
of charities. In nurturing the corporate culture to practice social
welfare and participation, we aim to embrace our corporate social
responsibilities as part of the Group’s strategic development. In
recent years, we have engaged in various community activities,
including but not limited to:

— participating in epidemic preventive and control works such
as rendering air ambulance services and delivery of medical
equipment and consumables across countries;

— supporting and participating in educational fieldtrips to
promote children’s awareness in conserving wildlife under
Carolina for Kibera’s Child Outreach Programme in Nairobi,
Kenya;

—  cooperating with Support Teacher Empowerment Trust by
providing training to teachers and equipping them with
necessary knowledge and skills to support and educate the
disadvantaged youths;
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— working with Phakamani Trust, a local non-profit organization
aiming to empower rural young women, to combat poverty
and unemployment in South Africa;

— transporting donated food to various charitable organisations
such as churches and children homes free of charge;

—  maintaining close contacts with local schools and organizing
visits to the Group’s premises to provide an introduction on
aviation to the students. This helps to broaden their horizon
and equip them for their future career with more knowledge
on different industries; and

—  supporting relief works for incidents by natural disasters, such
as flooding in Somalia and forest fires in Tanzania.

The Group made approximately HK$318,000 of donation in 2020.
The donation was mainly contributed to non-profit organisation
for their work to implement the preventive measure during the
pandemic of COVID-19. The Group also encourages its employees
to actively participate in volunteer works. When selecting charitable
organisations to support, the Group would evaluate their visions
and backgrounds. Charities with unclear financial position
and operations are not considered so as to ensure community
investment goes to the needy.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group analyses and monitors the regulatory frameworks
applicable to the Group and prepares and updates internal policies,
including Environmental Policy, whenever necessary. The Board
oversees the Group’s management and internal controls on an
ongoing basis. The Group keeps abreast of the latest regulatory
developments and provide relevant trainings for relevant personnel.
In addition to preventive measures, the Group also ensures there
are monitoring and measures to enable regulatory compliance. With
these mechanisms, the Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant local laws and regulations related to areas
such as environmental protection, employment and labour practices
and operating practices during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE*

RE HERERB®RSE

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE RIEBRENEEZ

INDICATORS

The table below shows the environmental key performance TRHINAEER () BIEWRES M (b)BE
indicators (“KPIs”) of the key operations of the Group in two MEXEBEMERBP 2 EELEZRBERE

services namely (a) logistics business in South Africa and (b) BT (| BRERUERE]) -
aviation business in Kenya.

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020 2019
REBRENIER B —E-EF —E-NF
Nitrogen Oxides emissions (NO,) tonne 20.72 18.77
—ERBNE s
Sulphur Oxides emissions (SO,) tonne 0.03 0.02
—a BN E i
Particulate matter emissions (PM) tonne 1.49 1.37
PR E B 185
Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO.e 7,391.99 6,206.61
BERBRENE Z AL TR BE RO 2R
Scope 1 — Direct emissions and removals tonne CO.e 6,629.71 5,445.89
E 1 — EEERORRR Z AR R 2R
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions tonne CO.e 762.28 760.72
E2 — REREEBN Z AL HRBE R 2R
Total hazardous waste produced tonne 1.83 2.50
FREX 2 BEREEYES 145
Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 213.19 240.13
FESZBEEENES U
Total energy consumption kWh 28,424,100.13 22,463,386.17
BERERES F R
Total direct energy consumption kWh 27,433,719.13 21,544,766.59
BEERRERES TR
Diesel oil kWh 18,269,760.54 16,853,417.21
By T ELF
Gasoline/Petrol kWh 8,636.65 5,847.71*
i TR
Kerosene kWh 9,165,321.94 4,612,815.33
ESE: FRE
Total direct energy consumption intensity kWh/HKD’000 revenue 45.34 29.68
by revenue FRE Mz TET
N et e BEREREREERE
Total indirect energy consumption kWh 980,381.00 918,619.58
BEEREHREE TR
Purchased electricity kWh 980,381.00 918,619.58
EREE T ELF
Total indirect energy consumption intensity kWh/HKD’000 revenue 1.62 1.27
by revenue TEE,WETHET
NWamat 2 Mz RAEERE
Water consumption m® 59,572.00 50,007.15
FEKE SR
Water consumption intensity by revenue m*/HKD’000 revenue 0.10 0.07
et 2 FKERE SR WE T AT
* Restated based on new data and re-calculation. * HRAHSEREFAEMEY -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANC

RE HERERB®RSE

N\

SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The table below shows the social key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) of the key operations of the Group in two services namely
(a) logistics business in South Africa and (b) aviation business in
Kenya.

Social KPIs
HEREREREE

Total workforce
EE 48
Total workforce by gender
RMERE D 2B BB
Female
g
Male
Xl
Total workforce by employment type
RERBIE S 2 REER
Full-time
£
Non full-time
FERW
Total workforce by age group
RERERNE D 2 EEER
21-35
212 355
36-50
36552 50 5%
Over 50
505 A £
Total workforce by geographical region
R E o 2 BB B
South Africa
EES
Kenya
BE:

HEBERERIER

TREINAEER (a) EIFMREL K (b) 5EE
MEXBEMARBP 2T REE 2 SRRE
MR ([ ARERER]) -

Unit
B

number

%

number
%
number

#

number
£
number

%

number
£
number
%
number

#

number
£
number

%

2020
—ECEH

252

57

195

232

20

75

143

34

156

96
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE%O

RE HERERB®RSE

Social KPIs Unit 2020
HEERENIER B —EIBF
Employee turnover rate % 22
RERKLE

Employee turnover rate by gender

RENEID 2 BEREALE

Female % 15
g
Male % 24
B

Employee turnover rate age group
RERERNB D 2 EERKILX

21-35 % 36
2152 355%

36-50 % 13
36 7% 2 50 5%

Over 50 % 15
50 BRIA L

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

I E D 2 RERAKLE

South Africa % 30
[=E
Kenya % 2
BRn

Percentage of employees trained % 18

HIMEE B
Percentage of employees trained by gender

RENEDZZIEER DL

Female % 1
g
Male % 22
B
Average training hours completed per employee hours 1.41
BEEETHRZ I FHRE N

Average training hours completed per employee by gender
RIERIE D 2 BHEE TAE 2 RS

Female hours 0.04
M N
Male hours 1.77
Eefi AN
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Zhenming, aged 64, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 December 2018.
Mr. Chang holds a master degree in business administration
and has a broad range of experience in banking, finance and
securities business. Mr. Chang was formerly the chairman and an
executive director of CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). CITIC Limited
is an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 25.91% issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this annual report. Mr. Chang was also the chairman of
CITIC Group Corporation and CITIC Corporation Limited, and was
formerly the vice chairman and president of China Construction
Bank Corporation (stock code: 939 (H share); 601939 (A share)),
the non-executive director and deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited (stock code: 293), the non-executive director and
the chairman of the board of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
(stock code: 998 (H share); 601998 (A share)), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and/or the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. He was also formerly a non-executive
director of China CITIC Bank International Limited and the chairman
of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited.

‘%‘iil
]
) Y

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND e':
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND S
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Mr. Fei Yiping, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive director
on 24 March 2020. Mr. Fei is a director and the chief financial
officer of CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Limited). He is also the deputy general manager
of financial control department of CITIC Limited, a director and the
chief financial officer of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a vice
chairman and president of CITIC Pacific China Holdings Limited,
a director and general manager of Rainbow Wisdom Investments
Limited (a subsidiary of CITIC Group Corporation (“CITIC Group”)),
a non-executive director of CITIC Telecom International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1883), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, a non-executive director of Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited, the shares of which were withdrawn
from listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a
director of Companhia de Telecomunica¢gdes de Macau, S.A.R.L.
He is also a director of certain member companies of CITIC Pacific
involved in special steel, property and energy and a director of
certain member companies of CITIC Limited involved in iron ore
mining, property and its interests in McDonald’s Mainland China
and Hong Kong businesses (including, inter alia, Grand Foods
Holdings Limited), and also the chairman of the audit, compliance
and risk management committees of Grand Foods Holdings
Limited. Mr. Fei is a graduate from Beijing Science and Technology
University and received a Master in Business Administration from
the University of Edinburgh in the United Kingdom. He is a FCPA of
CPA Australia and has over 23 years experience in accounting and
financial management. He has been with CITIC Group since 1991.
Between 2001 and 2008, he first acted as treasurer and director of
CitiSteel USA, Inc. and then acted as a vice president of CITIC USA
Holdings, Inc. and chief representative of CITIC Group in New York.
When he returned to China in 2008, he became a deputy director
general of the finance department of CITIC Group.

Mr. Chan Kai Kong, aged 52, is the Chief Financial Officer and
a Senior Managing Director of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited, a
global alternative investment management and advisory company.
He heads up various businesses in Principal Investments and is also
a partner of Trustar Capital, the private equity business of CITIC
Capital. Prior to joining the firm, he was an investment professional
at the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation and the
International Finance Corporation responsible for both direct
investments and fund investments in Asia. He previously worked
for Deloitte and had corporate finance experience with both listed
companies and merchant bank. Mr. Chan received a M.Sc. in
Finance from the London Business School and a BBA from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Erik D. Prince, aged 51, was appointed as an executive
director on 10 January 2014 and has served as a Deputy Chairman
of the Company since 6 December 2018. He is also a committee
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Prince is a US-born entrepreneur,
philanthropist, military veteran and private equity investor with
business interests in Africa, Europe, the Middle East and North
America in the fields of logistics, aviation services, manufacturing,
natural resources development and energy. He is the founder and
chairman of Frontier Resource Group, a private equity firm active
across the African continent in areas such as exploration, mining
and energy development. Mr. Prince is the founder of Blackwater,
the leading global private security company, which he sold in 2010.
Mr. Prince was educated at Hillsdale College. Upon graduation, he
enlisted in the US Navy, where he served as a Navy SEAL officer
until 1996.

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 69, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1998 and a Deputy Chairman of
the Company since January 2014. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company and is a committee member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ko is an executive director of BC Technology Group
Limited (stock code: 863), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ko has extensive experience in direct
investment, merger and acquisition, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecom) and financial service.

Mr. Luo Ning, aged 62, has been an executive director of the
Company since October 2006 and a Deputy Chairman of the
Board of the Company since January 2014. He was a director of
Baiyin Nonferrous Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 601212.ss), the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in
PRC. Mr. Luo is currently the chairman of CITIC Guoan Information
Industry Company Limited (stock code: 000839.sz), the shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). Mr. Luo has extensive experience
in telecommunication business and holds a Bachelor Degree in
Communication Speciality from The Wuhan People’s Liberation Army
Institute of Communication Command in the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, aged 75, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2004. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company, and a committee member of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Committee of the Company. Mr. Yap holds
a Master Degree in Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Glasgow, in the United Kingdom. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in finance and
accounting. He retired as the managing director of Johnson Matthey
Hong Kong Limited in June 2007 and prior to that appointment he
was the general manager of Sun Hung Kai Development (China)
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Concord New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 182), which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and Brockman
Mining Limited , which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 159) and the Australian Securities Exchange
(stock code: BCK).

Mr. Cui Liguo, aged 51, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2020. He is also
the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company, and a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the risk committee of the Company. Mr. Cui is currently a founding
partner of Guantao Law Firm and the chairman of its management
committee. Mr. Cui has over 25 years of experience in legal sector,
and holds a position of independent non-executive director in
several companies, such as, CNNC International Limited (stock
code: 2302) and APT Satellite Holdings Limited (stock code: 1045),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 601918) and Joincare Pharmaceutical Group Industry
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600380), the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange in China, Essence Securities Co., Ltd.
and Beijing Life Insurance Co., Ltd.. Mr. Cui was an independent
non-executive director of China National Software & Service Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600536) until 11 May 2020, the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in China. He is also a
member of the Finance & Securities Committee of All China Lawyers
Association. Mr. Cui graduated from the China University of Political
Science and Law with a bachelor degree in laws. He also holds a
master degree in laws from the same university.
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Mr. Hooi Hing Lee, aged 54, has over 31 years of experience in
the finance industry. Mr. Hooi was employed by National Australia
Bank Limited in a variety of roles in Australia and Hong Kong from
January 1988 to June 2006 with his last position as the head of
corporate banking, North Asia. He also served as a chief operating
officer in Cushman & Wakefield Capital Asia Limited from July 2006
to October 2008. For the period between 5 March 2008 to 6 October
2008, Mr. Hooi was a responsible officer for regulated activities
Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) of Cushman & Wakefield Capital Asia (HK) Limited. He also
served as a country chief risk officer of Standard Chartered Bank
(Taiwan) Limited from August 2010 to June 2013 respectively. In
the year of 2013, Mr. Hooi founded a private equity company, pH
Capital Limited, where he currently acts as the director.

Dr. Harold O. Demuren, aged 75, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2014. He is also
a committee member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr.
Demuren is an aeronautical engineer and the chief executive officer
of Harold Demuren Consulting. With over 45 years of experience
in both the public and private sectors of the aviation industry,
Dr. Demuren has been a strong proponent of aviation safety and
security, especially advocating and spreading safety regulatory
oversight on the African continent. He was the chief executive
officer of Afrijet Airlines, a successful cargo airline, which had
strategic alliances with foreign partners servicing Africa, Europe
and the Americas from 1998 to 2005. He is the founder of Evergreen
Apple Nigeria, the first fully integrated fixed based operations and
maintenance facility hangar in Nigeria. He was appointed as the
Director General of the Nigerian Civil Aviation Authority from 2005
to 2013 and was the first to provide vital information to the public
on the failed attempt of the “Christmas Day Bomber” in 2009. He
successfully attained US Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
Category One Certification for Nigeria and was the first African
to be elected as the President of the International Civil Aviation
Organisation (ICAO) General Assembly in Montreal in 2010. For his
contribution to aviation safety globally, Dr. Demuren has received
numerous awards including the 2010 Laura Taber Barbour Air
Safety Award and the 2014 FSF-Boeing Aviation Safety Lifetime
Achievement Award from Flight Safety Foundation. Dr. Demuren
holds a Master of Science degree in Aeronautical Engineering
from the Kiev Institute of Aeronautical Engineers in the former
Soviet Union and a Doctor of Science degree in the field of gas
turbines, specialising in aircraft jet engines, from the Department
of Aeronautics and Astronautics of the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology (MIT).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Hu Ping, aged 57, having been working as General Manager
of the Middle East and North Africa region of the Group since
June 2019, Dr. Hu Ping was appointed as Acting Chief Executive
Officer of the Group in March 2021. Dr. Hu Ping graduated with
a bachelor’s degree in 1983 from the Department of Geophysical
Prospecting, Chengdu University of Geology; in June 2005, he
obtained a PhD (Engineering) degree in Earth Exploration and
Information Technology from China University of Geosciences
(Beijing). From 1983 to 2013, he worked at the Institute of
Geophysical and Geochemical Exploration (IGGE), Chinese
Academy of Geological Sciences, Ministry of Land and Resources,
and served as director of the Market Development Division,
General Manager of the Hong Kong Engineering Geophysical Co.,
Ltd and Deputy Director of IGGE. In April 2013, he joined CITIC
Construction Co. as Deputy General Manager and also served as
General Manager of the Energy and Minerals Business Department
and General Manager of Africa. In July 2019, he was appointed
as a member of the Overseas Geological Work Expert Advisory
Committee of the China Geological Survey. Dr. Hu has nearly
40 years of experience in geological exploration of energy and
mineral resources, international construction market development,
and implementation and management of large-scale engineering
projects.

Mr. Leung King Yu, Wilson, aged 48, has been the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since July 2018. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Leung has more than
25 years of auditing, financial, accounting and advisory related
experience of which he spent 10 years working in Mainland China.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked at the audit and assurance
department of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm,
for more than 17 years. He retired from the partnership at Ernst &
Young in September 2012. Afterwards, Mr. Leung worked as the
chief financial officer for two other main board listed companies. His
experience covers a wide variety of industries including automotive,
telecommunication, property development, oil transportation, logistic
and manufacturing. He has extensive experience in merger and
acquisitions, initial public offerings, fund raising exercises and
group restructuring. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, and is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Uldarico Ard Peregrino Jr., aged 51, is the Chief Security
Officer of the Group and a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He has advised the corporate and national security level
programs in the industry since 1994, and has managed complex,
global integrated security and logistics programs in various
capacities over the past 20 years. Mr. Peregrino began his career
as a United States Marine. After completing his seven-plus years of
service, Mr. Peregrino entered the International Corporate Security
industry, quickly progressing to managing large VIP security
operations and developing critical training for close protection
teams. He also served as a local law enforcement officer where
he was awarded two “Valor Awards”. Among other certifications,
Mr. Peregrino holds one of the most respected Aviation Security
Certification, the AVSEC PMC certified by ICAO. He has published
papers on many security topics and has participated in the
international arena as a featured speaker for the corporate security
industry and law enforcement.

Mr. Liu Zhigang, aged 48, has been the Head of the Southern
Africa Region (formerly East Africa Region) and the Country
Manager of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (the “DRC”) for
the Company since July 2018. Mr. Liu is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s business and operations in Kenya, South Sudan,
Somalia, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique and the DRC. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as vice president and director
of Weihai International Economic and Technical Cooperation Co.,
Ltd. and the chairman of Zhengwei Company in the DRC. Mr. Liu
has extensive working experience in handling overseas projects
including project bidding, project management and localized
management and he is familiar with the financing and business
model for projects along the Belt and Road Initiative. Mr. Liu has
been working for more than ten years in both Republic of the Congo
and the DRC. He is familiar with the business environment in Africa
and has a good reputation among local political and business
strategists. Mr. Liu graduated from Qingdao University with a
Bachelor of Science degree and had studied at Central University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Liu has also equipped with extensive
financial background.
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Mr. Su Bin, aged 41, is the Head of Group Insurance division,
focusing on the risk management and insurance solutions business
of the Group. Mr. Su has more than 16 years working experience
in risk management and insurance industry, offering tailor-made
insurance programs and integrated risk solutions for clients like
overseas projects and multinational enterprises. Before joining the
Group, he worked in line of Construction & Energy of JLT Insurance
Broker Co., which was a Jardine Matheson associate company. His
clients included many types like power generation, infrastructure, oil
and gas, renewable energy etc. in high-risk areas such as Southeast
Asia, Central Asia, Africa and South America. Mr. Su worked as
Assistant General Manager of the Captive Insurance Department of
Generali China, and Assistant General Manager of P&C Technical
Department of Jiangtai Insurance Broker Co. once before. He holds
Master Degree of Insurance (Central University of Finance and
Economics), Bachelor Degree of Economics (Beijing Commercial
College), ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP, and is a registered broker of China
Insurance Regulatory Commission.

Mr. Lv Chaohai, aged 57, used to be the Head of Northwest
Region, who is responsible to oversee the Company’s business and
operations in Pakistan, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and other major
countries in Northwest Asia. He was later appointed Executive
Chairman of Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Prior to working
with the Company, Mr. Lv was vice president of Xinjiang Production
and Construction Corporations and the chairman of its international
company, having extensive overseas working experience in project
operation, equipment procurement as well as localisation, security,
training, education and employment of Chinese and foreign labor.
Mr. Lv is a graduate of Xi’an Jiaotong University and a certificate
holder of senior engineer and construction engineer.
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Ms. Cui Jiming, aged 55, is the Global Human Resources Director
of the Group, overseeing and operating human resources matters
across all of the offices and subsidiaries in Asia, Middle East and
Africa, creating and implementing human resource strategy of the
Group to transform the strategic objectives into the common goals
and actions of all employees. Previously, Ms. Cui served as Deputy
General Manager of CITIC construction Technology Center (Planning
& Design Institution), responsible for administration management,
human resources management, security management, social
responsibility management of Angola KK Housing Project, RED
Social Housing Project, Agricultural Development and Construction
Project, Geological Survey and other projects. Ms. Cui is a graduate
of Lanzhou Jiaotong University, holding a bachelor’'s degree in
Industrial and Civil Construction and a master’s degree in Economic
Management, and a certificate holder of Senior Engineer, Senior
Project Manager and Corporate Trainer.

Mr. Zhou Chuncheng, aged 42, was appointed as the executive
general manager of Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. on
2 September, 2019. Mr. Zhou graduated from Dalian Maritime
University in 2003 with a bachelor’s degree in management and has
been a part-time graduate student in finance at Peking University
School of Economics since 2017. Mr. Zhou has 17 years of extensive
experience in the international logistics industry, ship management,
ship leasing, and engineering logistics. He has years of experience
from China’s largest integrated logistics group companies with
broad overseas work experience.

Mr. Dong LU, aged 53, has been General Manager of the Northwest
Region and Country Manager of Pakistan and Kazakhstan of
Frontier Service Group since September 2020. Mr. Lu has rich
experience in diplomacy, United Nations peacekeeping missions,
international trade, export control & ICP, public relations, overseas
investment management, and overseas security in countries and
regions such as Northern Europe, West Asia, North Africa, West
Africa, North America, Central Asia, Central America and Hong
Kong SAR. Mr. Lu has in recent years emerged as renowned
expert on Overseas Security, drafting and/or compilating national
security-related regulations such as MOFCOM’s “Handbook for the
Safety Management of Overseas Chinese-funded Enterprises &
Institutions and Personnel” , MOFCOM’s “Guidelines for Terrorism
Threat Prevention Measures for Foreign Assistance Projects”; MPS’
“Guidelines for Overseas Business Services of Security Enterprises”
and “Safety Training Guide for Enterprises’ Overseas Personnel
(2019 Edition). Meanwhile Mr. Lu is a media darling on the overseas
security industry in China for years, speaking on behalf of Chinese
PSC at various international events such as “Lianyungang Forum”
and “ICoCA Beijing Forum”. He has received an exclusive interview
by CGTN.
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Ms. Dong Haiyan, aged 49, General Manager of Business
Development Department, responsible for daily management of
the department and in charge of major projects development and
management of Group’s Middle East and North Africa Region and
Northwest region. Ms. Dong graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies
University with Bachelor of Arts. She has long been engaged in
international engineering and international trade. She has been
working in Iraq, Syria, Egypt and other countries for over ten years.
Ms. Dong has participated in development, negotiation, contracting
and implementation of several overseas significant engineering
projects, technology and service trade projects. She pays attention
to the study of the national conditions of West Asia and North Africa
countries, authors “Into Egypt” and others.

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, aged 47, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since 2006. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from the
University of British Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor Degree
in Commerce and holds a certificate of Certified Public Accountant
issued by the Washington State Board of Accountancy in the United
States. He has extensive experience in accounting and corporate
finance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Frontier Services Group Limited (the
“Company”) are investment holding and management. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year by operating segments is set out in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 82.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any dividend (2019: Nil) for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
Annual Report. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are provided in the paragraph below.

Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this Annual Report. The discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks, including factors that
are unique to the Group and the markets in which it operates, in
addition to those risks that are shared by most other businesses.
The Group has implemented a risk management and internal control
framework to identify current and foreseeable risks at different levels
of the Group in order to monitor and mitigate their adverse impacts.
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The following discussion highlights the risks that are believed
to be most germane to the Group at this time. Any or all of the
Group’s business, financial status, operations, personnel, and
outlook may be adversely or, potentially, materially affected by the
identified risks. The scope of the risks influencing the Group may
exceed those presented herein, so the following is not intended
to be comprehensive. Rather, the list of risks may include in the
future unknown matters that ultimately have an impact, material or
otherwise, on the Group.

Geopolitical Environment — The Group’s core business is the
provision of logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure services
to customers operating across the Belt and Road region from South
East Asia to Africa. The Group’s target geographies include many
of the world’s emerging markets. However, the orderly transition
of elected leadership, especially within less developed countries,
has been challenged at times, creating localised political risk.
In addition, regional pockets of terrorism, often directed toward
governments and related agencies, can compound the geopolitical
risk inherent. Therefore, diversification, across end-markets,
service capabilities and operating locations, is the cornerstone of
the Group’s process to mitigate geopolitical risk. Like the military
coup happened in Myanmar recently, this resulted in many foreign
investors cancelled or aborted their investments there. Prolonged
delay on projects are expected. This will indirectly affect the
development of the Group’s businesses there. Fortunately, the
Group’s investment in Myanmar is very minimum.

Economic Environment — The Group employs a strategy of
diversification to hedge against cyclical downturns in geographic
regions and specific end-markets. Nevertheless, the Group’s
regional markets, writ large, have been and will continue to be
affected by commodity prices and balance-of-trade issues.

Compliance — Similar to the intrinsic geopolitical risk arising from
operating in Africa, corruption is found in fast-growing markets. The
Group rigorously adheres to all applicable anti-bribery statues of
various jurisdictions and offers a thorough anti-corruption training
program to all of its staff members to reduce the risk of corruption
to the business.

Aviation — The Group has invested considerable resources into the
development of its aviation capabilities. The global aviation market
carries numerous inherent risks, from the safe operation of aircraft
to the evolution of local regulatory policies. The Group follows all
policies and procedures to ensure that its aviation operations are
fully compliant with the relevant civil aviation authority and that it
operates its fleet in the safest and most reliable manner.
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Competition — The Group has endeavoured to be the first business
to bring a complete logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure
service solution to Belt and Road markets. Within its primary aviation
and logistics segment — air and ground — the Group faces strong
competition from existing vendors specialising in one or more of the
Group’s lines of service. The Group continually adapts its tactical
response to the ever-changing competitive landscape across its
target markets. Combining security services with logistics, aviation,
insurance and infrastructure offerings is a huge market differentiator.

Global Operations — The Group, headquartered in Hong Kong, now
conducts operations in three continents, Asia, Africa and Europe. As
a result, considerable ongoing coordination is required to manage
the business in the most effective manner across multiple time
zones and numerous geographies.

Financial — The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and
conducts business in multiple foreign currencies. As such, the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks and even exchange
control. The Group monitors its cash position and overall near— and
medium-term liquidity on a weekly basis, and makes all necessary
adjustments to ensure that the business has a functioning capital
structure.

Strategy — The Group is fully committed to its strategic
development of an integrated logistics, security, insurance and
infrastructure service offering. The execution of this vision requires
great coordination among the Group’s operating businesses, in
addition to the cooperation of other potential partners. Further,
the fulfillment of the Group’s strategy may require the addition of
new geographic or service capabilities, either through greenfield
investment or corporate acquisition. While the Group proactively
plans for these potential requirements, there are no assurances that
the required investment opportunities will exist in the future.

Personnel — The Group’s success is ultimately determined by its
dedicated staff, and the ability to grow the business is predicated
on the Group’s ability to recruit, train, and retain highly qualified
personnel who share a passion for the corporate vision. The loss
of any key staff member or a failure to attract new personnel could
have a negative and potentially material effect on the Group and its
prospects.
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Highly Regulated Business — The Group is subject to a number
of national and local regulatory bodies by virtue of its global
operations. Failure to comply with any one of the applicable
regulatory regimes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. Consequently, the Group expends substantial resources
ensuring its businesses operate in a fully compliant manner, often
with the assistance of third-party service providers who specialise in
such matters.

Sanction Risks — The Group is subject to sanction risks imposed
by various bodies by virtue of its global business in frontier
markets. These sanction risks might impose restrictions to the
Group’s business and might have an adverse impact on the
Group’s operation. The Group has put in place various measures,
including but not limited to seeking external legal counsel’s advice
and establishing a risk committee, to ensure these sanction risks
would not have a material impact on the Group’s operation. The
Risk Committee of the Company has adopted a sanction policy and
terms of reference.

In 2020, the world economy had been hampered by outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic and there was no exception to the Group’s
operation worldwide, except for the aviation business in Kenya and
the security business in the DRC which had reported a significant
improvement in revenue and operating result. Other than that, the
Group had been relatively sluggish or even came to a standstill in
pursuing and/or developing its projects in Laos, Cambodia, Nigeria,
Myanmar and the DRC during 2020. Nevertheless, the Group will
continue to monitor and assess its operations and/or business
activities in the countries where the Group may expose to sanction
risks.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE
AWARD

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
share award of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in Notes 28, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December
2020, which solely comprised contributed surplus, amounted to
HK$558,899,000 (2019: HK$558,899,000). Details of the movements
in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$318,000 (2019: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
Laws, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In
proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

. retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed
surplus of the Company and each of the other members of the
Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends or other convenants
on the Group’s financial ratios that may be imposed by the
Group’s financial creditors;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general business conditions and strategies;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests and shareholders’ equity of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 204 of the Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2020. Neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report are:
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chang Zhenming (“Mr. Chang”)

Mr. Zhang Yichen (“Mr. Zhang”)
(appointed on 24 March 2020 and
resigned on 28 February 2021)

Mr. Fei Yiping (“Mr. Fei”)
(appointed on 24 March 2020)

Mr. Chan Kai Kong (“Mr. Chan”)
(appointed on 28 February 2021)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Erik D. Prince (“Mr. Prince”)

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (“Mr. Ko”)
Mr. Luo Ning (“Mr. Luo”)

Dr. Hua Dongyi (“Dr. Hua”)
(resigned on 10 March 2021)

Mr. Hu Qinggang (“Mr. Hu")
(resigned on 24 March 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (“Mr. Yap”)

Professor Lee Hau Leung (“Professor Lee”)
(resigned on 29 July 2020)

Dr. Harold O. Demuren (“Dr. Demuren”)

Mr. Cui Liguo (“Mr. Cui”)
(appointed on 21 August 2020)

Mr. Hooi Hing Lee (“Mr. Hooi")
(appointed on 28 October 2020)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Chang, Mr. Ko,
Dr. Demuren, Mr. Chan, Mr. Cui and Mr. Hooi will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors and considers them
to be independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the statues,
every director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out and maintained
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending
any proceedings which may be brought against the directors of the
Company. The level of coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme and the share award scheme
of the Company as set out in Notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively and the preference shares
issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, there were no other equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted as at 31 December
2020.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 51 to 60 of the
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
its associated corporations, as defined in Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAQATRGOREERP ZHFRE
Company
Number of
underlying % of
shares held the issued
Number of ordinary shares held iigETiEl share
FELEREE RBEE capital of
Personal Family Corporate Personal the
Name of director interests interests interests Total interests Grand total Company
EERARERT
Espg BAES 435 AEER @t BAER @t REABAL
Mr. Prince 170,668,657 — — 170,668,657 — 170,668,657 7.28%
Prince L4
Mr. Ko — 2,040,816 268,776,719 270,817,535 — 270,817,535 11.55%
mEAE (Note (i) (Note (ii))
(hii () (Mgt (i)
Dr. Demuren 1,400,000 — — 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.06%
Demuren &t
Notes: /;ﬁ?f .
(i) These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ko. (i) ZEROBREEZREBIEE ©
(i) This represents: (i)  ZBTE:

70

(a)

(b)

(c)

the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 48,276,719 ordinary
shares of the Company held by First Gain International Limited
under the SFO by virtue of his interests in First Gain International
Limited;

the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 175,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited;
and

the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 45,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Greater Harmony Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Greater Harmony Limited.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2020, none of the
directors had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations which had been recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above
and in the share options disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2020, other than the interests and short positions of
the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the
section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, the following interests of 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAQATRGOREERP ZHFRE
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held B
g BERYE ROEE % of the
Direct Through Through issued share
beneficially controlled controlled capital of the
Name owned  corporations Total  corporations Grand total Company
RN
BRTRA
% EEREHE  BBEIZEANR @y EBRIEAR st BAl
Easy Flow Investments Limited 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
BHREBRAA
CITIC Investment (HK) Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REREER(EE)BRAR (Note (i)
(Hte))
CITIC Corporation Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REHEERAA (Note (ii))
(Fizt ()
CITIC Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REFREROERRA (Note (iii))
(Fizt (i)
CITIC Group Corporation — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
HETEEEERAR (Note (iv))
(B3 (iv))
Taiping Trustees Limited 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
AP EEBRAR
Taiping Financial Holdings Company — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Limited (Note (v))
ATeRERERAR (Hizt(v)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Company Limited (Note (vi))
FERTRBERERDA (Fzt(vi)
Trinity Gate Limited 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
Timeness Vision Limited — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
(Note (vii))
(W32 (vii))
Teng Rongsong — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
F 3N (Note (viii))
(B (viii))
Rich Hill Capital Limited 175,500,000 - 175,500,000 — 175,500,000 7.48%
(Note (ix))
(Hi# (ix))
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(i)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Save

CITIC Investment (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in Easy
Flow Investments Limited.

CITIC Corporation Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Investment (HK) Limited.

CITIC Limited is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited under
the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Corporation Limited.

CITIC Group Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607
ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited
under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Limited. Mr. Luo Ning,
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Company, is an
employee of CITIC Group Corporation.

Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held
by Taiping Trustees Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in
Taiping Trustees Limited.

China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares held by Taiping Trustees
Limited by virtue of its interests in Taiping Financial Holdings Company
Limited.

Timeness Vision Limited is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares of the Company held by Trinity Gate Limited under the
SFO by virtue of its interests in Trinity Gate Limited.

Mr. Teng Rongsong is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares held by Trinity Gate Limited by virtue of its interests in
Timeness Vision Limited.

Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the 175,500,000 shares of the
Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under the SFO by virtue
of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited. Such interest forms a
part of the corporate interests in the ordinary shares of the Company
interested by Mr. Ko as set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above. Mr. Ko is a director of Rich Hill Capital Limited.

as disclosed above, at 31 December 2020, no other person

(other than the directors or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above) had registered an interest or short position in the shares or

under

lying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

(i) BEEFHFRBAEGRD - ARPERETR(EA)A
RARBERBIREGRAT 2 - MR IERE
BRI EBRAAFFA A QEF 607,592,607 &
L s o

(i) WEFHFRBAEKRS  ARPEPEERIFFAE
FEEREEE(EB)BRARZIER - BE
BRI EBRAAFA 2 AREF 607,592,607 &
Lk R o

(i) WEFHFRAEGKRD - ARPEREROBRAAE
REFBRPEERARZER MW EEEERY
REBRAREFE ZARQF 607,592,607 f% & i
2 e

(iv) BEFHFRAEKRS  ARPEPEEEFRAA
BEPEPEROBRARZER - MW EEES
BEREBRAFRFE 22 E607,592,607 I8 E
Bz c ARRIZBIERERANITEFRELE
BPEPEEEBRARZES -

(v) BEEFHFRBAEEN  ARAFERIZERERAR
BAEATERARARZER  MERIEEEAT
{Z5E B R AR A 2 A2/ 160,000,000 f% & i i
i o

(viy BEBEFEHFRBEEN - ARPERKFRBIERAR
ARAFAERTFEMIERER AR ZER - BRRE
A K FIEEAR A FEH 2 A2 F 160,000,000
fRE AR 2 s o

(vii)  IRIEFEHLHEEA - B Timeness Vision Limited
5B Trinity Gate Limited 2 # % - R IEHRA
Trinity Gate Limited #5852 A2 175,399,571 §%
TR 2 s e

(viip BEEHFRBEGKO BRBEREERE
Timeness Vision Limited 2 #x © SR 1EHE
Trinity Gate Limited #5482 A2 7] 175,399,571 %
AR 2 W o

(ix) REBEFHFRBEGEG - ARG EERERch Hil
Capital Limited Z # % - MR E%E A Rich Hill
Capital Limited # & 2 175,500,000 % 4~ A &) &%
Mz ZEEREX X EERAQARE
EEEE RO RAEARGO 2 EERAR &R
I 2B AERAARREBR 2 REl#Em 2 — 3
5 o B4 ARich Hill Capital Limited 2 &% -
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 37% (2019: 46%) of the total sales
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 13% (2019:
26%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 15% (2019: 12%) of the total purchases for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 4% (2019: 6%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, the directors confirmed that
the Company has maintained at least 25% public float during the
year as required under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
have any material events occurred other than those disclosed in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson

Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BED | EH
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FRONTIER SERVICES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”’) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 82 to 203, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with

the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement,

were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to
impairment assessment of intangible assets, property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets.

Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of
intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-
use assets of the Aviation and
Logistics Business segment (“AL
Business Segment”)

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements), Note
13 (Property, plant and equipment),
Note 14 (Leases) and Note 15
(Goodwill and other intangibles) to
the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2020, the
Group’s AL Business Segment owned
intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use
assets before impairment amounted
to HK$6,225,000, HK$62,882,000
and HK$130,389,000, respectively.
These assets require an impairment
assessment if an impairment indicator
is identified.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management's impairment
assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the AL Business
Segment included the following:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and
impairment assessment process of
intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.
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Key Audit Matter

The AL Business Segment has
been loss making since 2013 and
recorded an operating loss of
HK$59,090,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020. This represented an
impairment indicator for the relevant
intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

Management performed an
impairment assessment in respect
of the intangible assets of each AL
Business Segment related Cash
Generating Unit (“CGU") using the
value-in-use method which involved
significant judgement in determining
the assumptions used in the
calculations. The key assumptions
include:

o annual growth rate;
o long-term growth rate; and
o discount rate.

In relation to the impairment
assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in
each AL Business Segment related
CGU, management determined the
recoverable amounts as the higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs
of disposal, which was calculated
by benchmarking against the price
quotation of a comparable model
in the second-hand market or price
quotation provided by independent
buyer.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

We evaluated and challenged the
composition of management’s
future cash flow forecasts used in
their value-in-use calculations, and
the process by which they were
prepared.

We compared the current year actual
results with the amounts included in
the prior year cash flow forecast to
consider the quality of management’s
forecasting, and we checked that
management had considered the
current year actual results in the
preparation of this year’'s forecasts.
We also inquired of management
to understand the reasons for the
deviation of the actual results for the
current year from prior year forecast,
comparing the explanations to our
market knowledge and expectations,
and checked that the relevant factors
had been taken into account in this
year’s forecasts.

The procedures we performed over
management’s key assumptions used
in the cash flow forecasts included:

o comparing annual growth rate
to historical actual figures;

o benchmarking the long-term
growth rate against industry
forecasts; and

o benchmarking the discount
rate against our research
on the discount rate for
comparable companies.

We evaluated sensitivity analysis
performed by management around
the key assumptions by calculating
the degree to which these
assumptions would need to change
to trigger further material impairment.
We determined that the calculation
was most sensitive to the growth
rates and discount rate assumptions,
and we discussed and challenged
management’s view on the likelihood
of such a change in the growth rates
and discount rate.
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Key Audit Matter

No provision for impairment on
intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
was considered necessary as at 31
December 2020.

We focused on the impairment
assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of the AL
Business because the estimation
of recoverable amounts of the
CGUs is subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the impairment
assessment is considered significant
due to significant judgements
involved in assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use as well as
the judgement required to identify
suitable market comparable data to
determine the fair value less costs
of disposal of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

In relation to the fair value less
costs of disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets, we checked, on a
sample basis, the market price
quotations for comparable property,
plant and equipment or the price
quotations from potential buyer of
certain dismantled parts identified
by management to the relevant
source. We also compared, on a
sample basis, the key specifications,
including the model, year of
manufacture, equipment and
modifications of the comparable
property, plant and equipment with
those owned by the Group to assess
the suitability of the comparison.
We also performed our own internet
search, on a sample basis, on the fair
value less costs of disposal of similar
property, plant and equipment.

We assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures related to the impairment
assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets in the context of
the applicable financial reporting
framework.

We also considered whether the
judgements made in selecting the
methods, assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use and
market comparable data used to
determine the fair value less costs
of disposal of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
would give rise to indicators of
possible management bias.

Based on the procedures performed,
we considered that the risk
assessment of impairment
assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets remained
appropriate and the methods,
assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use and
market comparable data used in
the impairment assessment were
supported by the available evidence.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

BRETEE

BRERA BHEZTZ
BE+-A=+-HI#E
EREREREE - D
X KBERZEARER
EREHTRERE -

ZMBEIRMERDRE
BABMETEE  #
7 B Rk e A R
REAEMRENE ER
AR EELEM AR
OERX R EETEE
WHEE - ARREFG
HEERBREAERX T
MRt E A EERRA
HREREE T 5 LHE
EULREBUEEY
X BERREARRER
BEENDABERLE
zg%%mﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬁ
\/lﬂ o

BANESNTEERRE
HE2

BME - BERREARLE
REEENDABERME
KAME  BAMEEERE
FrREE R R LB - a8
RBRBODHRERE TR
R EEE T RER
1RRARIR © HATF L&
ALEME - #ERRER
BEEEMBRENTIRRR
(BRERE £EFR R
8 R 8 30 WA RT £ 1L 0B 38
21 - RAAG AL
EHEASRUNE - #&
$%ﬁ%@ﬁ@@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

AMFHEREVEE W
% BERREARERE
EEMRETHEBNRE
%%%Mﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%
BRE °

RPINEERREDE - &
EEREERMAERNRSR
EREENE - BB REMHE
AR SEREEENRFER
HERAR RN M5 L
EEMELNHEHET
;ﬁ@@ﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ%%%

ERMARTORR - RFAR
REBVEE X #:

RENLEREBENR
{ERHEATETTE R R
BEE MR ERAER
FriE R R R ERF A
Eikale Il g ¢ AL -]
B



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

M % B8R R B

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z_FBE+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BoERF —T-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Kot FET FET
Revenue from contracts with REEP &K Z WA
customers 6 605,246 725,920
Cost of direct materials and job EEMBERRIERX
expenses (152,467) (200,120)
Cost of aircraft management services i & AR 755k 2 (81,520) (97,689)
Data costs EIEEIDEIN (5,907) (5,999)
Employee benefit expenses EERFFZ 7 (238,984) (240,896)
Sub-contracting charges SBEEAR (166,942) (268,622)
Rental expenses HEe B8R 10 (12,692) (17,606)
Repair and maintenance costs HERREER (21,694) (17,759)
Depreciation and amortisation e REEE 10, 13, 14 & 15 (53,569) (56,460)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries B A R 2 EE 34 (486)
Other income and other gains, net E AU R oAb W 5 5 R 10 4,263 6,947
Other operating expenses HinEEER 10 (72,105) (118,323)
Provision for impairment of property, #3 - #3223 K %% A K 35
plant and equipment and assets EHEEE ZRERE
held-for-sale 13 — (64,509)
Impairment losses on financial assets & @& &= < 5 EE 12 21 & 22 (14,266) (14,286)
Operating loss HiEEE (211,123) (369,402)
Interest income B U A 3,702 12,045
Finance costs BEE AR 8 (19,485) (10,360)
Share of losses of associates and a V{EH?M” —Ra¥
joint venture, net TJEETE@%E 17 (2,478) (3,760)
Provision for impairment of interest in MN—XEE QA A 2
an associate RERE 17 (8,693) —
Loss before income tax B BT 5 75 Al &5 18 (238,077) (371,477)
Income tax credit FrigHiiE e 9 9,491 14,730
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBE 10 (228,586) (356,747)
Attributable to: LA A
Equity holders of the Company RATREREE A 32 (228,029) (354,793)
Non-controlling interests IR 2 (557) (1,954)
(228,586) (356,747)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE XA GREFEA
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EiEERER
COMPANY
Basic and diluted loss per share BIREARREEEE 11 (9.72) centsl (15.13) centsfll
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHE

mEEZEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_HA=1+—HILEE

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFE (228,586) (356,747)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hmikes (EE)
Items that have been reclassified or may EEFHBERIREELEF D
be subsequently reclassified to profit or EEBEm2EE
loss
Foreign exchange differences IE W =58 3,275 (3,330)
Release of exchange reserve upon ST BB A A R Bl R
disposal of subsidiaries (E] 1,591 =
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the FEEMEEUZE(EE)
year, net of tax (BrTi12) 4,866 (3,330)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FEZMHEEAKE
YEAR (223,720) (360,077)
Attributable to: AT FEAG -
Equity holders of the Company RAFIREREE A (223,141) (358,039)
Non-controlling interests R 2 (579) (2,038)
(223,720) (360,077)
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a B AR R &

As at 31 December 2020
RZZT_FF+=—A=1+—H

2020 2019
—EZEF —ZE—NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HieE FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HEE MRS 13 75,929 85,987
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 144,421 157,205
Goodwill and other intangibles AmERAMERLEE 15 7,646 14,407
Interests in associates REEE N T 2 fEZE 17(a) 39,401 53,885
Interest in a joint venture REERT Z R 17(d) 983 —
Deferred income tax assets BEFSIHREE 18 17,635 9,380
Non-current prepayments FEBNER TR R 19 54,917 54,156
Financial assets at fair value through &2 EEE B E M2 mE WS
other comprehensive income SRR e RLEE 4 4
Total non-current assets ERBEEAE 340,936 375,024
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 20 3,216 5,183
Trade and bills receivables B S RIE kR ER 21 155,460 251,587
Prepayments, deposits and other BRR - Ee2 Rk
receivables =l g 22 110,485 118,584
Tax receivables FE AR IE 1,041 1,307
Restricted cash ZR IR & 23 — 7,090
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITER 23 — 104,936
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEFEY 23 318,681 353,503
588,883 842,190
Assets held-for-sale FIEHEEE 31 10,099 6,209
Total current assets mEBEERE 598,982 848,399
Total assets BEMAE 939,918 1,223,423
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEME
Trade payables B S RIE 24 60,223 81,305
Other payables and accruals o fth &< 5RIE R B R E F 25 91,012 138,116
Contract liabilities aHAaE 6(b) 4,725 10,888
Borrowings B 26 18,443 4,612
Lease liabilities HEEE 14 54,584 63,397
Tax payables FEfTFRIE 103 883
Total current liabilities MBI B ERRE 229,090 299,101
Net current assets mEEEFE 369,892 549,298
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

nv_\ é E\ZI- i% ;‘ﬁ 3R! %
As at 31 December 2020
R-ZZE_ZF+_A=+—H

2020 2019
—g=%F —=-hE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HieE FET FET
Total assets less current liabilities BEREBERTDEE 710,828 924,322
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 14 51,436 48,267
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFBHRAE 18 32,708 32,442
Total non-current liabilities SEmBI B ERRE 84,144 80,709
Total liabilities BEEE 313,234 379,810
Net assets BEFE 626,684 843,613
EQUITY E=
Equity attributable to the Company’s A2 RIIREREH AFENL
equity holders s
Share capital & A 28 234,482 234,482
Reserves G 32 274,184 484,256
508,666 718,738
Non-controlling interests SEfE IR HE 33 118,018 124,875
Total equity RS 626,684 843,613
The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 203 were FS2BEEFE23EMGABBREROHETS
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2021 and were A—E-——F=-A=4+H#tZ REEESH
signed on its behalf. 2,

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson

= R IE
Director
EZE

Luo Ning
E=
Director
£

Annual Report 2020 4 R}

85



REREZBBXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_F=1+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARREERAAER
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total equity
i it ek SRR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT TAT TET FE
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-hr%-A-H 234,482 830,126 1,064,608 126,913 1,191,521
Loss for the year FEEE = (354,793) (354,793) (1,954) (356,747)
Other comprehensive loss HthZEEE
Foreign exchange differences ERERE — (3,246) (3,246) (84) (3,330)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FEEMZERE
net of tax (BH%) - (3,246) (3,246) (84) (3,330)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREFRRER — (358,039) (358,039) (2,038) (360,077)
Transactions with equity holders HEEREAZRS
Share-based compensation IBRAS 2 iE — 12,169 12,169 — 12,169
— 12,169 12,169 — 12,169
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZA=1-H 234,482 484,256 718,738 124,875 843,613
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES |
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—_Z_FBE+_A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAFREHAAES
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves interests  Total equity
e R FERER R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A7 A7 FEr TEx TEx
At 1 January 2020 R=Z-Z5-f-H 234,482 484,256 718,738 124,875 843,613
Loss for the year FEHE - (228,029) (228,029) (557) (228,586)
Other comprehensive income/(Ioss) HhzEkE/ (BR)
Foreign exchange differences ERER - 3,297 3,297 (22) 3,275
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal HENBARRREE
of subsidiaries (Note 34) fEE(HE34) - 1,591 1,591 - 1,591
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the EEHMREKE/
year, net of tax (BR)(BHiE) - 4,888 4,888 (22) 4,866
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEAAEBRES - (223,141) (223,141) (579) (223,720)
Transactions with equity holders HERHEAZRS
Share-based compensation BB 2B - 6,106 6,106 - 6,106
Disposal of subsidiaries (Notes 32(v) and 34) HEHBAR
(Wit 32(v)#134) - 6,963 6,963 - 6,963
Capital injection from non-controlling interest RE—FMBAAFER
of a subsidiary ERMTE - - - 45 45
Derecognition of non-controlling interests LERBA RERERER
upon disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) eV R (772 34) - - — (6,323) (6,323)
- 13,069 13,069 (6,278) 6,791
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZE+-fA=t-8 234,482 274,184 508,666 118,018 626,684
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS:

nv_\éfﬁ.,ﬁﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—_Z_ZTF+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BoERF —ENEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M et FAET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RE&ZZESH 2
ACTIVITIES HeRE
Cash used in operations EEBEMACRE 35 (158,774) (276,894)
Income tax (paid)/refund (B BEREH (333) 163
Net cash used in operating activities &&&EEFTH 2R EFE (159,107) (276,731)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREETH 2
ACTIVITIES HeRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWZE M REE
equipment ife] (14,801) (20,329)
Purchase of intangibles BEENEE 15 — (171)
Proceeds from disposal of property, &M « #ENE
plant and equipment Fri§ 518 35(i) 356 6,442
Proceeds from disposal of assets HERELEEEMSHRIA
held-for-sale 6,182 —
Proceeds from disposal of o5 BT /B 28 DR S R ERUE
subsidiaries, net of cash and BRORE KRB CEEY
cash equivalents derecognised at Fri§ 518
disposal 34 1,634 ==
Capital contribution to an associate  E—RKEZAFTEE 17(a) — (89,177)
Loan to an associate m—XEE D RIREER (2,926) (1,904)
Capital contribution to a joint venture [H—XA&ZLAFEE 17(d) (2,236) —
Increase in amount due from an JE W — SR Bt & A R SRIEE N
associate (847) (5,406)
Increase in amount due to an JE A~ — SR Bt & A R 5RIEIE N
associate 38,804 —
Interest received BUAE 12,997 10,164
Proceeds from redemption of BRRAREBEER
financial assets at fair value Hih 2 EWE=TIRZ
through other comprehensive SRVEE Z FTSIE
income —_ 20
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFEBRE(FTR)Z
investing activities REFE 39,163 (50,361)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

nv_\ | Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—_Z_FBE+_A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M et FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING XEBETE =2
ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest paid BEAFLE (18,720) (8,300)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B IFRTT1F 2R 105,768 45,794
Decrease in restricted cash 2R IR &R 7,090 —
Capital contribution from non- e\ =YNGIP e 2
controlling interest of a subsidiary AE 33 45 —
Repayment of other loan BEAMER (134) (88)
Net drawdown of bank loans and RERITERRINRZE
bank advances for discounted bills  SRITEAFUFEE 14,421 4,083
Repayment of principal elements of (EEHE&EBEZAEIHBMH
lease liabilities (26,668) (87,157)
Net cash generated from financing BMEEBEZ
activities ReFE 81,802 4,332
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEBEY 2R
CASH EQUIVALENTS REE (38,142) (322,760)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzREREEEZED
beginning of the year 353,503 677,811
Exchange differences FEHZERE 3,320 (1,548)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HS#&ZBEeRESZEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 23 318,681 353,503
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r 5 B SRR M A

GENERAL INFORMATION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Suite 3902, 39th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and the
provision of online financial market information. The Company
is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 30 March 2021.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for (i) certain
financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at
fair value and (ii) the assets held-for-sale which are
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The preparation
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note
4.

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
following new standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation for the first time for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2020:

Amendments to Definition of a Business

HKFRS 3

Conceptual Revised Conceptual
Framework Framework for Financial
for Financial Reporting

Reporting 2018
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 39, HKFRS
7 and HKFRS 9

Definition of Material

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 1

The adoption of these amendments does not have any
material impact on the Group’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

2 EEFHEBE@)

2.1

BB (F)

AU BRRORELKAEER
o MEORAAEBEIGNE TS
MEERBBR(EIABERDL
EXRAFAENFELEEERI -
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MBEBRRFEERE THRE MG
g NTREEEEERALAKES
SRR ZBREF LA - P RA
EHEZ HE K EEM 8 X
BREGEFHEAVBHREM S B
ERZHBNME4HE -

AT~ AT RAECETE B BHE
BER
AEECRAFERR-_ZT_ZF
—RA— Bt e HEERRA A
THBEMETER - ERERTRERRE

BEMBREEN  EHER
F 3R 2B

“EN\ERBR  REITHBREHSER
EHSIER

EBEEAE
FRESRHE
BIEe 2 3T

EBEIRERIZ 0
% - EEHBR
ERABTHR
Ebpinse
BIEOR 3T

RARSETETRYARERE

—T-TH+-_A=t-AL=EE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

(continued)

The following new and amended standards have been
issued, but are not effective for the Group’s accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2020 and have not been

adopted early:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB BRELERNE 165 2EFT

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS
4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 16

BERGFTERE 395 - BEMBER
HERE 45 - BN BRE LR
BT BEFBRELERE IR
RBEBVEREENE 165 21E
I

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB B ELERIE 35 2 EFT

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020
EAVBREEN - N\FE-_ZT
—TFER FENE

Amendments to HKAS 16

BB EAFE 165 2185
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB ERE 37 5k ZER]

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5

BFHEBIE 53R 2 EFT

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RISEE AR A

TEEHBERBE )

21 wBEEE)

AT~ AT RIS E B BHE

BRIz E(E)

BRA -

COVID-19 Related Rent Concession
FrAE AR SR AR 2R R

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

MEEERE — F

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BESIEZR Z fR

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
16 and HKAS 41

BEMBRELDNE 1% - BEFRELDNE9
5% - BERMBHREERE 16 KRB
F 412 1EF]

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

M - ISR RE - ERE RE R 2 TSR

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

BEMEH — BITEHZKAR

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations

HKREH A2 EHETHE

al

O T RIS AT R RIS A - 1
BARARER T -BF— 5 —
ARt 2 B AR R YRR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

REULT B8

N2 EERZ

S HEEXR

1 June 2020
e AV =

1 January 2021

T —F—A—H

1 January 2022
- _%—H—H
1 January 2022

T —F—A—H

1 January 2022

- _%—H—H
1 January 2022

- _F—H—H
1 January 2022

— T —F—A—H
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHHEHSES)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mBEEE)
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs AT » 16T RAENEFTEBHBHRE
(continued) R & (E)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKFRS 17 and Amendments to
HKFRS 17

BB RELRNEAT7 R REEHS
R ELERFE T 5% 2185]

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEGERIE R ZERT
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BRERBESRZEF]

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

EEMBRELNE10HRREER
TR 28 9% Z (& 5]

The Group will adopt the above new or revised
standards as and when they become effective.
Management has performed preliminary assessment
and does not anticipate any significant impact on the
Group'’s financial position and results of operations upon

adopting these standards.

Insurance Contracts

KB & 4

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

BEESRRRBNIERE

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

ERAHSHAERERKERERZERER 2 DHE

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BEERABMENRNEERRICHAZEELE
FEE

A R BR A 5%

R B H
R2EEHRZ

B HBEN

1 January 2023
—E=%—H—H
1 January 2023
—E=%—H—H
1 January 2023
—E=%—H—H
To be determined

frEE

AEE KR LR REERTER
SRR ERECDHE
TME G BFRBRAZEER
TEHAEB BRI R EEE
BEEERMER

B4R
& o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see (d)
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”,
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially
being recognised at cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in the consolidated income statement,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

2

FTEEHBRBE®)

2.2

RERERARESEE(E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BERF

BEAREAKEHEFEX
FE B EAE I S AR
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R AR ©
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESHHEHMES)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting 22 HFERBRAIREZENEE)

(continued)

(d) Equity method (continued) (d) #z=*(E)
Unrealised gains on transactions between the REBBEEBERNRZHAR S
Group and its associates are eliminated to the ZAEBRWSEAEBRZE
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. B BN BRIEXIHE
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the THEEEEARETR
transaction provides evidence of an impairment BRIREREEIN T AE S o
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of R A ARMBEED
equity-accounted investees have been changed Al Z @RTBURB RS ZEH
where necessary to ensure consistency with the B UBERERNEEFEAZK
policies adopted by the Group. REE—H -
The carrying amount of equity-accounted AR ERAARMNIEE 2R
investments is tested for impairment in accordance HEEERIEH&E2.10 Aril 2 B
with the policy described in Note 2.10. RIEBERR °

(e) Changes in ownership interests (e) FEREZZE
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling REBBIBERAESREZ
interests that do not result in a loss of control as HEERERRZRIEARER
transactions with equity owners of the Group. oA AN S o FTEEE
A change in ownership interest results in an o B B M BB Y AR B FE R AR
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the EmZ REEELARE UK
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect Mg E R BB A E 28 H
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any M o JEPE IR P SR
difference between the amount of the adjustment FEEHEMKBEWRREZEZE
to non-controlling interests and any consideration I ZFRA QR A AE(LE
paid or received is recognised in a separate mHPRE S R RTER o
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred;

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement as a bargain
purchase.

2 EEFHEBE@)

2.3
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Business Combinations (continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker of the Group. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the
Board of Directors of the Company that makes strategic
decisions.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “finance costs”. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within “other
operating expenses”.

Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified
as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), are included in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEEHBERBE )

2.6 IEER(E)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of

(c)

FEA A

Pt 45 91 B 85 B 51 B 5 T )
PE T Y 3 F
BB W) 2 R A
IR RIR I T 7R E AR
s

(i) FMEBZEHBIRREK

financial position presented are translated at Nz BEMBEES®
the closing rate at the end of each reporting EHEHI Rz W E X
period; (=

(i)  Income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rate (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iiiy ~ All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the foreign exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated foreign
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
the consolidated income statement. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated foreign exchange differences
is reclassified to the consolidated income
statement.

Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, which
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, is provided at the following annual rates:

Leasehold Over the shorter of the term
improvements of the lease (45 years
commencing 2004) and
the estimated useful life
Hangars 40 years
Aircraft and aviation 10 to 20 years
equipment
Plant, machinery and 2.6 to 10 years
tooling
Trucks, trailers and 5to 12.5 years
containers
Motor vehicles 5 to 5.5 years
Office equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other income and other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Intangibles

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

102 Frontier Services Group Limited s ZARTEE=BE AR A 7

2 EETHEBE@)

2.7

2.8

I BBERRE(E)

REAGE A ERF A E R K
AP BEHFGEERTEZY
¥ BERREBITMERTINEE
AHEERME

HEWHEEE ZREEFH(E=ZT
TF T 45F)
RAEa eI fE A E
(ARG EBE)
e 40 F
TR K2 i 22 10 £ 204F
B

HEES M 2.6E= 104
ETHA

HE s 5E 1254
REERE

"B 5& 554

YN 3E8HE

FEMREE 4FEQE

EEBRSHPREEEZNREER
AERFRETRY  REEER
HE  FEEZREESNEME
A E e E AR EE S B HUR
ER B (HFE2.10) ©

HEME HBERRBZABTIL
BMERAEREEMEE - XN
RARERNER R EMRARE
b Y =5 | o

WEMNBRANEEFTAELE
E-BELTHE HEEFETR
BRI XEASHHRNERK
SRR F e BRBER - (FLE A
ZRAH > WRKARREHREER
Sk HEERMKBENERERE
HETHEEREROREREE -



2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Intangibles (continued)

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose. The
units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

Other intangibles with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangibles with
indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Amortisation of other intangibles, which is calculated
using straight-line method to allocate their costs over
their estimated useful lives, is provided at the following
basis:

Over the estimated useful
lives of 9 — 15 years

Over the non-compete
periods of 4 — 6 years

Operating certificates
and trademark

Non-compete
agreements

Management reviews the expected useful live at the end
of each reporting period based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received
by the Group and takes into account the level of future
competition, the risk of technological or functional
obsolescence of the assets, and the expected changes
in the market.

Other intangibles are derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of other intangibles are measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets and are recognised as
“other income and other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement in the period when the assets are
derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Non-Current Prepayments

Prepayments for engine overhaul and maintenance costs
of aircraft are recorded as non-current prepayments as
management has discretion over when these costs have
to be incurred and it is not expected to be utilised within
twelve months. Upon consumption, these prepayments
are charged to the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in
Subsidiaries and Associates

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’'s net assets including
goodwill.

The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether the interest in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying amount and
recognises the amount in the consolidated income
statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

2.12

Non-Current Assets Held-for-Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale.

Financial Assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss),
and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in the consolidated
income statement or OCI. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated income
statement.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments at amortised cost and FVOCI.

(i) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in the consolidated income
statement and presented in “other income
and other gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.

106 Frontier Services Group Limited s ZARIEEBE AR A 7

2

TEEHBERBE )

212 EWMEEE)

(a)

(b)

(c)

7HE(E)

AEBENEERFTEENE
BEASBEER D EEBT
Ho

14

REAGCCEECSREE -
N5 ABIAREEAHEBEE
HHEEEE A )RR

iTE

RYIFHERE - AEBRAA
EEMDNALFFZALBEE
BEDRIK(RAABEE
BREBIRD ZSREE) W
BZoRMEEERRIENRS
RAHEREEEITE - %
ARBEBEBERIR SR
BENRZRAG Al E e
% o

EETA

BT EZBEFEBURNA
EEEHEERHESRER
BHEBER - NREBBHE
BITADBEAREHEKAGE
RizAnhBESAEMEEmR
=5 8R o
(i) HHAAR
BERBRANBE S RE
(R RAE R B
IR HVE E IR SR AR B
E-RESemEEEL
ORI NN N == R il
KR AR B U A ] -
HYSH R SR E £ WO (T (] IR
ERBEEERGZE K
HEARBER WERER
WM BEE5 Al i
WA R E AU 558 ] o
BWEBBEGE KSR
RIUABEIEE 25 °



e B R MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

(if)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to the consolidated income
statement and recognised in “other income
and other gains, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“interest income” using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income and
other gains, net” and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to the consolidated
income statement following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the consolidated
income statement as “other income and other
gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Notes 3.1(b) and 21 for further details.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial Liabilities

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. The Group’s financial liabilities
include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, borrowings and other financial liabilities.

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All financial liabilities are
recognised initially at fair value, in the case of a
financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liability.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

2.14 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also
entered into arrangements that do not meet the criteria
for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be
set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or
the termination of a contract.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

Inventories

Inventories, mainly represent spare parts and
consumables for aircraft maintenance, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Trade, Bills and Other Receivables

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. Trade, bills and other
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are classified as current assets,
except for those with maturities greater than twelve
months after the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade, bills and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade, bills and other receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. See Notes 21 and 22
for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade, bills and other receivables and Notes 2.12
and 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks
and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

2.20

Trade and Other Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within thirty days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within twelve
months after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Borrowing Costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and Deferred Income Tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a
better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and Deferred Income Tax (continued)

FTEEHBRBE®)

2.22 EMRIEEMESH (4F)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits

(@

(b)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in several defined
contribution plans, under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into separate entities.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is
available.

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided
to employees via the Group’s employee option
plan.

The fair value of options granted under the
Group’s share option scheme is recognised as an
employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions (e.g. the entity’s share price);

—  excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for
employees to save or hold shares for a
specific period of time).
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Share-based compensation (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

If the Group cancels or settles a grant of equity
instruments during the vesting period, the Group
should treat this as an acceleration of vesting and
recognise immediately the amount that otherwise
would have been recognised for services received
over the remainder of the vesting period.

The Company’s grant of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of the subsidiaries
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to interests in subsidiaries, with a
corresponding credit to the Company’s equity.

Share award scheme

The fair value of the share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an
expense with a corresponding increase in credit to
share-based compensation reserve. The fair value
is measured with reference to the Company’s
share price at grant date taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the share
awards are granted. Where the vesting conditions
are met before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the share awards, the total estimated fair value
of the share awards is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the
share awards will be vested.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share award scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
awards which are expected to be vested is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the consolidated income
statement for the year of the review.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an
expense is credited to shares held for share
award scheme and debited to share-based
compensation reserve.

When the share award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it were vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately.

Employee leave entitlement and long service
payment

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service payment as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)

()

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

2.24 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

(a)

Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the pre-tax expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IEHBE#SER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities (continued) 2.24 BERIRERBE(E)
(b) Contingent liabilities (b) EEAERE
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that SANBEEAEEBESEHM
arises from past events and whose existence EEZAEET MBBEE
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non- A —TH A LW IERAE AR
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events SEEHSEERZ T EE BZ
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can EHEEEDFREBERE
also be a present obligation arising from past SANBENEEBTEEGMmME
events that is not recognised because it is not EZBREEMT  ARAIETH
probable that outflow of economic resources will EREECEERKETSBE
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be ERSERTEMAEER °
measured reliably.
A contingent liability is not recognised but is HARBEDTTHER  HEREZ
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial BB HRERWEANRE - HE
statements. When a change in the probability of BRI 2 Al RE 1R & - AEK
an outflow occurs so that an outflow is probable, it AlgE M ER - AR AR
will then be recognised as a provision. 1# o
2.25 Revenue Recognition 2.25 WARER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the WARASERBEEXMABEE
consideration received or receivable for the sales EnkREBHERKERKEZA
of goods and services in the ordinary course of the REEFE - WABTATRRIEE
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added BRI EB A2 HE o
tax and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the
Group.
The Group recognises revenue, when it is probable EARAREENZAERAEBRE
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity B UEFETXAAEEZ &
and when specific criteria have been met for each of (B ZETEGRER  AEEBER
the Group’s activities as described below. The Group WA« REBAEBAEEERE
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking REFZKRE T2EERFHE
into consideration the type of customer, the type of Al RGERNRZELZEEZ BEIE
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. W e
Where the contracts include multiple performance HWEXNBREZEROEL  R5E
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to BEEREBEBIRESRAR
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone FoWMZEESEIAEESR - A
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, ERTEHRK A A R EITEE o
they are estimated based on expected cost-plus margin.
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of W ATE & i sk BR 75 1 12 il i 85 75 45
the good or service is transferred to the customer. BERER - BURR A OB G &
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws EREAMED - Bk R HE
that apply to the contract, control of the good or service | 4 B DA A2 B8 R ] Bk 7E 5 B RS 2
may be transferred over time or at a point in time. =5 o
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue Recognition (continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

(a)

Rendering of services

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
aviation and logistics services, freight forwarding,
ground logistics and warehousing services,
security and infrastructure services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

Aircraft management services and aircraft
maintenance services is recognised over the
period of the service contract as the customer
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group has a right to invoice with reference
to its services provided to the customer at a pre-
determined rate as stated in the contract. The
Group usually issues invoices to its customers on
a monthly basis with a 30-90 days credit term.
The Group’s billings to its customers are invoiced
at amounts that correspond with the value of the
Group’s performance completed to date based on
the pre-determined rates as stated in the service
contracts and the Group applies the practical
expedient to simplify disclosure regarding
remaining performance obligations.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue Recognition (continued)
(a) Rendering of services (continued)

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
financial market information is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the service
contract.

Payment for aviation and logistics services, freight
forwarding, ground logistics and warehousing
services, aircraft maintenance services, security
and infrastructure services are not due from the
customers until the services are completed, with a
30-90 days credit term.

For financial market information services,
the customer pays the fixed amount at the
commencement of service contract. Some
payments for aircraft management services
would also be made by customers before the
commencement of services. A contract liability
is recognised for payments which exceed the
services rendered.

(b) Reimbursement income

Reimbursement income of disbursement recharge
is recognised when the service is performed by
the respective supplier.

The Group does not expect to have significant contracts
where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for
the time value of money.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts
for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability, if any.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (continued)

TEEHBERBE )

2.26 HE(#ZE)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received, and makes adjustments
specific to the lease. If a readily observable amortising
loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through
recent financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use
that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the
consolidated income statement over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in the consolidated income
statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
office equipment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (continued)

2.27

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognised in other income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature.

Related Parties

A person or entity is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(a)

()

a person or a close member of that person’s family
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (ii)
has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is
a member of the key management personnel of
the Group;

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group, which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member;

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

a person identified in (a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity or of a parent
of the entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28

2.29

2.30

Interest Income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

Government Grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Earnings Per Share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(ii)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

. the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial Risk Factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
which result from its operating, investing and financing
activities. Management periodically analyses and
reviews measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to market risk (including foreign currency risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group employs a
conservative strategy regarding its risk management
and has not used any derivatives or other instruments
for hedging purposes.

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s financial instruments
mainly consisted of trade and bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables, cash and bank balances,
borrowings, lease liabilities, trade payables and other
payables and accruals, and financial assets at FVOCI.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group currently operates mainly in
Hong Kong, Kenya, South Africa, Malta and
Mainland China.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the
transactions are denominated in HK$ and
United States dollars (“US$”). The exchange
rate of US$ against HK$ is relatively stable
and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.

The foreign exchange risk from US$ is not
material since it is pegged with HK$ at a
designated range such that the exposure on
fluctuation of foreign currency rate is limited.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a

Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

For operations in Africa, most of the
transactions are denominated in USS$,
Kenyan Shillings (“KES”) and South African
Rand (“ZAR”). No financial instrument was
used for hedging purposes for the year
due to the prohibitive cost of available
hedging opportunities. The Group is closely
monitoring the currency exchange risk of
US$ against KES and ZAR and will consider
the use of financial instrument for hedging

purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Malta, most of the
transactions are denominated in Euro
(“EUR”) and US$. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the year.
The Group is closely monitoring the currency
exchange risk of US$ against EUR and will
consider the use of financial instrument for

hedging purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Mainland China, most
of the transactions are denominated in
Renminbi (“‘RMB”). The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese
government. The Group is closely monitoring
the currency exchange risk of RMB and is
looking for any opportunities to mitigate the

currency exchange risk of RMB.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk from
these currencies is not material since
majority of its transactions are denominated

in their respective functional currencies.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(if)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk arises from bank balances
and deposits and borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by bank balances and
deposits held at variable rates. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in US$
and ZAR (2019: US$, ZAR and EUR). The
Group has not used any derivative financial
instruments to hedge its cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2020, if interest rate
had increased/decreased by 100 basis
points (2019: 100 basis points) with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss after tax and accumulated losses
would have been HK$2,148,000 (2019:
HK$3,635,000) lower/higher.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)

The sensitivity analysis above had been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for
financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables had
remained constant. The stated increase/
decrease represented management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in interest rates over the period until the end
of next reporting period. The analysis was
performed on the same basis for 2019.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash
flows of trade and bills receivables, deposits and
other receivables and cash and bank balances.

The Group has two types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o trade and bills receivables from the
provisions of services; and

o other financial assets at amortised cost.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial. Majority
of bank balances of the Group is generally placed
in short to medium term deposits and investments
with reputable banks.

(i) Trade and bills receivables

For trade and bills receivables, the Group
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade and bills receivables.

For bills receivables, bills are issued by
counterparties at reputable banks and
finance institution and the credit risk is
considered to be low. Those counterparties
do not have defaults in the past. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as
at each of the end of reporting period.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBREERE)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued) 3.1 HMERREZEE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) fEEEEE)
(i)  Trade receivables (continued) () EZENFIAEE)
Trade receivables are written off when BSREWHREREGETE
there is no reasonable expectation of BRI AT U =] B RS o B
recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts & W E] I A8 2 SR IB
previously written off are credited against STAR—{&E °

the same line item.

The following table presents the gross TREBINR-_ZE—hER
carrying amount and provision for —EEF+_A=1+—
impairment loss in respect of collectively B3 2 A s R G
assessed trade receivables by invoice date 2B SEWFIAZ BREAR
as at 31 December 2019 and 2020: BRBEEERE

Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime Net

credit loss carrying expected carrying

rate amount credit loss amount
ZHEN ZHIFEH

FEBR=E IREAE FEEBR FRENEE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

FETT FET FET

Within 1 month 1EAR 0.0% to 4.7% 55,809 — 55,809
0.0% £ 4.7%

1 — 2 months 12 218A 0.0% to 5.7% 33,154 — 33,154
0.0% £5.7%

2 — 3 months 2% 3fE@A 0.0% to 8.4% 6,814 — 6,814
0.0% % 8.4%

Over 3 months BB 31EA 0.0% to 100% 51,393 (16,637) 34,756
0.0% Z100%

147,170 (16,637) 130,533
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBRREEE)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued) 3.1 BMERREZEE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EREE(E)
(i)  Trade receivables (continued) () EZENFIAEE)
2019
—E-NF
Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime
credit loss carrying expected Net carrying
rate amount credit loss amount
S HATEHA S HATEH]
EEEEX ARTE 4 (E EEEE BRTEDFE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Within 1 month 1EAR 0.0% to 1.5% 73,576 — 73,576
0.0% £1.5%
1 — 2 months 1Z=2M@A 0.0% to 1.8% 28,048 — 28,048
0.0% & 1.8%
2 — 3 months 2ZE31@A 0.0% to 2.6% 11,934 — 11,934
0.0% £2.6%
Over 3 months 833 3 & A 0.7% to 100% 151,911 (13,882) 138,029

0.7% 2 100%

265,469 (13,882) 251,687
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (i) BRI R Z A
The Group applies a 12-month expected 7N £ B gt i 1 5 AR AN 5|
credit loss on other financial assets at EHEMEMEERFH
amortised cost. Management considered 1218 ATEEAZ & E18 -
among other factors, analysed historical TmBEe(HEHS @IE)
pattern and concluded that the expected S BEBR - (4R
credit loss for other financial assets at HECERBEIE - 8l
amortised cost to be immaterial as the credit R i Y AR N B BE
risk is assessed as low. During the year, HemEE 2B
no impairment loss on other receivables BEEEBITAEKN - KE
was recognised in the consolidated income B - WiEH b E W RIE
statement (2019: HK$4,857,000). TREERRNEA WS

RER(ZE— hLF:
4,857,000 7T) °
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group implements a prudent liquidity risk
management to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements for maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping committed credit facilities
available from various banks if necessary. The
liquidity risk of the Group is primarily attributable
to trade payables, other payables and accruals,
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The amounts of the contractual undiscounted cash
flows of the financial liabilities were summarised
as follow:

3

HXREREEZ)
3.1 HBEREERE)

(c)

REBEZEEE

AEEEREEZRBESE
REE TSR REN
ZRBEEER  BRRRZ
Re BREARGEEREZ
RHBREREES  AmRERE
HERAZRBESEL

HREIBXBUHELEES -
AEBHNBEBZRITE AR
ZAREERE(MLE)#&
FESZEEMNE - AEBZR
HESRARTIBREEZEN
FIE - Hit BN KIAREE
A-EREEERE-

TRABEIEHRFTRASR
ESHEMEBWT

More than
year but
Within  less than More than
1 year 5 years 5 years
BA-F
—FR EIREEF BBEF
HK$'000  HKS$000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 RZZZBF+-A=t-H
Trade payables BHENFTE - 60,223 - - 60,223
Other payables and Hw AR EREER
accruals 38,770 52,055 - - 90,825
Borrowings BX — 18,937 - - 18,937
Lease liabilities HEAE - 61,865 55,632 3,996 121,493
38,770 193,080 55,632 3,996 291,478
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-hF+=A=t-H
Trade payables BHENTER — 81,305 — — 81,305
Other payables and HitENRERENER
accruals — 132,606 — — 132,606
Borrowings BR — 4,546 — — 4,546
Lease liabilities HEAE — 70,632 55,421 4,475 130,528
— 289,089 55,421 4,475 348,985
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Capital Management

The Group regards its total equity as capital. The
primary objective of the Group’s capital management is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders to support the Group’s
sustainable growth and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total borrowings to the
total assets), which shows the proportion of the Group’s
assets being financed through debt. The gearing ratio at
31 December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

3

PR b B ()

3.2

AEXER

AEBREARARER - NEH
EAEBZIZENARREAEE
SEEE RN RRREHRER -
REMASHEBEERHEANE U
RAKREZRHBERRIMBRESR
AL BUREARRA

REBEBZREBERLZ BT RE
BHEAEBUHEELRAE - B
HIRHRAREARGERE  ANEEAHA
BINTFTREZRE  BREEAT
B - BITHR  REFEHRE
FHEEEURLEL - BEZZT
—EFERZF-NF+ZA=1+—
BIEFE  WHEEHEHN  BEXB
REHE AEBEW A ZEMAH
FEEMERBRTE -

AEEREABEL R(BEE BN
BERBEZLE)E %—EEﬁKﬂﬁ
AR BRAE B EE NGBS RN
2Bl e RZBE_ZBER-_F—H
F+-A=+—BZEARBELR
AR

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FETL

Borrowings EE 18,443 4,512
Lease liabilities HEaRE 106,020 111,664
Total borrowings [Ep=FEL 124,463 116,176
Total assets BEHBE 939,918 1,223,423
Gearing ratio BAREEEX 13% 9%
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3

B BHRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair Value Estimation

The different levels of financial instruments carried at
fair value have been defined as follows:

(a) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(b) Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

(c) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI at 31
December 2020 with respect to the unlisted investments
amounting to HK$4,000 (31 December 2019: HK$4,000)
which are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
there were no transfers of financial instruments between
levels 1, 2 and 3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.
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MERBEEE)
3.3 AREEMAEE

BARBEARNERTAZEE
RERMT :

(a) MHRABEXRBEEEBRMS
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&) R

(c) BREEXRABE HAEILI
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1

4.2

Impairment of Intangible Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment and Right-of-Use Assets

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or change in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell calculations.

The calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(if) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operations.

Impairment of Trade Receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

4

RS EERHEE)

41

4.2

BIVEE W% BERRBEUR
EREEEZRE

BVEE WX BERKBUK
EREEEEBSFHRIBERE(CRE
I R T B AT B O W (e B At Rk 18
TRe - AIRESEIREERE
B EDNERNA R BER L EK
AZFAETEMEMBTRTHER
BEEE °

ZETETRERAH KRG B
BEAREEREEHHE  LE
R T SER : ()RASEE
AR E A EEENEERRK
B zE4: ()TkE£EEIRAR
BERHERANREREESFTE
BEREEMGFZARESRE
REFERNET 2 EaE)EhEN
THREENERE@TE k(i) FERES
MEEAMERNEEZEREZESH
B AREZSREeRERIREGE
FAEEMRRITE - e 2R E R T
HRERETE 2 BRE(BENERR
ReERERA 2 ERERBR)FATH
% . BRI Ae e SR E R AT A 2
HEFBENTE TEMPER
SEZUBARRRAEEELE o

B 5 RWHREZRE

BHRUBFBAZERBEGFELIENE
FEORREFERBERER ZMREK -
RERESHR  ARERIEHZT
BR&R RGEFTEREZ BABERE
EREAE  BRAAEDERAE
B2 BERR - RITmRRATEE
flist e
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3

Income Taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations, including
the aircraft leasing arrangement between the Group
companies that are structured on an arm’s length basis,
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues, if any, based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, including the tax position of those intra-group
transactions, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred income
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised in respect
of the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries in Africa,
except to the extent that the parent is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred income tax liabilities to be recognised,
which is based upon the estimated timing of dividend
distribution.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as
the Board of Directors of the Company. Management has
determined the operating segments based on the internal
reports reviewed by the Board of the Company that are used
to assess performance and allocate resources. The Group’s
operating segments are structured and managed separately
according to the services provided by different strategic
business units, and the services offered are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of the other operating
segments.

The performance and the financial position under each
operating segment are summarised as follows:

(i)  Aviation and Logistics Business (“AL Business”) —
Provision of aviation and logistics related services;

(i) Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business (“Sll
Business”) — Provision of security, insurance and
infrastructure related services; and

(iii)  Financial Market Information Business (“FMI Business”)
— Provision of online financial market information.

Others include corporate income and expenses, other direct
investments and others.

The Board of Directors of the Company assesses segment
performance based on reportable operating result.

o RRE R

TBEEERRECRIARARABZES
g EEECREBEARFESSEMA
R ERREDBEE R AR EETE =
BOR - ARBEZZENBIIIRBETRK
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BE MBLEDMREHRZIRBAAELZ
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 DEER(E)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and certain assets, AEEHE T _TF+_-_A=+—HIt
liabilities and expenditure information for the year ended 31 FEZWA - EERETEE AELH
December 2020 by operating segments is as follows: SERIREED BT ¢
AL SlI FMI
Business Business Business
RER ZR Rk SRS
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
FET FET FET FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with RERFAHZHA
customers (from external (REHNEF)
customers) 510,443 80,120 14,480 203 605,246
Depreciation e 44,098 3,387 555 3,840 51,880
Amortisation B 1,604 85 - - 1,689
Impairment losses on financial CREEZRERR
assets 14,232 - 34 - 14,266
Operating loss BERE (59,090) (38,368) (292) (113,373) (211,123)
Interest income FEWA 3,702
Finance costs BERA (19,485)
Share of losses of associates and ~ EEBEAG R —FAEDA
a joint venture, net BEFE (2,478)
Provision for impairment of interest A—FBE A7 22
in an associate HERE (8,693)
Loss before income tax BRETEHABE (238,077)
Income tax credit RS 9,491
Loss for the year FEER (228,586)
Total assets BESE 522,934 122,387 3,453 291,144 939,918
Total assets include: EEBERE:
Interests in associates REE AR 2 ER - 37,458 - 1,943 39,401
Interest in a joint venture R-RAEDAZER - - - 983 983
Total liabilities aEeEs 197,044 48,037 6,914 61,239 313,234
Capital expenditure EXRY 14,920 5,009 13 3,249 23,191
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and certain assets,
liabilities and expenditure information for the year ended 31
December 2019 by operating segments is as follows:

5 2a2WERE)

AEBEHE_T-NAET-_A=1T—HLt
FEZWA RENRETEE  BERHA
XEMREED R AT

AL Sl FMI
Business Business Business Others Total
TS Zi% - R k3
MR EH REEEH EMEHS Aty b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue from contracts with RERFALZMA
customers (from external (REYHNER)
customers) 682,497 27,463 15,960 — 725,920
Depreciation ik 49,950 4,163 556 172 54,841
Amortisation B 1,605 14 - - 1,619
Provision for impairment of ME - BERSEREHE
property, plant and equipment HEAEZAERRE
and assets held-for-sale 64,509 — — — 64,509
Impairment losses on financial EREELREER
assets 14,286 — — — 14,286
Operating loss BERE (178,139) (86,094) (778) (104,391) (369,402)
Interest income FIEBMA 12,045
Finance costs BEMA (10,360)
Share of losses of associates [ NG (3,760)
Loss before income tax BRETEHABE (371,477)
Income tax credit FEHES 14,730
Loss for the year FEER (356,747)
Total assets BEBE 650,371 175,880 2,524 394,648 1,223,423
Total assets include: EEBERE:
Interests in associates REERR 2 ER — 52,059 — 1,826 53,885
Total liabilities fEeE 285,710 64,024 6,230 23,846 379,810
Capital expenditure BARFAX 14773 8,139 53 1,661 24,626
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oEHERE)
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group's RRARMRES - REBRBEHINEF 2
revenue from external customers by geographical regions is W AR E| DR :
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Africa FEM 366,738 462,903
Europe B 104,364 115,375
The People’'s Republic of China R A RHEAE
(“PRC”) ([E])
Mainland China AR B A 69,987 102,494
Hong Kong BB 12,063 33,910
South-East Asia and Middle-East Regoe kR 52,094 11,238
605,246 725,920
Revenue derived from external customers with amounts equal FEHINEE 2 W ARERNS SN AEER
to or above 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows: WA10% 2 =BT -
2019
Operating —EAF
Segment HK$’000 HK$'000
EES FET FAET
Customer A AL Business 78,588 186,954
BEFH YN
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

The total non-current assets other than financial instruments
and deferred income tax assets by geographical regions is as

DEE R (#)

BREeERMTAMEREMSREEINZIFRE

BEEABERIERE ST :

follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Africa FEM 241,526 270,699
Europe EOM 28,803 40,941
The PRC ==
Mainland China HR B A3 17,907 20,523
Hong Kong BB 5,252 4,651
South-East Asia and Middle-East REERFPR 29,809 28,826
323,297 365,640
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 REEFAHNZBWA
CUSTOMERS
(a) An analysis of revenue is as follows: (a) WADHWT :
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEITL
Revenue from provision of aviation R B R 2 &7 R 7%
and logistics services ZUA 510,443 682,497
Revenue from provision of security, KBEREZR « RE K&
insurance and infrastructure EERBE 2 WA
services 80,120 27,463
Revenue from provision of online REREZ ST HEEN
financial market information AR %% 2 Y A
services 14,480 15,960
Others Hb 203 —
605,246 725,920
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6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 XRBEEFEHNZWAE)

CUSTOMERS (continued)

(a) An analysis of revenue is as follows: (continued) (a) WAZHWMT : (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REXEFEHZBADH
customers:

2020 2019
—E-ZF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Timing of revenue recognition TR A 2 R [
At a point in time P HE— R 492,497 669,540
Over time B B [ 112,749 56,380
Revenue from contracts with REBEFAEKZWA
customers (from external (REHINEF)
customers) 605,246 725,920

(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) EFEXMEBEAARE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities AEEEBATNINEF,EAHEEEA
related to contracts with customers: & :

2020 2019
—EBCEE —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET F&T

Provision of aviation and logistics R ZE R R
services — 6,155

Provision of online financial market 248 E &5

information services & AR TS 4,725 4,733
Total current contract liabilities BER& R & EERE 4,725 10,888
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6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 REEFEHNZWAE)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) EFEXNHEBEEE)
(continued)
(i)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) BEHNEEBERZHUA
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the TRETAREAREES LD
revenue recognised in the current reporting period BEEIANKALE -
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
2020 2019
i —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue recognised that was FFAFEHABER
included in the contract 2 B RERIA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year
Provision of aviation and M= R
logistics services AR 6,155 2,929
Provision of online financial REGR EE TS
market information services & RS 4,733 5,203
10,888 8,132
7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 7 REEBFMBAX

An analysis of employee benefit expenses, including directors’

emoluments, is as follows:

BERMNAX(BREZM)OTWOT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and bonuses Fre RIEAL 201,904 194,882

Share-based compensation PARRAD S 2 /i fE 6,106 12,169
Pension costs — defined contribution  RKES A — FREHAETE

plans 4,812 5915

Termination benefits | 742 1,906

Unutilised annual leave REBAER 351 914

Other benefits (Note) E bt F (f7at) 25,069 25,110

238,984 240,896

Note:

Other benefits include medical insurance, travel insurance and other

statutory welfare contributions.

HBEHN 2EBRRE - RERER R EAMEERT

AR
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 EEEANBEXE)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (a) E=M<
Details of directors’ emoluments are as follows: EEMeFREIAOT :

Contributions
fopension  Share-based Other
Name of director Salaries Bonuses schemes  compensation henefits

£ ; it B EferERY RGRNZER B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000
1 i &1 &1 &1 i i
Note (i
)
Year ended 31 December 2020 BECBSETZAZt-ALER
Mr. Chang Zhenming FRARE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Yichen (Note i) EERRER ) - - - - - -
Mr. Fei Yping (ote (i) BRTren ) - - - - - -
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erk D. Prince %5 - 4,622 23 - 1,164 8,559
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson SRS 10 - - - - 10
Mr. Luo Ning i - - - - -
D1 Hua Dongy e i) S5~/ - B116 2586 5106 108 14538
Mr. Hu Qinggang (Note (i) BRAxERR ) - 83 - - 2% 1,053
Mr. Yap Fat Sun, Henry ik 543 - - - - 543
Professor Leg Hau Leung (Note (1) RAR ) 3 - - - - 314
Mr. Cut Liguo (Note (i) EHEEE ) bl - - - - 2
Dr. Harold 0. Demuren Harold 0. DemuenfEt 543 - - - - 543
Mr. Hooi Hing Lee (Note () HERRE0 ) % - - - - %
Total ] 1,900 11,601 5339 6,106 1,300 26,450
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-E-NET-ACt-RiLEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming FRARE - - - - - - -
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erk D, Prince 5% = 447 2,665 - - 1,17 8,267
M. Ko Chun Shun, Jofinson SRERE 12 = = = = = 1
Wt Luo Ning EEit - - - - - - -
Dr. Hua Dongyi £R-ft - 5,884 2468 7 12169 il 2674
Mr. Hu Qinggang (Note i) BRALE ) 0 1609 13 13 = ] 1905
Mr. Yap Fat Suen, Henry L2t 549 - - - - - 549
Professor Lee Hau Leung HRAR 549 = = = = = 549
Dr. Harold 0. Demuren Harold 0. Demuen5 T 549 - - - - - 549
Totel EE) 1767 11,940 5266 17 12,169 1316 3263
Notes: Hiat -
(i) Other benefits include medical insurance, travel (i) HEmEM e mERmg - IRERR R
insurance and other statutory welfare contributions. HAth )X E ALK ©
(i)  Appointed on 24 March 2020. (ii) NZEZTHFE=A -+ NAEET -
(i) Appointed on 24 March 2020 and resigned on 28 (iy W-T-TF=-A-+WABZIL
February 2021. RZB-—F A=+ /\HEHE -
(iv)  Resigned on 24 March 2020. (iv) R-E_ZF=ZA_1THHBHE-
(v)  Resigned on 29 July 2020. (v) RZZEZZEFLA-TNBAEE-
(viy  Appointed on 21 August 2020. (viy RZZEZZTFNA=+—HEZE(F-
(vii)  Appointed on 28 October 2020. (viy RZZ=ZTF+A=+/\BEZE(T -
(viii) Resigned on 10 March 2021, (viiy R=ZZ=—F=A+HABIT-
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ Retirement Benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
director during the year ended 31 December 2020 in
respect of services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings or in respect of other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings (2019: Nil).

Directors’ Termination Benefits

There were no other payments made to or receivable by
any director during the year ended 31 December 2020
in respect of the loss of office as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings, or the loss
of other office in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings
(2019: Nil).

Consideration Provided to Third Parties for Making
Available Directors’ Services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services during
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Information about Loans, Quasi-Loans and Other
Dealings Entered into by the Company or Its
Subsidiary Undertakings, Where Applicable, in
Favour of Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected parties during the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: Nil).

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

There were no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

7 EEBFMEX@E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()
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AIREWBARER 2 EEH
EEARNRNENBRARIERNE
75 75 B8 &0 EL AR 75 i 2 =2 1+ sk fE Uk
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—hE &) e
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

e MR M A

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 EETBANBEXZ#E)
(g) Five Highest Paid Individuals (9) EumESHATL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FAREB RN RS HFALTEER
in the Group for the year include two (2019: two) MN(ZZE—NF: W)EE - E
directors, whose emoluments are reflected in Note 7(a). SRMIFE7(Q) AR - FAEN T
The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2019: Ep=U(ZTE—NEF: =fu)Ax
three) individuals during the year are as follows: 2T :
2020 2019
—BCEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Basic salaries, other allowances and EAFH& - HEh)E8 &
benefits in kind EY M 8,075 8,897
Bonuses TEAT 412 594
Share-based compensation LARR 19 1+ 2 # (8 — —
Contributions to pension schemes RN ETEIHER 80 84
8,567 91575
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FTIEE :
Number of individuals
A
Emolument bands HEiEE
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 BLE
3,000,000 7T
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 BLE
4,000,000 7T
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 EERFBEXZE)
(h) Remunerations of Senior Management (h)y SREEASEHMH
Senior Management is set out in the session headed ERERABHIINESZRERE
under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior BABZRBRFAE]I—& -
Management”.
Details of the emoluments payable to the members of BERINZEREBAE(BIEER
the senior management, including key management BEEABEMNEBESI D ZAEE
personnel, other than Directors by band for the year are MEFFEIBWT ¢
set out below:
Number of individuals
A
Emolument bands [ A=
HK$1 — HK$500,000 17L& 500,000 77T —_ 1
HK$500,001 - HK$1,000,000 500,001 BLE
1,000,00078 7T 6 2
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /B TLE
1,500,00078 7T 2 5
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& TE
2,000,000 7T 1 —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 8BLE
3,000,000 7T 2 2
FINANCE COSTS 8 ®MEMK
2020 2019
i —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Interests on: THEBEZHE :
Bank and other loans R1TREME R 1,893 944
Lease liabilities (Note 14(ii)) HEBEHZ 14(i) 15,494 7,566
Financing arrangement fee MEZHER 771 1,916
Net exchange loss/(gain) on BRZERER (M) FaE
borrowings 1,327 (66)
19,485 10,360
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e MR M A

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT 9 MBHESR
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Current income tax BNERFT1S B
Outside Hong Kong BB LA =
Provision for the year PG R (29) (79)
Over/(under) provision in respect BEFERE/(TR)EE
of prior years 210 (201)
181 (280)
Deferred income tax BERTISTE
Outside Hong Kong BB AN &R 9,310 15,010
9,491 14,730
Taxation on profits has been calculated on the estimated F R M) 2 T I B IR (A 5T FE SR B v Al DA ZR
assessable profits for the year at the applicable rates of EFBERAERR H#H2RTEA
taxation prevailing in the countries/places in which the Group X BERERTER - RBREFImETE -
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been provided WEREBMNEFRIIELEEG  BAREEH
because the Group did not generate any assessable profit in RAFE E A ER BB E & B a

Hong Kong during the year. A o
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit on the
Group’s loss before income tax and the theoretical amount of
income tax credit that would arise using the domestic tax rate

FeHER @)

FAREBERABRATBEZ AEHER
HRNAEANEBEAZSRRZALTERZ
MEAEELEZEHERZEREE L

applicable to each of the group companies for the year is as HERWT ¢
follows:
2020 2019
—E-ZF —Z-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Loss before income tax R BT 1S 7% AT B 18 (238,077) (371,477)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax NEBBRERA B ERGFE 2
rates applicable in the respective 18
countries 40,326 49,066
Tax effects of; AT EIBRIELE
Income not subject to tax BAT WA 333 3,397
Expenses not deductible for tax NAMEFRF IR 2 F 2
purposes (22,823) (29,624)
Utilisation of previously EAZAIRERZ HIBERE
unrecognised tax losses 432 134
Tax losses not recognised RER 2 TIEEE (8,987) (11,232)
Withholding tax TEHBL — 3,190
Over/(under) provision in respect of BEFEBE (TR EE
prior years 210 (201)
Income tax credit FriS B2 9,491 14,730
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e MR M A

10 LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10 FEBIE
The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at after charging/ AEBFEBEENR GIA)THE
(crediting): 18 :
2020 2019
i —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Rental expenses HeER
Rentals on land and buildings T REFHEE 7,150 14,029
Rentals on equipment REHES 4,809 3,177
Rentals on motor vehicle RERS 733 400
12,692 17,606
Depreciation and amortisation EREHE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FREZERE
(Note 14) (W3t 14) 33,483 32,868
Depreciation of property, plant and % - ERRETE
equipment (Note 13) (Hiet 13) 18,397 21,973
Amortisation of other intangibles Ho A 8 B O
(Note 15) (Hiat 15) 1,689 1,619
53,569 56,460
Other operating expenses Hitn&EEH
Professional and consultancy fee BERFHRNEA 11,085 16,410
Travelling expenses =ikE A 7,789 17,563
Net exchange losses E X B85 58 3,738 12,267
Auditor’'s remuneration 2 Gl e
Audit services ENZRE 2,800 3,080
Non-audit services TR — 395
Provision for inventories (Note 20)  T# &% (Kt 20) 1,032 1,456
Write-off of purchase option in an MEER — KB E R A Z
associate EEEERE — 3,907
Others HAity 45,661 63,245
72,105 118,323
Other income and other gains, Higlg A R H iz
net b=
Warehouse income BREBA (2,344) (4,512)
Write-back of other payables H Ath & 5 SRIE R [E] — (798)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME - BRREREZ
property, plant and equipment &8, (W) F 58 768 (1,048)
Others Efh (2,687) (589)
(4,263) (6,947)
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11

12

LOSS PER SHARE 11 BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year is REEFIRERNERTHIREARQ R IRER
based on the Group’s loss attributable to the equity holders of EARGAEEEBIARFADEITER
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary B& 2 INAEFIHEETE -
shares in issue during the year.
The basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 AR AFEMEETEIINTEESIERZ
December 2020 were the same because the effect of the BT AR R EIRE (BER] LR
assumed conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares ZBERRIERE I K i R ITE 2 BB AR IETT
outstanding, including the conversion of the exchangeable E)EERETWE LB E S _TF
preference shares and the exercise of the outstanding share TZA=tT—RLEEEZERERREE
options, during the year was anti-dilutive. EEAER -
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue HEZZ-_ZF+-_A=+t—HLEFEZ
during 31 December 2020 were the number of ordinary shares BEETTRERNETSEEEETEBRR
in issue, as there were no new ordinary shares issued under 2H BEREAWEREERESTZIZEITH
the share option schemes. L imAR o
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NF
Weighted average number of ordinary & %77 %8 % 2 It
shares in issue T 2,344,818,660 2,344,818,660
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Group’s loss attributable to the equity AN &I AER A ARG
holders of the Company REEEE (228,029) (354,793)
DIVIDENDS 12 RE

The Board of the Company does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
Nil).

ARRMEFETRBENRE_S-F
+ZA=+t-BLEEZEARS(ZT
—NE )
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PP EE LT \

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y%  BERRE
Leasefold Aircraft Plant, Trucks,
mprovements and aviation machinery {rallers Motor Office Fumiture
and hangars equipment andtooling  and confainers vehicles equipment and fixtures Total
HENERE (=N LR
RR#E  REREER RI& e i N GliRxe 3
HK§000 HKk§a0 HKS 000 HK§000 HKk§ 00 HKS 000 HKk§000 HK$ 000

TEr AL 7T TET AT 7T TET &L

At January 2019 H-%-15-5-8
Opering net book amount FEESE 3600 135,356 4085 6,5% 7475 4074 246 163,662
Addtions by 461 - 5930 1,251 9500 1624 1,563 2039
Disposals (Note 35]) LiEWas) (462) (3637) (554) (249) (344) (119) (39) (5,394)
Impeiment (oes () and i)~ (KB - 5900) (516) - - (1 (39 (64509)
Depeciton (ot 10 K& ) (1030) (0] (3461) BOH) (131) o) 197
Other transfer (Note () EhER ) - (6,209) = = = = = (6,209)
Exchange differences ENZE 1 (40n) 425 [ (1) 9 § 8
Closing net canying amount FARERE 3,238 55,06 2646 4208 13674 40 3050 85,987
At 31 December 2019 R-8-AFtZA=t-B
Cost i 553 104739 18,719 16,924 nr 12313 5609 185,626
Aecumulated depreciafonand ~ ZitFERB(E
mpaiment (2.297) (49,686) (16,073) (12721) (8:353) (8,150) (2.559) (99.839)
Net carrying amount FEE 3,238 55,053 2646 4203 13,574 4203 3,050 85,967
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13 Y% BERREBE)

Leasghold Aircraft Plant, Trucks,
improvements and aviation machinery trailers Motor Office Furniture
and hangars equipment andtooling  and containers vehicles equipment and fixtures
L UEE 5 8 LEAY
FREE  RERRZRE RI& e i HAZRE HRREE
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 00 HKS000
i fEr i i i i/ T i
Year ended 31 December 2020~ BE=F-FE+2f
St-ALER
Qpening net carying amount FIEESE 3,288 55,053 2646 4203 13574 42 3,050 85,987
Addtions A2 1483 419 2,009 3 2,860 1871 1,236 14,801
Disposals (Nofe 35(() e - - (14) (867) (159) (80) (0] (1,124)
Depreciation (Note 10) &t (an) (7.431) (1,658) (2m2) (3,896) (1,547) (682) (18397)
Disposal of subsiares HERBRA )

(Note 34) - - (500) - (20) (356) (28) (S04)
Exchange differences Eiz8 (309) (3419) (191) (376) (184) 108 (63) (4434
Closing net carying amount EUERRE 4111 48,932 209 1,091 12,175 4019 3,309 75,929

At 31 December 2020 H-B-REL2A=1-A
Cost ik 6,47 105,53 18,809 14,645 2,548 128 6,553 188,661
Accumulted depreciaionand ~ ZFFERHE

mpaiment (2,636) (66,603) (16,517) (13,554) (11,373) (8,805) (3,244) (112,7%2)

Net carrying amount KRE 41 18,932 2,092 1,091 117 4019 3309 75,929
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e MR M A

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, provision for impairment
losses was made against non-performing aircraft amounting
to HK$20,094,000. Such provision was charged against
the carrying amount of one aircraft so as to reflect their
recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2019. Other than
this, an impairment loss of HK$5,489,000 was made against
certain machinery, office equipment and furniture and fixtures
so as to reflect their recoverable amounts as at 31 December
2019. The recoverable amounts of these aircraft, machinery,
office equipment and furniture and fixtures are determined by
reference to prevailing available market values of these assets.

Property, plant and equipment classified as assets held-for-sale

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has reclassified three
helicopters from property, plant and equipment to assets held-
for-sale.

In February 2020, the Group completed the disposal of three
helicopters to an independent third party at a net consideration
of US$797,000 (equivalent to HK$6,209,000). The carrying
amounts of the three helicopters were written down by
HK$38,926,000 to HK$6,209,000 as at 31 December 2019, such
that they were measured at lower of their carrying amounts
and fair value less costs to sell and were reclassified from non-
current assets to assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2019
(Note 31).
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13 W% - EBERFREE)

Bt -

(i)

(if)

BE_ZT—hFE+_A=+—ALEE"
M TRREAMEZ REBEEESEA
20,094,000/ 70 » s BE B — R R 2 iR
EEFTHR  URBER=ZT—-Hh&F+=A
=t+—BZAKESE - BRItz BETF
Hees - M AZREURRMREBEZR
BB 4 % 55,489,00078 7T © URBER
T AFF+ZA=T—BZAKEI&5E -
R - MR PR E R AR
ENR2EZEEEZRITMERERE °

DEBFEREEE Y B RRE

RZZE-—NFE+=ZA=+—H FREEH#
=RETTRBEYE  BERRBEHFORE
FEHERE ©

R-ZZ_TF_A AEEERHE=2£H
Fi T —2BIE =7 - SFREA797,000
EIT(HBZ11 6,209,000 TT) ° =28 EH FHi%
ZEREER-_T-—NF+_A=1+—BH#
$%38,926,000% 7T Z 6,209,000 7T * i
HRERERRERR R BEAREKSRE)
BMHERAFE  IE_FT—hhE+=A
=+—HZIRBDEESTHHIREHHELE
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14 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

()

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows

14 #HE
AU AEEARAAZAE Y EH o

(i) REEUBRRRERZRE

HAEUBARARBTIATEREEE

the following amounts relating to leases: ZFE
2020 2019
—EEHF —T-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Aircraft T 76,702 85,744
Properties bIES 49,188 56,149
Equipment L 600 1,105
Trailers o EE 17,931 14,207
144,421 157,205
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current lease liabilities mBHERE 54,584 63,397
Non-current lease liabilities FEnBEEAE 51,436 48,267
106,020 111,664

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the
2020 financial year were HK$24,919,000 (2019:
HK$33,899,000).

R-ZE_ZTHBREFEAEFERAEE
E 2 % % /524,919,000 (&
— AL : 33,899,000/ 7T) ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

e MR M A

14 LEASES (continued) 14 #HE#®)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) RESWFRERZZRE
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following HEWRGRBETATERAEEZR
amounts relating to leases: g
2020 2019
—E-ZF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Depreciation charge of right-of- FAEEENEXY
use assets
Aircraft TR 8,420 8,630
Properties LES 22,166 21,337
Equipment Bd] 407 432
Trailers i 2,490 2,469
33,483 32,868
Interest expense (included in M ERZ (GEABERKA)
finance costs) (Note 8) (H1:£8) 15,494 7,566
Expense relating to short-term FHRREECZER
leases (included in rental (tATHE&ER)
expenses) 7,883 14,429
Expense relating to leases of low- BRSO R R HAAE
value assets that are not shown EvERBEEEHEZH
above as short-term leases T (GTAHEER)
(included in rental expenses) 4,809 3,177
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was RZZEZZF7HERRLEE
HK$54,854,000 (2019: HK$62,329,000). #54,854,0008 ;L( =& — 1L F ¢

62,329,000/ 7T) °
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14 LEASES (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
equipment, aircraft and trailers. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 6 years,
while the lease terms for the rent of a hangar from
Kenya Airports Authority was 45 years commencing from
1 June 2004.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
and are not used as security for borrowing purposes.

Variable lease payments

Leases of the Group do not contain variable payment
terms that are linked to an index or a rate.

Extension and termination options

Termination options are included in a number of
property and equipment leases across the Group. These
options are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s
operations. The termination options held, if any, are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor. The Group’s leases do not include any extension
options.

Residual value guarantees

The Group did not provide residual value guarantees in
relation to leases during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

14 HE@)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

FEBZHEFIREARARX

AEBHESHRAE  2E - R
B REREE - HESH —RE
ERB—FENF  MRAAEEE
SERREERKE 2R AE =
TTPE A —B#EFH45F ©

A R R IE B AR T -
0 & TR R IR R - B
L TER AR - LT
B2 IR -

AEBENK

AEBZEESTEEEX
LR BB 2 A E IR

ERRAILRERE

RIDPEEBMAAARBEZENER
REHE  ZFEEERFERAE
BASEXKHIAZCEEZREE
A IR RIEERNA)ER
BMAKBETE - MABLEBAATH
T ARBZHEEL TBFEEM
FERIEERE

FIrEEER

HE_Z-_ZFR-_ZFT—NEF+=
B=+—BLt&FE A&EELER
THERBFRIHREERER -
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e MR M A

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 HMERHMGEREE
2020 2019

b St 2.3 “I-NF

Other Other
Goodwill intangibles Goodwill intangibles Total
BE HtEVEE @ mE HhENEE &t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Note (i) Note (i) Note (i) Note (ii)

Vigal) B (i) Vi) Wi (i)

At 1 January ®-A-A
Cost A 107,047 46,601 153,648 107,047 46,473 153,520
Accumulated amortisation and ~ Z:HEERRE

impairment (104,945) (34,296)  (139.241) |  (104,945) (32,721)  (137,666)

Net carrying amount EmFE 2,102 12,305 14,407 2,102 13,752 15,854
Year ended 31 December HE+t-A=t-RALEE

Opening net carrying amount FUREFE 2,102 12,305 14,407 2,102 13,752 15,854

Additions NE - - - - 171 171

Amortisation (Note 10) B 10) - (1,689) (1,689) - (1,619) (1,619)

Disposal of subsidiaries LEHBAR M Z34)

(Note 34) (2,102) (2,969) (5,071) - - -
Exchange differences ERZE - (1) (1) - 1 1
Closing net carrying amount FREMFE - 7,646 7,646 2,102 12,305 14,407

At 31 December Rt=A=1-AH
Cost A 104,945 27,581 132,526 107,047 46,601 153,648
Accumulated amortisation and ~ 2HEHRAE

impairment (104,945) (19935  (124,880) |  (104,945) (34,208)  (139,241)

Net carrying amount FaFE - 7,646 7,646 2,102 12,305 14,407
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15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

Goodwill is monitored by management at the CGU level within
an operating segment level with reference to the business
performance based on geography and type of business. A
summary of the allocation of goodwill to the identified CGUs of
the Group is as follows:

15 BHE

Wiz -
0)

REMBREE®)

HEHERERNEED DEMBRREELSE
K PEITER - WBE B KR T
BHZEBRER - ARERBESEEER
PIREEEEMZBENT

2020 2019
=t 23 “E-hE
Accumulated Net carrying Accumulated Net carrying
Gross impairment amount Gross impairment amount
-t RitHE REFE et Z:tAE BEFE
HK$°000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEn TEn FET FET AT
Frontier Services Limited Frontier Services Limited
(“FSL") (TFSLJ) 94,975 (94,975) - 94,975 (94,975) —
Phoenix Aviation Limited Phoenix Aviation Limited
(‘PAL") ((BEMZz]) 6,730 (6,730) - 6,730 (6,730) —
Cheetah Logistics SARL Cheetah Logistics SARL
(“Cheetah’) ([ Cheetah ) 1,772 (1,772) - 1,772 (1,772) —
Transit Freight Forwarding Transit Freight Forwarding
Proprietary Limited Proprietary Limited
(“TFF") (I'TFF) 1,468 (1,468) - 1,468 (1,468) —
Maleth Aero Limited Maleth Aero Limited
(“Maleth”) ([Maleth ) - - - 2,102 — 2,102
104,945 (104,945) - 107,047 (104,945) 2,102

In December 2020, the Group completed the disposal of its
51% equity interests in Maleth, its goodwill was derecognised
accordingly. Further details in relation to the disposal of Maleth
are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
As at 31 December 2019, based on the result of the impairment
test of goodwill, no impairment provision was considered
necessary for the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Maleth.

Other intangibles represent operating certificates, trademark,
customers’ base and non-compete agreements derived from the
acquisition of various subsidiaries.

No provision for impairment on other intangibles was considered
necessary for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(if)

RZZE_TF+-A AEETKHEEH
R Maleth Z 51% AR - 752 5% 1k BUE i
R o B & Maleth 2 it — T RE B AR
EMBHREME34 - R=ZT—NE+=A
=+—RB BEFBRETEZER BB
BREHBFUIE Maleth B4 2 EEEHR
B -

HitmEETERKBZRMBARESL
NREEE AR  BPERTHTFHE -

BE-_T-_TFR=_ZFT—NF+=-A=1+—
AIEEE  EREERADBAREMERLEE
Ve R E RS -
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15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BERHMEBEREEEZ)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Hiat - ()
(i)  An assessment was performed by management for the year (i) EEEERBEE=ZT-—NF+=A=+—H

ended 31 December 2019. The recoverable amounts of the
CGUs with operating losses were determined based on value-
in-use calculation. This calculation was made with the use
of discounted cash flow model, based on financial budget
approved by management covering a 5-year period. Cash
flow beyond the 5-year period was extrapolated using the key

LEFEETHE EEEEBRCASE
B 2 AT IR E S FEIAE A EE E AR
E o WA EDERABEERFHIEFSER
BHAEZHBREDRAEENTRELR
BEAEL - AFHBRNBERECAT
P2 ERRREH :

assumptions stated below:

2020 2019
~%-%F =i
Annual Terminal Pre-tax Annual Terminal Pre-tax
growth rate growth rate  discount rate growth rate growth rate discount rate
ERRE REBRE BAHRE FRRE R EIEEES
Maleth NATER NATER NATER 2% 2% 22.1%

Other assumptions included estimated gross margin, applicable
corporate income tax rate and capital expenditure for repair
and maintenance. Management determined estimated growth
rates and gross margin based on past performance and its
expectation of market development. The discount rates were
determined with reference to specific risks relating to the
relevant segments and countries in which they operated.
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16 SUBSIDIARIES

The table below lists out the subsidiaries of the Company as
at 31 December 2020 which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Name

1

FSL

FSL

FSG Aviation Limited

FSG Aviation Limited

PAL

BB Mz

Frontier Logistics Consultancy
DMCC

Frontier Logistics Consultancy
DMCC

Frontier Services Group East
Africa Limited

Frontier Services Group East
Africa Limited

STE Frontier Services Group
Congo SARLU

STE Frontier Services Group
Congo SARLU

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operation
ML
B/ EEn

Bermuda

BRE

Bermuda

BRE

Kenya

sRE

United Arab
Emirates

W {AEE &
HRE

Kenya

AR

Democratic
Republic of

the Congo
RIRE F 0B

Nominal value of issued
ordinary shares/preference
shares/paid-up capital/
registered capital
BROTER/BER/
BHRER EMEAEE

US$1,000 common

1,000 % 7T 2 & Bk

US$1 common

1R EBR

KES550,488,000 ordinary

550,488,000 5 B L2 Z
B

Emirati Dirham 50,000

ordinary
50,000 P s 1 2
LER

KES4,571,000 ordinary

4571 0005EBESZ
L@k

US$100,000 ordinary

100,000 T2 E @K

16 KMEAF

BEERE TRIEEHARZ=ZZTZZ

T AT AYAFEEEEREIEY
Eoi (h AL B KD EEFEZ AR RN
BRR - BBREENBNRTER  EFRA

BATHEMMNBA

Percentage of attributable
equity interest held by the

Company
ARRFEEERER DL
Directly Indirectly

BEE Gk
100% —
100% —
100% —
100% —

— 100%

— 100%
100% —
100% —

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%
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Principal activities

FEEHR

Investment holding and
provision of aviation
and logistics services

REERRREME
Wi R

Aircraft holding and
provision of aviation
and logistics services

TR RIR G = R R
R

Aviation and logistics
services

iz R R

Aviation and logistics
services

iz R IR

Aviation and logistics
services

fnze R R %
Logistics, security and
infrastructure services

i~ ZRREZRS
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16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16 KMIEBATE (&)
Place of Nominal value of issued
incorporation  ordinary shares/preference  Percentage of attributable
or registration/ shares/paid-up capital/ equity interest held by the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
AL BROZER/BER/
£ B/ Lend CHRER/EMELAEE ARAFEEEREESL TEXHR
Directly Indirectly
B G
Frontier Services Group Democratic US$10,000 ordinary — 70% Security and consultancy
SECURITE SARL Republic of services
the Congo
Frontier Services Group MERTLME 10,000 %2 LA — 70% TR R A R

SECURITE SARL

FSGC Security Service Cambodia US$50,000 ordinary — 60% Security and consultancy
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd services
FSGC Security Service RERE 50,000 %702 & % — 60% TR Kb AR

(Cambodia) Co., Ltd

FSGL (Cambodia) Logistics & Cambodia USD50,000 — 100% Logistics and consultancy
Consultancy Services Co., Ltd services
FSGL (Cambodia) Logistics & RIFE 50,000 7T — 100% Wi KB AR

Consultancy Services Co., Ltd

Boten Frontier Services Limited Laos RMB1,000,000 ordinary — 100% Security training services
Boten Frontier Services Limited £ ARE 1,000,000 T2 & A% - 100% ZREIRT
FSG (Myanmar) Security Services ~ Myanmar US$150,000 ordinary — 55% Security and consultancy
Co., Ltd services
FSG (Myanmar) Security Services 4 150,000 7T 2 & Ak — 55% TR Kb A R
Co., Ltd
FSG Tanzania Co., Ltd Tanzania TZ51,200,000,000 ordinary — 100% Logistics related services
FSG Tanzania Co., Ltd HEED 1,200,000,00038 B H %< = 100% W AR R
ZEBR
Frontier Services Group Mozambique MZN1,000,000 — 100% Logistics related services
Mozambique S.A.
Frontier Services Group HEER 1,000,000 ER 72 1875 K@ — 100% M iB R

Mozambique S.A.

TFF South Africa ZAR70,521,780 ordinary — 100% Freight forwarding
services
TFF R 70,521,780 EFFRIf 2 = 100% SERERS
TR
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16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16 KMIBATE (&)
Place of Nominal value of issued
incorporation  ordinary shares/preference  Percentage of attributable
or registration/ shares/paid-up capital/ equity interest held by the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
ML BROZER/BER/
A% B/ Lend CHRER/EMEAEE ARAFEEEREEDL TEXHR
Directly Indirectly
=k Gk
Transit Freight Co-ordinators Zambia Zambian Kwacha 10,000 — 50% Freight forwarding
Limited ordinary services
Transit Freight Co-ordinators Eiri 10,000 BT RREL = 50% BERERB
Limited LER
Frontier Xinda Security Consulting ~ Mainland RMB100,000,000 paid-up — 100% Investment holding and
(Beijing) Company Limited” China* capital provision of aviation
and logistics related
consultancy services
KEEEZZBRAER)BRAR  RERL AE#100,000,000 7.2 — 100% REERRREMERY
ERRER AR IR
Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Mainland US$10,000,000 registered — 100% Logistics related services
Company Limited" China* capital
£EWR(LB)BRAF H U 3 * 10,000,000 F T2 s &R = 100% WiniER R
DVN (Group) Limited British Virgin US$10 ordinary 100% — Investment holding and
Islands US$15,000,000 preference management
DVN (Group) Limited EBRAHS 1037t Li®AR & 15,000,000 100% — REZRKER
EnZBER
Data Source Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 ordinary — 100% Administrative and
management services
P RYBESHREBRAR BE 5,000,0008 7T 2 Ei@ ik = 100% TR R EBRG
Dynamic Network Limited British Virgin US$1 ordinary 100% — Investment holding and
Islands management
Dynamic Network Limited KERUEE 1 X2 EBR 100% — REERRER
Telequote Data International Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary — 100% Online financial market
Limited information services
EERERBRAF B 10,000/ 702 E MK = 100% RESRTISEN
R
* Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited * REFRBEEFMAIEBECEAREE
liability under the PRC law A
# For identification purposes only i ELE 3]
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17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 17 REBEEQATAR—REEQNTZER
VENTURE
(a) Interests in associates (a) RMEBELATZER
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
At 1 January R—HA—H 53,885 8,074
Acquisition of additional interests in Wi — KB4 A 7~ Z8SI
an associate (Note (i) W (a2 (1) — 10,289
Capital contribution to an associate [H—REE RAREE
(Note (ii)) (Ha2 (i) — 39,177
Share of losses of associates, net FEAGBSE & N R BT F R (1,225) (3,760)
Provision for impairment (Note 31)  JW{ERE (177 31) (8,693) —
Transfer to assets held-for-sale HRERENEAE
(Note 31) (Hia£31) (4,514) —
Exchange differences EHER (52) 105
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—8H 39,401 53,885
Notes: Bist

(i)

(if)

Prior to 1 January 2019, part of the loan to an associate,
Xinyang Liliang Security Consulting Company Limited
(“ISDC”), amounting to RMB9,217,000 (equivalent to
HK$10,289,000) (the “ISDC Loan”) was secured by 22%
equity interests in ISDC being held by five shareholders
(the “Five Shareholders”). On 11 November 2019,
the Group entered into an agreement with the Five
Shareholders, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
transfer such loan receivables of HK$10,289,000 to the
Five Shareholders, in exchange for their 22% equity
interests in ISDC. The transfer was completed on 20
December 2019, and since then, the Group’s equity
interest in ISDC was increased to 47%. This transaction
did not have any cash flow impact to the Group in 2019.

In July 2019, the Group, together with two independent
third parties, agreed to incorporate a company in the
Democratic Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) named
Global Pioneer Assurance S.A. (“GPA”). The Group made
a capital contribution of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$39,177,000) in return for 50% equity interest in GPA,
and the Group accounts for GPA as an associate.
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(i)

(if)

R-ZE—hFE—A—B8  EFHFELHE—K
MERREENELR)REBEMAR AR
((ERZ2HEHRRDIBEEZERARE
9,217,000 7t (18 % 1 10,289,000 7 7t ) ([ B
BR2HEERER])UEERAERE(E
ZRRDABEBRZ 2 ESREAE 2 22% Ik
EEAER - RZT—NAFE+—A+—8"
REBBRAZRR L% - Ht - AEE
B = #5 5% = FE I E 38 10,289,000 /% 7T 8 7%
FRERRE - SIREERBIR 22 3R 20k
Z222%WHE c BER T —NEFF+_A=F
AR - Bt AEBRERZ 2 EEMR
ZIRREIEINZE 47% - ZRHGN =T —NFH
AEBWEEABRESROZE -

V=
RZZE—NFELA  AEBERMEBILE
=HRERBRRELFMBE(TRIR(L) DE
it B3 —=R 2 7] Global Pioneer Assurance
S.A.([GPA]) » 7 £ [& 3t 12 GPA 2 50% %
)% & 5,000,000 7T (HHZE R 89,177,000 7
JC) * MAKEE GPAA—REEEAR]



17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTURE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interests in associates (continued)

The following list contains only particulars of principal
associate as at 31 December 2020:

Place of incorporation or

Name registration/operation
=L SE AR L SR B AR AR it B
GPA DRC

GPA AIR(£)

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in associates at 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

Summarised financial information for a material
associate

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the associate that is material to
the Group. The information disclosed reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of the
relevant associate and not the Company’s share of
those amounts. They have been amended to reflect
adjustments made by the entity when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and
modifications for differences in accounting policy.

(&)
(a) REBEATZER(E)
TRV -_ZE_TF+_A=+

—HEZBERBZFE ¢
Interest
held Principal activities
PR FEEK
50% Engaged in general
insurance business
50% RE—RIRRER

R-ZB-_ZE+_A=+—HALEFHEX
EERBERRZEEZHIARBECT
—NE &) o

(b) —REABEQARZUMBERHE

TREHREAKSEMSBER B
ERBIZHBERBEE - FIREZ
BF RRAARREE S A A Zﬁﬁ%iﬁ%
2 Z%EEHE  MAFAR

JT%THZEA%H%PJEIE%&J?%DA&

BRE R IR A AR FTIE Z S 2
BRERAABEABRLLE
BEZ1ERT

ARRE

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Non-current assets EMEEE 2,867 =

Current assets MENEE 83,894 80,324

Current liabilities mBAaE (11,846) (5,406)

Net assets BEFE 74,915 74,918
Profit/(loss) after income tax for the FEKRFEFREER,

year (&) 353 (3,009)

Total comprehensive loss FHEEBLE (3) (3,435)
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17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 17 RBELQARAR—REEQARIZER
VENTURE (continued) (#)
(b) Summarised financial information for a material (b) —REABELATAZHBEERNBRE
associate (continued) (%)
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: REEZHER
2020 2019
i —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net assets as at 1 January R—A—BZEEFE 74,918 —
Capital Injection EE — 78,353
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF,(EE) 353 (3,009)
Other comprehensive loss H 2 EEE (356) (426)
Net assets as at 31 December R+—A=+—8z2
AEFE 74,915 74,918
Group’s share in % REEREE(EDLL) 50% 50%
Group’s share in HK$'000 AEEEE(THT) 37,458 37,459
(¢) Individually immaterial associates (c) ERIEEAREERQT
In addition to the interest in an associate disclosed B ENHEERN —KES AT 2
above, the Group also has interests in a number of =N REB IR L RIEBAEDSE
individually immaterial associates that are accounted for ABEZEARIEE RS AT EAZE
using the equity method. = e
2020 2019
—B-2F —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss after income tax M FT{S Hi 18 B8 (2,651) (6,318)
Group’s share of losses for the AEEEIGEFEEE
year (1,402) (2,256)
Group’s share of other AEBEEGEMEERE
comprehensive income 126 318
Group’s share of total AEBEELEEEEIRERE
comprehensive loss (1,276) (1,938)
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17

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT

(d)

17 RBERAR-—KXEEQATA 2D

VENTURE (continued) (#)

Interest in a joint venture (d) R—REEATZERE
2020 2019
—s-®%f i
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Capital contribution to a joint M—RAEERENEE

venture (Note (i) (Htaz (i) 2,236 —
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—REERRIEE (1,253) —
At 31 December B+=A=+—8H 983 —

Note:

(i)

On 3 December 2019, the Group entered into a
shareholders’ agreement with Rainbow Sea Limited
(“RSL"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Capital Holdings Limited in relation to the establishment
of a joint venture company, Frontier Strategic Resources
Holding Ltd. (the “dV Company”). On the same date,
the Group entered into a limited partnership agreement
and the subscription agreement pursuant to which
the Group and RSL shall commit to a contribution of
US$25,000,000 each to the investment fund (the “Fund”)
managed by the JV Company and the JV Company’s
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the agreement, capital call out
of the contribution commitment was subject to the terms
and conditions as stipulated in the agreement. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had capital commitment for
investment in the fund of US$24,712,000 (equivalent to
HK$191,614,000) (31 December 2019: US$25,000,000
(equivalent to HK$194,775,000)) (Note 36(a)).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, owing to
the outbreak of COVID-19, all the investment activities
in relation to the Fund are put on hold because of
restrictions on travelling. In the opinion of the Company’s
Directors, no capital call is expected to be asked by the
Fund in the next 12 months from the date of approval of
these financial statements.

()

R-ZZB-—hFE+-_A=0 AEEEYE
BERAR(IEED (AT EEARERAR
RRIZEE2EHBAR) KA E AT
Frontier Strategic Resources Holding Ltd.
(6 AT DT BRREHE - RA - A%
BV BEREEHERRB RS - R -
R B R E K& B & 25,000,000 3% 7T
FTHEAEZARALKEMNBARMER ZRE
Ze((E2)]) BEHHE FTEREZE
INBE S HUR PR 38 FT AT BB 2 6 R R & 1 »
REZFE=ZTF+=_A=+—08 ' ~"&EE8#%#
H24,712,000% (4 F 7 191,614,000
BLIZESREZEARE(ZZT—NEF
+=H=+—8 : 25,000,000 7T (HHER
194,775,000/t ) ) (Hi7E 36(a)) °

REBE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HItEE -
HRFEATRASRIESE  FHRES A
HEEEERBER G MEE - KRABEER
7 TEEIE RSV mRELE A BB R
RI2EARESBTISERETELAEE -
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION 18 EZERIE
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when fifi 8 A E 7T HE F) 5 BN B %1 18 & /2= B Af

there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to the same tax authority. The
deferred income tax assets and liabilities after offsetting are
as follows:

MREAEHHERWEERSEHEERAR

TERE-HREERER

Al 4%

EFEPTIS R

BERBBEHE - KHIER ZBEMSH
BERAGBWT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —h&E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEITL

Deferred income tax assets BEEFSHEE 17,635 9,380
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFEHAE (32,708) (32,442)
(15,073) (23,062)

FRREMREHREEREBECRET RRER

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities

during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting ISR R R ARS8 ) 2 #Bm T
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
Deferred income tax assets EEFMEBHEE

Unrealised exchange

Total
@zt

differences
FERERER

Tax losses
HEEA

2019 2019 2019 2019

“ENF “E0E “T-hE “I-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

AT TAT FET FET TEx FET A7 FAT

At 1 January R-A-A 17,093 12,230 - — 3,591 1,558 20,684 13,788
Credited to consolidated  REARERTA

income statement 6,253 4,702 1,390 — - 2,044 7,643 6,746

Disposal of subsidiaries  HEKEAT (274) = - — (2,401) — (2,675) —

Exchange differences ~ EiZH 637 161 (34) — 89 (11) 692 150

At 31 December Wt=A=1-H 23,709 17,093 1,356 1,279 3,591 26,344 20,684
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18

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred income tax assets (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. At 31
December 2020, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of HK$57,731,000 (2019: HK$46,251,000) in
respect of unrecognised tax losses of HK$246,888,000 (2019:
HK$196,218,000) that can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable income. The unrecognised tax losses include
an amount of HK$118,512,000 (2019: HK$61,490,000) arising
from Mainland China and HK$585,000 (2019: HK$884,000)
arising from Zambia, which is due to expire within one to five
years and HK$54,056,000 (2019: HK$49,850,000) arising
from Kenya, which is due to expire within one to ten years,
respectively for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arise.

Deferred income tax liabilities

Accelerated tax

Withholding tax on
unremitted profits

ADRER 2 RAH
2019

depreciation

MERERE
2019

18

Other intangibles
HitEVEE

2019

IERERLE (47)

EEFRSREE(E)

LF)’T’E'%)%EFEMEF%%E%%IE%TEEE
R MRS AR IR B 1B LA Al iR K 2K
Féu%mmﬂ AR BN S AR - B
—E-EFA+-_A=+—H  A&EEA
AR R ERFTRA Z RERBIE
/&5 18 246,888,000 (=& — L F ¢
196,218,000/8 7t ) + M H M EE 2 KRR
EEFTS A E A57,731,0008 T( ==
— L& : 46,251,000/ L) ° RFERTIA
Eﬂ%@ﬁﬂtﬂmm&%mﬁ?izﬁ%ﬁ

2 Bl 118,512,000 7T (= T — hL 4 ¢
61,490,000 7T ) % 585,000 7 T (=F —
JLEE : 884,000 7T) - HRIEEEBEN—
ERFERER MBEDATESZKER
FiIE 518 54,056,000/8 TT( — T — L4 ¢
49,850,000 B 7)) R —ZE TF W& M -
F LR SE B BB 1B 2 A R R SR IE R B m A o

EEFEHAE

Deferred income

BERA

2019 2019 2019

k3 k3 “E-0E ZE-NE 3 k3
HK$°000| HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$’000 HK§'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEn| FEr| FEn| TAr| FEn| TEr| FEn| TEr| FEn| FEr| FEn| TEr
At 1 January R-B-H 14123 | 18,157 - 3,212 7,213 7771 20,545 | 22,833 1,805 579 43,746| 52552
Charged/(credited) to ~ REFAKER
consolidated income 1%/ (GtA)
Statement | (401) —| @0 e (e @3 (769 798| 1207| (1,667)  (8.264)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHEAF (34) - - —| (1,039 - - - - —| (1,01
Exchange differences  ERZH (712) (20) - (22) 1 — 1,190 (519). (68) 19 411 (542)
At 31 December Rt=BA=1-H 18,754 | 14123 - — 5,737 7273 19,393 | 20,545 2,533 1805| 41,417 43746
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 18 EEMIE(E)
Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) EEFBREEE)
Pursuant to the Kenyan Income Tax Act, a 10% withholding RIESELMERHZE  REEWKIY 21
tax is levied on dividends declared to non-residents from the ¥REEREIRRKREAER10%HUTE
enterprises established in Kenya. A lower withholding tax rate HemsREIIERZAZERES
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Kenya and the IR s - BIPERSIE 2B
jurisdiction of the non-residents. For the Group, the applicable Ko mAEBRME  BAMREKAE10% °
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding tax bt AREEERERREREKILZZE
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in M8~ Bl R 2 Ik 2 IR BB TEIE - =
Kenya. At 31 December 2020, the Group did not recognise T_EF+-A=1+—H AEETERHR
deferred income tax liabilities in respect of temporary KB EEMEB A RARDIKRF 14,182,000
differences relating to the withholding tax of HK$1,418,000 B L(=Z — L% : 5,898,000/ T ) Z
(2019: HK$590,000) on the unremitted profits of subsidiaries T8 1 #61,418,0007%8 T(= & — JL F ¢
in Kenya amounting to HK$14,182,000 (2019: HK$5,898,000), 590,000 % 7T ) B 8 2 E = R RIEE AT
that would be payable on the distribution of these retained IR ARGZHIERR D IRZ SR E & F R
profits, as the Company controls the dividend policy of these Y1) RARARaEFIZENB AR 2
subsidiaries and it is probable that these profits will not be IR EEGR - B2 % F 4RI 78 R 2k Al g
distributed in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the related TEETHIR - At HEATREZFT
temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be AR &SRB B W& R o
taxable in the foreseeable future.
19 NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS 19 SEENEAFAM R
2020 2019
—BCER “B-NE
Engine Other Engine Other
overhaul deposits overhaul deposits Total
k233 Hitiz ¢ SIER Hivize EH)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January R-A—H 31,784 22,372 54,156 27,690 24,853 52,543
Additions NE 6,154 - 6,154 4,126 — 4,126
Charged to consolidated income  R&AUFE RN
statement (4,564) — (4,564) - = =
Transfer to current prepayment S ZENEAE R 2 — — — — (1,917) (1,917)
Exchange differences B 28 (2,220) 1,391 (829) (32) (564) (596)
At 31 December Rt=A=t-R 31,154 23,763 54,917 31,784 22,372 54,156

The non-current prepayments for engine overhaul represent
the engine overhaul cost prepaid to aircraft manufacturers but
the engines are not yet overhauled and are not expected to
be utilised within twelve months after the reporting period.
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19

20

NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS (continued) 19 JEENHAFAGI R (&)
On 3 November 2017, the Group entered into an agreement RZE—+tFE+—HA=H KEET—
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase a land- i Bt AEEREUBESKEA
use-right, which is located outside Hong Kong, for a R ¥ 30,000,000 7t (FH 2 1A 35,645,000 78
cash consideration of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to 7_5)H&Z,ﬂ%ﬁﬁé%ﬁ;‘%iﬁﬁl\ZiiﬁﬁﬁH%° ~®
HK$35,645,000). The consideration will be settled in three EBEEE LB TR =8EHE -
instalments according to the stage of completion of the land. E-TF+-_fF=+—8" K%@ES‘ZH
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has made two instalments M EAFIE A £ A R % 20,000,000 7T (HZE
amounted to RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$23,763,000) 723,763,000 T)(ZE—hLF: AR
(2019: RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,372,000)), and # 20,000,000 7T(#H % 7 22,372,000/8
such payment was recorded as non-current prepayment in the J))  MZET /T%\EIE/\\NT\/\ B 75 AR R &R
consolidated statement of financial position. On 13 January ek AJERIETEN R - R = —F—
2021, the purchase of land-use-right was completed upon the A+=8" Hﬁlﬁ%iiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ &
payment of final instalment of purchase price amounted to —HiBE B {8 A R# 10,000,000 7T (18 5 7
RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$11,882,000) (Note 36(a)). 11,882,000 7 7T, ) & FE K (Fif7F 36(a)) °
INVENTORIES 20 F&
2020 2019
—EBCEE —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET F&T
Aircraft spare parts and consumables FRHEEZ 2044 [ 741 9,166 9,966
Packaging materials BEDE 568 703
9,734 10,669
Less: Provision for inventories R FERE (6,518) (5,486)
3,216 5,183
During the year ended 31 December 2020, provisions for HE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—HILFE"
inventories amounting to HK$887,000 (2019: HK$1,456,000) ﬁ%m%?%#&%ﬁﬁ 5 1% 887,000
on obsolete aircraft spare parts and consumables and BIL(ZZF— L : 1,456,000 7T) X B8
HK$145,000 (2019: Nil) on packaging materials were 2 Wk B 145,0008 T(—Z T — N 4F
recognised in other operating expenses in the consolidated mIENGEeaRkz EMEEERANE
income statement. R o
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 BEFEWREREREE
2019
—FNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables from contracts with REEBFA#ZE 5 EKRZIE
customers 147,170 265,469
Bills receivable FEW R & 24,927 —
172,097 265,469
Less: loss allowance R BEERE (16,637) (13,882)
155,460 251,587
The fair values of trade and bills receivables approximate their BoEWZIENEREZE 7 AR BEER
carrying amounts. REEMES °
Credit terms of one to three months from invoice date are AEB-—REFTTIEEFEEZHLE—Z
generally granted to major customers. The Group seeks to —EAAZEEH - REB &S RKIZEH
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. The HEAWBZEKZE AEFBHERPE
Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers BEETEREDS  WKFHERFEM/(N
and makes frequent contact with its customers, if necessary. EE) o
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21

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade

21

BEZRBREREBRRE(2)

REBRRAKA - BRERKFIRZREK D

receivables as at the date of statement of financial position is M(ERBEZEE)WT :
as follows:

2020 2019
—BCEE —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Within 1 month —EAR 55,809 73,576
1 - 2 months —Z=/REA 33,154 28,048
2 — 3 months 2 =& A 6,814 11,934
Over 3 months BiE=18A 51,393 151,911
147,170 265,469

As at 31 December 2020, aging analysis of bills receivable
based on the bills receiving date is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 - 2 months
2 — 3 months
Over 3 months

—fEAAR
—EMmEHA
M= =16 A

HaiE =& A

RZZE_ZE+_A=1+—0 EKEE

ZIRER DT (ERRBREIBEH) AT

2020
—ECEHF

HK$’000
TET

2,970
7,129
3,922
10,906

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FAET

24,927
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 ESRWFEREREEZ)

AEBEZE S RYGAR KRR 2 RE
BT EREEHE :

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
—B-FF —EAfF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEITL
Us$ = 59,209 53,872
RMB AR 49,138 34,540
ZAR EZES; k5 49,805 62,384
EUR BX 7T — 92,337
KES BREELS 4,085 2,086
Others HAth 9,860 20,250
172,097 265,469

The Group transferred certain bank’s acceptance bills NREBER _E-_FEF+_-_A=+—H&E

amounting to RMB11,900,000 (equivalent to HK$14,139,000)
with recourse in exchange for cash as at 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil). The transactions have been accounted for as
collateralised bank borrowings (Note 26).

BETHEREZRTALZEARE
11,900,000 7t (#8 % 7 14,139,000 7% Jt )
(ZE—heE: 8) UBEES  ZEX
SEEABBREITERYER (M 26) -

RBEHR EERRZESEES LM
BHRUARBRER 2 AAEE -

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the fair value of trade and bills receivables
mentioned above.

Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as

BHRMGAZBRREBESHIT

follows:
2020 2019
—E=%F —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 January Hn—HA—H 13,882 4,453
Additions NE 14,266 9,429
Disposal of subsidiaries LEHERA A (11,511) —
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—H 16,637 13,882

174 Frontier Services Group Limited st ZARTE =B AR A



IR

22

B BHRRMEE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

22

AR BERHEtERRE

2020 2019

—B=-%F —FTNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deposits and other receivables Ee & H AR EIE 89,909 70,611
Amounts due from associates JE Ui Bt i X R) 5RI8 12,064 10,231
Loan to an associate M —REEE R BREE R — 2,344
Prepayments SEENEN 33,426 50,055
Interest receivables FE U B — 9,296
Value-added tax receivables FEYIE BT 3,056 4,017
138,455 146,554

Less: loss allowance i EE R (27,970) (27,970)
110,485 118,584

The loan to an associate and amounts due from associates
are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The fair values of deposits and other receivables approximate
their carrying amounts.

Movements in the loss allowance of certain deposits and other
receivables, which were financial assets, are as follows:

HE—_Z_ZTFR_FT—NLF+=ZA
=t+—HIEFE R—X#EAaREZ
B R K R YR N B FRIE I A BT A A B R
BIRESR(EE -

R PHEMERFBAZAAEEREKE
% -

ETRLEMEEFB(BEREE)Z

2020 2019

i —FNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 January n—HBA—H 27,970 23,113
Additions NE — 4,857
At 31 December R+t=-—A=+—8H 27,970 27,970
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23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23 BRERBITERE
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Restricted cash (Note (i) SR B3R & (M (1)) — 7,090
Pledged bank deposits (Note 26) B RIRITIF R (M7 26) — 104,936
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFEES 134,670 107,469
Bank deposits with original REEAB=EAIAT
maturities of three months or less ZIRITIFER 184,011 246,034
318,681 353,503
Total cash and bank balances e RIBITEGFETE 318,681 465,529
Maximum exposure to credit risk FEERBRZZEEE 310,367 460,272
Note: et -
(i) As at 31 December 2019, the restricted cash represented (i) RZF—AFE+—A=+—8 ' R\

deposits placed at a bank in Malta (“Maltese Bank”) by a
subsidiary incorporated in Malta. All deposits kept by that
Maltese Bank were frozen by the local financial authority after
an investigation was carried out by that local financial authority
on customer acceptance procedures. The entire amount of the
deposits has been released and collected by that subsidiary in
Malta during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Pledged bank deposits and short-term
bank deposits earn interest at the respective deposit rates.
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23

24

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 23 BHERBITEFE)
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are ReRRITETZREABENLTIE®E T
denominated in the following currencies: & :
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
RMB AR 119,833 128,032
Uss$ ETT 151,797 291,404
HK$ BT 14,353 7,216
EUR BT 3,289 21,325
ZAR FE FERR A 9,752 4,983
KES sREES 12,009 573
Others Hifth 7,648 11,996
318,681 465,529
The cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in REBUAREAEZE S METEFET
RMB are not freely convertible into other currencies. However, ATEEME®E AR A BIESP
under PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and INEE AR MERE SERMESIER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign T AREEEAERER S RERERET
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange INEFTS ZRITIEARE KR AHMER o
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business in the PRC.
The fair values of all bank balances approximate their carrying FERTEFZ AR BERARTENRES -
amounts.
TRADE PAYABLES 24 EBFZENSNE

An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade

RIMERR - BHRNRBZ RE DT (E

payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: REBEEFH)MAT :
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 month —@AA 32,409 38,330
1 - 2 months —Z=/MEA 14,134 10,967
2 — 3 months ME=1EAH 4,908 6,059
Over 3 months HBiE=18A 8,772 25,949
60,223 81,305
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24 TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 24 EZRNREE)
The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in E S EMNFRIE 2 BREENA T E¥EEHE
the following currencies:
2020 2019
—EBEF —Z-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
EUR BX T — 16,125
ZAR FER kS 37,279 31,472
uss$ ET 13,422 21,986
KES BREAS 371 415
HK$ BIT 52 43
Others HApb 9,099 11,264
60,223 81,305
The fair values of trade payables approximate their carrying BoREMNFTE AL BEREEREMRS °
amounts.
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HttENRERETEA
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Accrued expenses for aircraft TS 2 FEsHE A
operations — 79,711
Amount due to an associate (Note (ii)) FEff—ZRBEE N TIZRIE (H152 (i) 38,770 =
Other accrued expenses HibEstE A 25,640 24,682
Investment payables (Note (i) ®E S SRIE (AT 2E (i) 6,979 7,012
Deposits received BIEE 187 5,510
Others Hit 19,436 21,201
91,012 138,116
Notes: Wit
(i) At 31 December 2020, the investment payables include the (i) REZZ_ZTF+_A=+—8 " BEEHFR
consideration payable to Chinese Online Corporation Limited, BREEMNEXERERAT(AEER Y —
an associate of the Group, of US$900,000 (equivalent to REE & A RE]) 2 A {E900,000E T (FHERL
approximately HK$6,979,000) (2019: US$900,000 (equivalent to 6,979,000 7T ) (= — AL £ : 900,000
HK$7,012,000)). TT(FEFRA7,012,000%7T)) °
(i)~ The amount due to an associate is non-interest-bearing and (ii) HE-_Z-_TF+_-_A=t+—HILFE &
repayable on demand during the year ended 31 December 2020 it — KRB & N F FRIB N S A R B R B B
(2019: Nil). RER(ZZE—NF : §) -
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BORROWINGS BX
2019
—FNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Bank loans and bank advances for WITERRITBEEZERRITRR

discounted bills 18,443 4,172
Other loan HEMER — 340
Total borrowings BERaass 18,443 4,512

As at 31 December 2019, loan arrangement fee of
HK$765,000 were included in other receivables and will
be amortised over the term of the facility in consolidated
income statement. As at 31 December 2019, a deposit of
RMB94,000,000 (equivalent to HK$104,936,000) was pledged
for the facility. The facility was expired during the year ended
31 December 2020. Accordingly, the pledged bank deposit
was released as at 31 December 2020. No drawdown of the
facility was made by the Group as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

The fair values of the borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts.

(a) Bank Loans and Bank Advances for Discounted Bills

The bank loans and bank advances for discounted bills
are repayable as follows:

R-ZE—NE+-_A=+—8 EXZH
% F 765,000 % 7T 5 51 A E i FE UL 5RIE
WS IE B E F HR AR B e = NEESH -
—E-AF+-A=+—0 B2 ARK
94,000,000 7T (#5557 104,936,0007% 7t )
EEARMEZER - ZEMEEREEC
T_RFEF_A=+—HIFEE® &
It BERIFRITERER T _TF+=
A=+—H@EKk RZZ_ZFRER_-Z
—hE+-A=+—H8  ANEBLEIRR
A& o

BERZAnBEEREEERS

(a) BITERRTERBRTEN

FAERRFREBRRTBREE
o :

2020 2019

—E-EF —T—NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 year —FRN 18,443 4172
Bank loans and bank advances for $R{TE R MIFTEEZHFIEIT
discounted bills denominated in: BHRA TS EBHIE :

ZAR EEE kS 4,304 4,172

RMB AR 14,139 —

18,443 4172
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26 BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank Loans and Bank Advances for Discounted Bills
(continued)

(a)

The bank loans of HK$4,304,000 (2019: HK$4,172,000)
are denominated in ZAR, which bear interests with
reference to South African Prime Rate ranging from
7% to 10% per annum and are repayable 3 months
after the respective drawdown dates. At 31 December
2020, these bank loans are secured by certain
trade receivables of ZAR64,161,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$34,012,000) (2019: ZAR65,991,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$36,592,000))
and are guaranteed by an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company to the maximum extent
of ZAR14,000,000(equivalent to approximately
HK$7,421,000) (2019: ZAR14,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,763,000)).

Bank advances for discounted bills, amounted to
HK$14,139,000 (2019: Nil), with recourse have been
accounted for as collateralised bank advances. The
discounted bank’s acceptance bills and the related
proceeds of the same amount are included in the
Group’s trade and bills receivables (Note 21) and short-
term borrowings respectively at the end of the reporting
period.

(b) Other Loan (b)

The other loan is repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FA

26 E?FA(%

TERRFTARBERITRNRE)

LEFEBERIEBEZRITE
4,304,000 (= & — N i
41720008 L) I EIERERE
RERBNF7%E10%:H 8 B
REBIRNAHE=ZFEAEE-
R-ZT-—ZTE+-_F=+—81"
az%ﬁ! EZxHRETESEK
X TH64,161,000/ JE B HF(HE &
#%@34012000,%7z)(_ — N
£ : 65,991,000 3k B H(HH F RN
#936,592,0007% 7T ) ) {EH i & i K
ARAIZ—ZXEE2EHEAFRE
?;14000000@#%%(*@%%

437,421,000 T)(ZF — N F ¢
14,000,000 7 3F BS CH(*E ERH
7,763,0007870) ) Z &R ©
MERBEZITREEFEITER
14,319,000 B L (=& — L F : #&)
EEABEMMRITRARIIE - 38
RITEAREERRSE iﬁZﬁ%%

BRBERRE RS B BIEER
EEE 5 EKEIE M EKREE (M E
21) REHERA -

HEX
HEREBMT
2019
—N&F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT T
— 340

The other loan is denominated in EUR, unsecured and
bears interest at the rate of 10% per annum (2019: 10%
per annum).

(c) Effective Interest Rates (c)

The effective annual interest rates incurred on
borrowings are as follows:

Bank loans and bank advances for $R{TEZR MITHEZHE
discounted bills ﬁETT%M
Other loan HiER

HMERABRTAHE - BER R
i%u?m%(_% NEF FRE
10%)&H & °

BERFR
ERELNBERENEMT :

2019
—E-NF

3.60%-10%
N/ATERA

10.25%-10.50%
10.00%
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26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 B (&)
REEBHELEE
MEEBELE2BEHERNOT :

(d) Liabilities Arising From Financing Activities (d)

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities is as follows:

Bank loans
and bank
advances for
discounted Lease
bills liabilities Other loan
BRITERR
TRRE
BITRK HEAR Hit &R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R=B-hE-A—8 - 116,258 438 116,696
Changes from financing cash flows: BERELR2EE :
Net drawdown of bank loan RERITERHE 4,083 — — 4,083
Repayment of other loan BEEMER — — (88) (88)
Repayment of principal elements of ~ EEMEEE 2 AL HH
lease liabilities - (37,157) - (37,157)
Total changes from financing cash BEREMEEY
flows 4,083 (37,157) (88) (33,162)
Other changes Hin 2 s
Recognition of lease liabilities REEEE — 33,899 — 33,899
Foreign exchange differences ERESE 89 (1,336) (10) (1,257)
Total other changes HitZ8EE 89 32,563 (10) 32,642
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hFE+=A=+—-H 4,172 111,664 340 116,176
At 1 January 2020 RZZZBF-F—H 4,172 111,664 340 116,176
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERLF2EF :
Net drawdown of bank loans RRBTERRNREE
and bank advances for ROIBHFE
discounted bills 14,421 — — 14,421
Repayment of other loan BEEMER - - (134) (134)
Repayment of principal elements of ~ EEBEREZ A&7
lease liabilities — (26,668) — (26,668)
Total changes from financing cash RMERE R BT
flows 14,421 (26,668) (134) (12,381)
Other changes Hit 28
Recognition of lease liabilities REEERE - 24,919 - 24,919
Disposal of subsidiaries HE B A ) — - (227) (227)
Foreign exchange differences ERERE (150) (3,895) 21 (4,024)
Total other changes Hin#ges (150) 21,024 (206) 20,668
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZF+-A=1—-H 18,443 106,020 — 124,463
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27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 27 REHNESZEWMIA

2020 2019

—B=-%F —FTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Financial assets at amortised cost REEKATEREZ SRMEE

Trade and bills receivables B 5 MR IE K R E IR
(Note 21) (Kt 21) 155,460 251,587
Deposits and other receivables B K& H W IE 74,003 64,512
Cash and bank balances (Note 23) Re RIBITETT (B3 23) 318,681 465,529
548,144 781,628
FVOCI RARnBESBEMEE KSR 4 4
548,148 781,632

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IREEHKATIEREZ SR EE
Trade payables (Note 24) B S N RIE (K177 24) 60,223 81,305
Other payables and accruals Hib B RIE R IERTE A 90,825 132,606
Borrowings (Note 26) B (K52 26) 18,443 4,512
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEBRBNZE14) 106,020 111,664
275,511 330,087

28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 R#&

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BRO.10EBTZEER

Number of shares HK$'000
& & B FETT
Authorised EE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+=ZA=+—H 3,000,000,000 300,000
Addition iz 3,000,000,000 300,000
At 31 December 2020 R=ZE=_TF+=-_A=+—H 6,000,000,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid EBRTREHZ
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 RZE-—NER_ZT_FTF
+=—A=+—8 2,344,818,660 234,482
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28

29

B BHRRMEE

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The authorised share capital of the Company has been
increased from HK$300,000,000 divided into 3,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each (the “Shares”) to HK$600,000,000
divided into 6,000,000,000 Shares by the creation of an
additional 3,000,000,000 Shares, all of which will rank pari
passu with all existing shares of the Company. The increase in
authorised share capital was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting of the Company
by way of a special resolution on 17 September 2020..

SHARE OPTIONS
Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 28 March 2012. The Scheme continues to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants
(as defined in the Scheme) to the Group. The Scheme is also
designed to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 28 March 2012, the date of the approval
of the Scheme. Subscription price in relation to each option
pursuant to the Scheme shall not be less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date on which the
option is offered to an Eligible Participant; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. The options are exercisable within the option period
as determined by the Board of the Company.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company can grant options to
Eligible Participants for a consideration of HK$1 for each grant
payable by the Eligible Participants to the Company. The total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to each Eligible Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any twelve-
month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares then in issue.

28

29

RA& ()

3% 38 1% 2% 58 91 3,000,000,000 f% B% 13 12 A1
RNR A ZEFERA + B 300,000,0005% 7T
% 43,000,000,000% & A% @ {E0.107%8
TL 2 B m (T8 1) 3 11 % 600,000,000 7%
7T 9 6,000,000,000 & f% 15+ & 2514 ER
ARABFTEREBRGEERSEHAL - S5 E
BAENMBEARGBRER=ZZ=_FF N A
THERERRREFRAS ELARRIRERA
R o

B
BRI Rt &

MR-ZTE——FE=A=+/N\B ' AQAEH
—IEBRETEI([HEL) - ;T EEES T
RRAGER2EHE(ERERFAE)HEAE
B{EL 2 BB o T8N B TR IR (22 B K2 %
PAKEGRBEEFREERBEEZES -

A EEEMAZBE - —Z—F=A
Zt+N\BRAEXRBEAE10F - SEBRET
IR s SEREZABETHER T
BeE: (\NEER2HEERTRKREY
AR T ARERHS 2 ROUTE
(NBERHAPIAESXBBIMEHE
RERES 2RO FHRTE R (ii) i
HHEE - BRERLTARIEZCETZE
AR AT FIT1E -

RIEE - AARAAAER2EERH
B SHEREZREARIBIT @
BEBRZBEEINTART - AEM+=
B8 ERTFEAEREEE ZBER
H(BEDITE - Bt R ARITE Z B
T ETERERITRE TRET 2R A
TRBBREREEITRMDZ1% -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held on 10 June 2019, a new scheme
mandate limit was refreshed, which allowed the Company to
grant 234,481,866 options, representing 10% of the Shares
in issue as at 10 June 2019. During the year ended 31
December 2020, no share options were granted under the
Scheme (2019: 23,448,186 share options were granted). At
the end of the reporting period, the total number of options
that can be granted was 234,481,866 (2019: 211,033,680).

Movements in the number of outstanding share options
and their related weighted average exercise prices were as
follows:
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BERAARNE-_ZE—NFATHE
TZRERAFRS LBRAZRZE I
TEIRERECEEHN  EAARES
234,481,866 fEk#E - HER =T — N
FRATHEZETRMZ10% - REEZ
E_ZTE+_A=Z1+—HIEE ' AQA
WERIRT B L ERE( T —NF &
i 23,448,186 (7 B AR ) - MR EHIR -
AR 2 B I B 25 234,481,866 19 (=
T— 4 : 211,033,68017) °
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2020 2019
—B-EF —ZE-NEF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price Number of price Number of
per share options per share options
=3k TR e
FHTHEE  BRERE BERERARACE e EE
HK$ HK$
ET T
At 1 January m—H—H 1.130 76,039,276 1.272 64,886,120
Granted B — — 0.800 23,448,186
Exercised [RERELS — — — —
Lapsed B AR 1.170 (4,360,000) 1.254 (12,295,030)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 1.127 71,679,276 1.130 76,039,276
Out of the 71,679,276 outstanding options as at 31 December RNR—_ETE_ETF+=A=+—8"

2020 (2019: 76,039,276), 71,679,276 options were exercisable
(2019: 52,591,090). During the year ended 31 December
2020, no share options were exercised (2019: Nil) and
4,360,000 share options were lapsed (2019: 12,295,030).
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period

29 BEREE)
AR B (E)
PSR4 HA TR SR AT RS AR AR 2 B B B 2 AT

have the following expiry dates and exercise prices: fEET :
Exercise price
per share Number of options
BRITHEE BREHE
HK$ 2020 2019
BT —B=%F —TNF
Expiry date Z|H8 A
7 April 2020 —E-TFMALH 0.970 — 2,800,000
17 September 2020 —EZZFNA+ER 1.530 — 1,560,000
21 August 2021 2 \A=Z+—H 1.100 12,337,030 12,337,030
23 August 2022 —E-_FA\A=Z+=H 1.410 14,497,030 14,497,030
26 August 2023 2=/ \A=+RH 1.310 21,397,030 21,397,030
29 August 2024 —E-WFENAZTNHB 0.800 23,448,186 23,448,186
71,679,276 76,039,276
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 BEREE)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BREE(E)
The details of movements of the outstanding share options HMATHEZERERFRZEEBFIBN
during the year are as follows: T
Weighted
Options Options Options Outstanding average
Outstanding granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
options at during during during 31 December  before dates of
1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020 exercise
RZ%Z%%
RZB-%E tZA=1-A RTERA
-A-H FREL R EAPR BARITE ZIETH
HATEZERE LBRE ZBRE ZBRE ZBRE LGl
HK$
AT
The Scheme it
Date of grant RiLAH 8 April 2014
“E-mERANA
Exercise price per option ShBRENFEE HK$0.970
0.970%1
Exercise period fifed 8 April 2015 -
7 April 2020
“E-REMANRE
“ECTEMALA
Held by a director H-%ESKE
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry £k 1,400,000 - - (1,400,000) =
Held by an employee B-2EERE 1,400,000 - - (1,400,000) =
In aggregate &g 2,800,000 - - (2,800,000) - -
Date of grant KBS 18 September 2014
“E-mERRTR
Exercise price per option BhERETRE HK$1.530
1530
Exercise period i 18 September 2015 -
17 September 2020

“E-1£nA+/\AZ
ZEZTENATEA
Held by a service provider M- %% 780,000 - - (780,000) — -
HESEE

186 Frontier Services Group Limited st L RIS =B AR A 7



29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

29 BEREE)

Share Option Schemes (continued) B EsTE (&)
Weighted
Options Options Options Outstanding average
Outstanding granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
options at during during during 31 December  before dates of
1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020 exercise
RZ%-%%
R=B=%F tZA=1-A RTERA
-A-H FREL R ERER WAL ZIMERH
HATEZBRE ZBRE ZBHE ZERE ZBRE W
HKS
AT
Date of grant RiLAH 24 September 2014
Z2-MEAAZTHE
Exercise price per option ShBRENFEE HK$1.530
15307
Exercise period GiiE] 18 September 2015 -
17 September 2020
ZE-RENATNRE
“E-RENATLA
Held by a service provider  H—%% 780,000 - - (780,000) = =
HtEEEE
Date of grant RAH 22 August 2016
Z2-"E\AZTZR
Exercise price per option ShBRENREE HK$1.100
110037
Exercise period ffed 22 August 2017 -
21 August 2021
“TE\ACTZHE
“2-§\A-t-H
Held by a director H-£2E2HE
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-ft 12,337,030 - - - 12,337,030 =
Date of grant RiAH 24 August 2017
ZE-tFNAZTRA
Exercise price per option ShBRENRE HK$1.410
1410%7
Exercise period ffed 24 August 2018 -
23 August 2022
ZE-NFNAZTMRZE
“2-CE\ACt=H
Held by a director H-2E2HE
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-ft 14,497,030 - - - 14,497,030 =

Annual Report 2020 4 R}
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 BEREE)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BREE(E)
Weighted
Options Options Options Outstanding average
Outstanding granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
options at during during during 31 December  before dates of
1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020 exercise
it 2
RZB=%F t=A=+-8B RTERA
-A-A ERRH ERTE RN WA TS
HATEZBRE LRHE ZHRE IR IR K
HK$
AT
Date of grant RILAH 27 August 2018
“E-NENRZTtA
Exercise price per option BRHERETREE HK$1.310
131087
Exercise period 18 27 August 2019 -
26 August 2023
Z2-NE\AZTLEE
ZEZ=ENRZTAR
Held by a director B-%EEEE
Dr. Hua Dongyi 2R+ 21,397,030 = = = 21,397,030 =
Date of grant RiLAH 30 August 2019
ZE-NENA=TH
Exercise price per option BREREFE HK$0.800
0.80077
Exercise period Gt 30 August 2020 -
29 August 2024
Z3-RF/\A=TRZ
Z2oRENAZTAR
Held by a director H-%ESHE
Dr. Hua Dongyi EE-f81 23,448,186 = = = 23,448,186 =
Employee benefit expenses arising from options issued under FRNEEE S BER LS & RITHER
employee option plan during the year were HK$6,106,000 EELZEBRBANFEX A6,106,0005% 7T
(2019: HK$12,169,000) (Note 7). (Z=— N4 : 12,169,000 7T ) (FizE7) ©
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31

SHARE AWARD SCHEME 30 RRipEBETE
The Company has adopted a share award scheme on 10 VIN/N —RF+ZA+HHEMN—
December 2015. The share award scheme does not constitute IEHXT’J} ﬁ%ﬁb JriU MEMBRANFI7TEM
a share option scheme for the purpose of Chapter 17 of the = Hxﬁ}ﬁ@]nJFEUJITTﬁWE%HXFE?FEU
Listing Rules. The purposes and objectives of the share award BROZEFEZCENRREDNAREEE
scheme are to recognise the contributions by Eligible Persons BAL(EERBRGOERTE)MEZE
(as defined in the share award scheme) and to provide BR WA TREABEZZEATARNER
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual CREBEEBRERMS  MAAEBEZE
operation and development of the Group and to attract —HERWSIAL °
personnel for further development of the Group.
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no REBEE T _ZTER_ZFT—NLF+_-A
share was granted to any Eligible Persons under the share == EIJtEF I SEAR IR AR 17 22 B 5t 2
award scheme. RERE &R A TR LD ©
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no REBEEZZE_EFR=_F—NF+=A
share of the Company was acquired by the trustee of the == Elﬂ:ﬁr Hﬂﬁﬁﬁbé‘l'i'Zﬁ%%/\
share award scheme. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no WERBEARRZRG - RZTE_TFR
share was vested to any Eligible Person and no share of the —T-NF+ZA=+—8 ERHH
Company was held in trust for the share award scheme by the BYTEAEERAL  BROZEFEZR
trustee of the share award scheme. TEABELARDREFEIRL ZE5EA
AFEARAFRG ©
No expenses arising from share award scheme was REBEEZZ_ZEFR-_ZF-NF+=A
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2020 and =+—HIEFE  WERNDEBTEES
2019 as part of employee benefit expenses. AT HERAREERMAS 2 —31D -
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE 31 BHELHEEE
2020 2019
SE-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Assets held-for-sale FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment MIE - R R
(Note 13) (Hiat 13) — 6,209
Interest in an associate (Note (i) —REE R B 2w (KT (1) 4,514 —
Loan to an associate (Note (i) M —KEE R AR EE R (A2 (1)) 5,585 =
10,099 6,209
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e MR M A

31 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (continued) 31 BEHEEES)
Note: Wiz -
(i) On 8 December 2020, the Group entered into an equity (i) R-ZE-TF+_ANA AEFREEEZ
repurchase agreement with an existing shareholder of ISDC (the 2HFER—ERAERR((EBRZ2HEHS
“ISDC Buyer”) to dispose of its 47% equity interests in ISDC of BRES DI —HRERE R UWHEH
HK$13,207,000 and the assignment of remaining loan to ISDC of RBIR 2 2 [H R8T 2 47% B&4E 13,207,000
HK$5,585,000 at an aggregate consideration of RMB8,500,000 BTN EEHNARERTRE L2 EH 2R
(equivalent to HK$10,099,000) (the “ISDC Disposal”’). The 5,585,000/8 7T, + AR ER AR 8,500,000
carrying amounts of the interest in the associate was written T (F% A 10,099,000/ 7T) ([ BB = 2B &
down from HK$13,207,000 to HK$4,514,000, such that it was BRHESE]) - NEBRBE AR 2R
measured at lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less 8 T & B 13,207,000 7 7T #UR = 4,514,000
costs to sell. The recoverable amount of the interest in ISDC B FHURERAER A BERL SRR
of HK$4,514,000 was reclassified from non-current assets to ZRIEEE c REBRLZE2MESMR 2 Ex
assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2020 and an impairment Z A Y £ 54,514,000 B TR -_E-_FF
provision against the Group’s interests in ISDC of HK$8,693,000 +-—A=1+—HAFRDEEEHNHER
was set aside as at 31 December 2020. The ISDC Disposal BEHEERE WENR_ZE-_ZTF+_A8
is expected to be completed on 8 December 2021 upon the =+ —ARAIEERERZEME SR 2
receipt of the aggregate consideration. I aT BB B B 18 8,693,000/ 7T © BIR & &
B T 20 & FIEFE H IS IR B R B R R
—E-—F+-ANHEK -
32 RESERVES 32 f#fE
Equity  Share-based
Share  Contributed Exchange General instrument  compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
WAz
RiraE il BN R —REE  ERIARE  /REGRRE 2iERE 3t
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT AT FAT AT AT AT AT
Motef)  (Noefi)  (Notefil)  (Mole(i)  (Nole(s)  (Note(vi)
(i) e ) (Bsy) Wil (Wtw)
At 1 January 2019 R=F-7E-A-R 1,423,768 628,235 (17.682) 13,088 (6,963) 21953 (1288,273) 830,126
Loss for the year FEFE - - - - = = (354,793) (354,793)
Other comprehensive loss A2 ERE
Foreign exchange differences EREE - - (3,246) - - - - (3,246)
Other comprehensive logs for EREMRERR(RRE)
the year, net of tax - - (3,246) - - - - (3,246)
Total comprehensive loss for the year £E2ABEAE = = (3,246) = = = (354,793) (358,039)
Transactions with equity holders ~ BERRAAZRS
Share-based compensation WRI R %E - - - - - 12,169 = 12,169
Lapse of share options BREXR - - - = = (3,258) 3258 =
— - — - — 8,911 3,258 12,169
At 31 December 2019 RoB-RETRTt-R 142768 628255 (09%8) 13088 (6963 3684  (1569808) 484256
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32 RESERVES (continued)

32 R

Equity  Share-based
Share  Contributed Exchange General instrument  compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses
WRHRA 2
e B4R EXRH -kik  BHIEER filRE 2R
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
A1 -2 AT -2 -2 FAT 22 -2
(Note (1) (Note (ii)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iv)) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
() (W) (W) (W) () (W)
At1 January 2020 Hog-%6-5-A BT 685 (20.928) 13,088 (6983 WO (1900808 484256
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (228,029) (228,029)
Qther comprefiensive income Ap2ERA
Foreign exchange differences EfzE - - 3,207 - - - - 3,207
Releases of exchange resene upon — RHENEATRERER
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) REMEH) - - 1,591 - - - - 1,591
Other comprefensive income EREMRANARAE)
for the year, net of tax - - 4,888 - - - - 4,888
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EE2ASELE - - 4,888 - - - (228,029) (223,141)
Transactions with equity holders EERRAALRG
Share-based compensation WEGEHZHE - - - - - 6,106 - 6,106
Lapse of share options ERERH - - - - - (2,490) 2,490 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HERERR W) - - - - 6,963 - - 6,963
- - - - 6,963 3,616 2,490 13,069
At 31 December 2020 H-2-2E+-AZt-B 1,423,768 £28,2%5 (16,040 13,088 - 040 (1M ie
Notes: Hiat -
(i) The application of the share premium account is governed by (i) B HEBER ERATAREE—N/N\—EAT
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. SEZER o
(ii) The contributed surplus of the Group arose from a scheme of (i) AREFZEHBBLTIA—BR—ANANLET

arrangement on 31 October 1989 and capital reorganisations
on 2 November 2001 and 18 December 2007. Pursuant to the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a company incorporated
in Bermuda is not permitted to pay dividends or make a
distribution out of the contributed surplus if there are reasonable
grounds for believing that the company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
or the recognised value of the company’s assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium accounts.

A=+ —BZRE 8RN =TT —F+—
AZHM=—ZTLE+-A+N\HZELRE
HAMEE - BEARE-NAN—FREE -
RBREFEMAILZ A BE TARERTTE
IRERSREBEFBRTIELRDIK - AR
HWIEHBEARARNNKER SR EHA
BERBEEERNET : HAMAREEZD

RESTHELENEARE ERTRARK
DBl B -
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32 RESERVES (continued) 32
Notes: (continued)

(iiiy  The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

(iv)  In accordance with the PRC regulations, each of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries is required to transfer not less than 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
accounting standards and regulations, to the general reserve
until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The
quantum of the annual transfer is subject to the approval of the
board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with
their articles of association.

(v) The equity instrument reserve represents the fair value of
the right derived from the symmetrical put and call option
agreement amounted to HK$6,963,000 (2019: HK$6,963,000)
signed by FSL on 3 February 2016 to purchase the remaining
49% equity interest in Maleth at an option price ranging
between EUR1,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,732,000) and
EUR10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$87,315,000) from 6 July 2020
onward. The respective liability was recorded in other payables
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Pursuant
to the disposal agreement signed on 15 December 2020, the
symmetrical put and call option was terminated (Note 34).

(vi)  The share-based compensation reserve represents the fair
value of the unexercised share options granted under the
Company’s share option schemes and the fair value of the share
award granted under the Company’s share award scheme to
the eligible participants recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.23(b).

R

Bt -

(iif)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(%)

R B RERBIEGHBIRRAEES
ZRIAERZR - ZRETIRIRM 2.6 A7
P& BEREE -

RBHEDER - NEEZHEMEABAR
DR 10% 2 B B 184 7 (G 7 B & &+ 2 A
MERER)BRE-—RFER EEZRFEZ
RAEEZMEARZ50% Bk - GFEERZ
HRBARAAZTRMNERAR < EFGRRE
HAMSRAERHLAE -

BETARBREAFSLR=_Z—~4¥_A
=B VEBRE KRB HEREAEE =
T T FE+ A7 BN T 1,000,000 BT
(#8 % 748,732,000 7T ) = 10,000,000 BX
JC(AE %174 87,315,00058 7T ) 2 [ < HAH#EE
Uz & Maleth £ T~ 49% A% 7 1 o5 2 A& 2 1 7
22 H {E1E6,963,000/8 T(Z T — 4 :
6,963,000/ 7T ) © A W& BERERE B 15k
MRS BEAMENTIE - BIER T _TF
TZATEBEFIZEERS - HERER
REEEAREE RIE (M 34) -

VAR A7 32 A5 2 488 18 1 15 45 1R PR BT 7. 2.23(b)
FRo & 5t R AR IR A A B 0 BB AR =t &) ;e A
RAIRA R B TRRI A ERDHE
EZARETEBRERRNDERDZAAE
@ o

33 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 33 FERER

2020 2019
—ECEF —Z-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January H—B—H 124,875 126,913

Capital injection from non-controlling ~ —ZXHEB A BJEEREZR 2T E
interest of a subsidiary 45 ==
Share of results FEIE4E (557) (1,954)

Derecognition upon disposal of RSB A R B EUE#ER

subsidiaries (Note 34) (Htit 34) (6,323) —
Exchange differences [ W Z5E (22) (84)
At 31 December R+t=—H=+—8H 118,018 124,875

192 Frontier Services Group Limited 5 ZARIEEBE AR A 7



34

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Non-controlling interests include, inter alia, an amount of
US$15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$116,250,000) preference
shares issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 31 March 1999. The preference
shareholder has the right at any time starting from 1 July 2000
to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares into
34,191,176 ordinary shares of the Company at an exchange
price which has been subsequently adjusted to HK$3.40 per
share, pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 22
June 2018. The Company has the right, at its discretion, to
request the preference shareholder to exercise his exchange
right to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares
into the Company’s ordinary shares at the exchange price
at any time from 1 July 2000, provided that the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s ordinary shares for
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day
immediately preceding the date of giving notice of such
compulsory exchange is not less than HK$10 per share.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to 15
December 2020, the Group owned 51% equity interest in
Maleth and its subsidiaries (together, the “Maleth Group”)
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, FSL. Maleth Group was
principally engaged in the provision of aircraft management
services and insurance, maintenance, charter and regulatory
related services to owners and operators of private and
commercial aircraft registered in Malta and other countries.

On 15 December 2020, FSL entered into a stock purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Aircraft Engine Lease
Finance Inc. (the “Maleth Purchaser”), pursuant to which FSL
agreed to sell and the Maleth Purchaser agreed to acquire
approximately 51% equity interest in Maleth Group for an
aggregate cash consideration of US$1,050,000 (equivalent
to HK$8,142,000). Pursuant to the Agreement, the right to
purchase the remaining 49% equity interest in Maleth Group
at an option price ranging between EUR1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$9,501,000) and EUR10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$95,005,000) effective from 6 July 2020 onward, attached
to the symmetrical put and call option agreement entered into
between FSL and the non-controlling interests of Maleth Group
on 3 February 2016, was also terminated on 15 December
2020.

33

34.

FIERER (2

FEVER = B 15 (E R 2 45 ) 15,000,000
ZT(#ZE 1 116,250,000/ ) Z AR
A2 EMB AT DVN (Group) Limited %
— NN EZA=+—"BHRETZEX
e RZZEETF+ A —BRREER
BRARAR R B 2 30 (e ) B 5L AR
BB RIAA AT 34,191,176 I @A%
(BEARAR—_ZE—N\FA=-+=H
HEz R NE  RBREEREEZAZRZER
340%8TT) R_ZEZEZEF LA —HEMFE
A - AR R 2 L@k FHWRTE
RBEZEELRHIRNBEZBHIIRS
BitZ20E:BER S HMERAE/K10HE
L ARABENIBEREARKRETE
R - B2E(MIEHD)EERIZR KR
BR|ARRZ EBA -

HEMNBAR

REBEE_ZE—NE+-_A=1t—BLEE
FPEE-_ZT-_THE+_A+HH K&EE
HBHE 2 EH B A R FSL M Maleth & H K
B RA([Maleth £ 8 |) % 5 51% % # o
Maleth 5= B 3= Z 4 = [ A 55 B K E Ath B
Rt 2 A RBERREES AREERE
REREERERBEARRE - #i& - 88
MEEEHBRS

R—ZTE-_ZTF+_-HA+HB FSLE
Aircraft Engine Lease Finance Inc.
([Maleth B 75 1) &7 32 8 A% 5 = ([ 32 15
&) Bt FSLEE & MMaleth &
7 B & U B Maleth & B 4951% % # -
238 & X (8 A1,050,000% T(HH & R
8,142,000 7T ) ° 1R ¥R 5% 1% 7% - FSL &l
MalethE B FEZEREZR T — 1~ F
Z A= HEI 2 EH BRI KRB ER
HME AT _TF LA NBER
4 2 2z A F- 1,000,000 B JT(#8 &
9,501,000 7t ) £210,000,000 X 7T (48
%72 95,005,0008 7 ) 2 2 B #E B W g
Maleth &£ B &R T 49% B 2 # FITFE R =
T _TFE+_A+RBKIE-
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34 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The transaction was completed on 15 December 2020. Upon
the completion, Maleth Group ceased to be subsidiaries of
the Group. The disposal resulted in a loss on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$486,000. The respective liability previously
recorded in other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position in relation to the symmetrical put and call
option was derecognised and credited to the equity instrument
reserve.

Financial information relating to the Maleth Group for the
period from 1 January 2020 to the date of disposal is set out
below:

(a) Financial performance

34.

HEHB QR #)

RGER_ZE-_ZTF+_A+HHZEK °
K% Maleth®E BT~ F AXNE B 2 [
BAA - HEFBESBEENB R AEE
486,000 75 7T © i1 AR & B 75 AR5 3% R
H fth fE T FRIBFTRC 8RR B M T T AR MR
BHEZ EHEEEECBUSRER « Wit
ARERS T AR o

—ECEE-A-AREEHERHE
B A B Maleth & B 2 B 7% & &L & 51 10
-

(a) HMBRR

From 1 January

2020 to

15 December
2020 2019

B-2-=F

—B—HBEE

—E-EF
+=A+HH N5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue Wz 104,364 155,692
Other income H A A 1,715 1,605
Expenses X (108,605) (163,904)
Loss before income tax KR RS B Al &S 18 (2,526) (6,607)
Income tax credit FrisHiEse 235 2,215
Loss after income tax MRETB L EE (2,291) (4,392)
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34 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34. HEMEBAT(E)
(b) Details of the disposal of subsidiaries (b) HLEMBLARZFHE

2020

= Er ¥

HK$°000

FET

Consideration received in cash LAZR € WER K (B 8,142

Carrying amount of net assets sold It EEEFEZERREAE (13,360)

Derecognition of non-controlling interests B MR IR R M 2 6,323

Release of foreign currency translation reserve B ESMNEFE 5 (& (1,591)

Loss on disposal HEBE (486)
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the BERABREHER Eﬁ(‘:gig$

date of disposal (15 December 2020) were: TZATRR)ZEEER

2020

—ECEF

HK$°000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment Y - R R 904

Goodwill and other intangible assets BERHEMETLEE 5,071

Trade receivables B 5 EWFRIE 61,608

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEYD 6,508

Other assets Hih&E 22,028

Total assets BERE 96,119

Trade and other payables B 5 R E M pERFIE 65,505

Other liabilities HihBE&E 17,254

Total liabilities BaE 82,759

Net assets BEFE 13,360
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

e MR M A

35 CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 35 EEMAZES
The reconciliation of loss for the year to cash used in FEEBEESERMAZIRS ZHIRMT ¢
operations is as follows:
2020 2019
—EB-E& TN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss for the year FEE1E (228,586) (356,747)
Adjustments for FEIFE
Income tax credit FriEHiESR (9,491) (14,730)
Finance costs BB 19,485 10,360
Depreciation ne 51,880 54,841
Engine overhaul cost S| ZRIEK AR 4,564 —
Amortisation of other intangibles H A A 1,689 1,619
Share-based compensation VAR S 1+ 2 # 18 6,106 12,169
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR 2 E8 486 —
Impairment losses on financial SREEREREE
assets 14,266 14,286
Provision for inventories FERE 1,032 1,456
Provision for impairment of Vs - HEER AR DA RIS 1E
property, plant and equipment HEEEZRERE
and assets held-for-sale — 64,509
Provision for impairment of interest R—KEE R A 2w 2 B
in an associate B iE 8,693 —
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME WBERREZ
property, plant and equipment BB (ks F58
(Note (i) =0 768 (1,048)
Write-off of purchase option in an MR —REERaZBE
associate R — 3,907
Interest income FLEWA (3,702) (12,045)
Share of losses of associates and a EREE AT R —REeE A
joint venture, net B8 F 58 2,478 3,760
Exchange differences EHERE 843 2,854
Changes in working capital LEEESH
Inventories T8 935 (171)
Trade and bills receivables, B S RWGRIE - EWERE - 18
prepayments, deposits and other M 2e REMEWGIEA
receivables 9,480 (76,227)
Trade payables, other payables, B S e RIE - HApER
accruals and contract liabilities FIE - EFBEAREHEE (39,700) 14,313
Cash used in operations BEMACRE (158,774) (276,894)
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35 CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (continued) 35 EEMAZRE#E)
Note: et -
(i) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from (i) NEABRERERP HEWE  HENF
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: BZREHRIER
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Net carrying amount (Note 13) BREFEME13) 1,124 5,394
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEYE « KERBEZ
plant and equipment (Note 10) (18), Wes 558 (A5t 10) (768) 1,048
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BERBEZAE
plant and equipment KIE 356 6,442
36 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 36 FAERIARERE
LIABILITIES
(a) Capital Commitments (a) EXEIE
The Group’s capital expenditures contracted for as at REBR - ZE_ZFR_T—HLF
31 December 2020 and 2019 but not yet incurred were +Z A=+ —HBEHNEHNREAL
as follows: ZEARFRLZIT
2020 2019
ZEBCEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Investment in a fund (Note 17(d)) RES 2B (M 17(d)) 191,614 194,775
Purchase of land-use-rights BB T E AR (A 19)
(Note 19) 11,882 11,163
203,496 205,938
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM
5 75 3 3 MY &

SRPAN
)y 9

(b)

(c)

36 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 36 EAERJAEEE)
LIABILITIES (continued)
Operating Lease Commitments as a Lessor (b) REHNEEMEBEAAN)
The Group leases its leasehold properties under non- 2N E5 [ AR 45 A A A0 8H 4 = A A 1 ok
cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease HEHBEYS - HER3BF - M
terms is 35 years, and the lease agreement is renewable ik AT AR B fE i R R T B AR T o
at the end of the lease term at market rate.
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had total RZZZEFR_F—NF+=A
minimum lease payments receivable on leases under =+—H ' AEBERBETAUHEL
the non-cancellable operating leases as follows: EHRNHEE 2 RUREBFENT
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiETT
Not later than 1 year PR —&F 10 10
Later than 1 year but not later than —fFIREBERFLAR
5 years 39 42
Later than 5 years AF AR 270 308
319 360
Financial Commitments (c) BIFEEIE
The Group did not have any significant financial REBNR -_ZE_TEF+_A=+—
commitments as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). BYEEREATEEECE—N
F o) o
Contingent Liabilities (d) =HRERE

(d)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liability. At 31 December 2019, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued
a fixed and floating debenture on all its assets to a
bank as securities for a banking facility of US$1,500,000
(equivalent to HK$11,687,000).
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties to the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note. In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material

transactions with related parties during the year:

BARA—RBREE 2B
e B 75 2 (P E (1)

Receipt of consultancy services
fee from a shareholder of the
Company (Note (i))

Payment of consultancy services fee A& TH B AR —2EEHE

to a company owned by a director B Z A&t 2 B RE
of certain subsidiaries (Note (ii)) & (faE (i)

Provision of security services to a MR B — B IR 2 b B
subsidiary of a shareholder of the NElRERRRE
Company (Note (iii)) (B3 (iii))

(a)

37 EXEBALIRE

) N

AN A ELE P A R (R 7R A = A B
AL ZHZRHEREGAEET I
HiE - BEXYERAMERE - B
ZEEEMBBRERAMMITRE L
RPREHIN FR AEEBE
TTATERBEBALRS :

2020 2019
—E-EH -z _j-l-zqz
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

— 259

— (78)

25 ==

All the transactions were negotiated with related parties
on normal commercial terms or in accordance with the
agreements governing those transactions.

Notes:

(i) This represents the consultancy fee of HK$259,000
received by the Group from a substantial shareholder of
the Company for a security consultancy service provided
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019.

(i) This represents consultancy fee of US10,000 (equivalent
to HK$78,000) paid by the Group to a company
wholly owned by a director of certain subsidiaries
for consultancy services provided to the Group in
accordance with the terms of the related consultancy
agreement during the year ended 31 December 2019.

(iiiy ~ This represents the security services provided to a
subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

HEBATZMARSHE KD
EEHEHN  HIEBEEZERS
ST o

(i) RRASEREAEERBE_Z
—NWE+_A=+—HILFERH2
ZREBRERAARAAR —BEERE
U EY 2 B8 5 £ 259,000 78 7T ©

(i) WRRAKERBE=Z—NLF+=
A=+—HB LT ERREBEER R
HZIEFRE T AEE 2 BRI RB M
H—RAETHEBARZ —REEE
BWEA 2 Al X F 2 EfHE # 10,000
ZT (A5 78,0008 L) °

(i) HRERBE=ZZT=_ZF+=A
=t—ALFERAAR—ZEER
B2 —RMBRAIREZ BRI °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

e MR M A

37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 EXBBALXRZ(E)

(continued)
(b) Details of Key Management Compensation of the (b) ZEBTIETEAEMERE
Group
2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Short-term employee benefits MEHEERT 22,845 23,057
Post-employment benefits BRI 1B A 246 217
Share-based compensation PAREAD S A 2 7 {E 6,106 12,169
29,197 35,443
The directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief RAATEE  THEH R KB
Financial Officer of the Company are regarded as the WEAREFB S FTEZTEAE o
key management personnel of the Group.
(c) Other Year-End Balances (c) HibFEREER
2020 2019
—EEF —Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Prepayments, deposits and other TR - He RAMEK
receivables IR
Associates NS 12,064 13,859
A shareholder of the Company RAR—BKRR — 259
Other payables and accruals Hib BN HRIBERERTER
Associates AN 45,749 7,012
Assets held-for-sale FIEHEEE
An associate —XEE QA 10,099 —
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
Connected Transactions

The related party transactions in respect of (a)(i) and
(a)(iii) above constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, those transactions
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Charter
14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de
minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

38 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Except for as disclosed above and elsewhere in the
financial statements, there are no material subsequent
events undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31
December 2020 and up to the date of the annual report.

37

38

EXBABALRS @)

(d) BREXZzZEWmRAEAMY

Ex(a)(i)  (a)ii) 2RI A X 5
BRAERISIFERER S (EE
B EMAAE14AE) - Rl > %E
R HRBENE 14A.76(1) 1B TN 2 &
EEA 2K EFA B <F £ A8 Al
FUAEFEZEERE °

A% =R

B SR B SRR B it 5 BT IR BE A A
R-E-_TBE+_A=1+—HEREEAR
FEWREH  ARAIRAEETEERAHE
=IF o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

e MR M A

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39 ERAFHHAMRREK

COMPANY
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEITL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MIs - R R 651 815
Intangibles BILAE 1,350 1,350
Interest in a joint venture R—REE QAR = 983 —
Interests in subsidiaries RH B ARz s 494,341 552,880
Total non-current assets SEmBNEERE 497,325 555,045
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TR - RS RE M EKRIE
receivables 2,418 3,265
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFED 117,095 236,494
Total current assets BB ERAE 119,513 239,759
CURRENT LIABILITY REBERE
Other payables and accruals o Ath JE < 5RIE K FE R B F 13,032 13,126
Total current liability mENAEREE 13,032 13,126
Net current assets mEEEEE 106,481 226,633
Total assets less current liability/ EEBBERRDEE BEHFE
Net assets 603,806 781,678
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the Company’s AR rRAERF G AEHES
equity holders
Share capital & A 234,482 234,482
Reserves (Note) (i) 369,324 547,196
Total equity B 603,806 781,678
Signed on behalf of the Board on 30 March 2021 by RRESFEN _ZE-_—F=A=1THEZE
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Luo Ning
= iRIE fges
Director Director
2 2
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39 AT BEMRRTE)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: Vo
Reserve Movements of the Company AREHERE
Share-based
Share Contributed compensation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
KRB 2
R E ELRs RS ZiER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT FET
At 1 January 2019 R=E-1%-A-H 1,423,768 558,899 27,953 (1,107,284) 903,336
Loss for the year FEER — — — (368,309) (368,309)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERABRLER — — (368,309) (368,309)
Transactions with equity holders HERHFAAZRS
Share-based compensation BRI 2 FifE — — 12,169 — 12,169
Lapse of share options BREXK - — (3,258) 3,258 =
— — 8911 3,258 12,169
At 31 December 2019 R-E-N&E+=-A=t-RH 1,423,768 558,899 36,864 (1,472,335) 547,196
At 1 January 2020 R-E-Z%-8-R 1,423,768 558,899 36,864 (1,472,335) 547,196
Loss for the year FEER - - - (183,978) (183,978)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERABELH - - - (183,978) (183,978)
Transactions with equity holders HBERHEAEAZRS
Share--based compensation RO S BE - - 6,106 - 6,106
Lapse of share options BRELR - - (2,490) 2,490 -
- - 3,616 2,490 6,106
At 31 December 2020 W=B-E%+-A=1-AH 1,423,768 558,899 40,480 (1,653,823) 369,324
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ETFMBEHME

The consolidated results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for REBBERAMBREEZGEAXE  BENE
the last five financial years are summarised below. BRI o

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-BF —T-hF T N\F —E—tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT FEIT FAET FAET
Results ES
Loss attributable to: LA AT FE(RESE -
Equity holders of the AAREmEE A
Company 228,029 354,793 258,846 223,760 209,816
Non-controlling interests JEfER = 557 1,954 (2,223) (658) (330)
228,586 356,747 256,623 223,102 209,486
Assets and liabilities BEERAE
Total assets BAELE 939,918 1,223,423 1,505,983 884,177 912,467
Total liabilities B &M (313,234) (379,810) (314,462) (496,236) (513,536)
Non-controlling interests PR (118,018) (124,875) (126,913) (124,267) (123,528)
Equity attributable to the RARE=FB A
Company’s equity holders FEAhHERS 508,666 718,738 1,064,608 263,674 275,403
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